NEF Qazaqstan Limited Liability Partnership
(registered as a Limited Liability Partnership under the laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan with registered number BIN 210940032142)

KZT 6,000,000,000 guaranteed coupon bonds due on November 23, 2023
The KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion one hundred million) aggregate nominal amount of 20% guaranteed bonds due on
November 23, 2023 (the “Bonds” and each a “Bond”) of Limited Liability Partnership NEF Qazaqstan (the “Issuer”) are
issued in accordance with the Acting law of the Astana International Financial Centre (the “AIFC”) in the denomination
of KZT 1,000 each.
This document constitutes the prospectus of the Bonds (the “Prospectus”) described herein and has been prepared by the
Issuer pursuant to Rule 1.3 of the AIFC Market Rules (AIFC Rules No. FR0003 of 2017) (the “MAR Rules”). Full
information on the Issuer and the offer of the Bonds is only available on the basis of this Prospectus and final Offer
Terms (the “Offer Terms”). This Prospectus has been published on the website of the Astana International Exchange
Ltd. (the “AIX”) at https://www.aix.kz and the Issuer’s website at https://nefuptown.kz/. Application has been made for
the Bonds to be admitted to the Official List of the AIX and to be admitted to trading on the AIX (the “Admission”). In
order for Bonds to be admitted to the Official List of the AIX and to be admitted to trading by the AIX this Prospectus
and the Offer Terms will be delivered to the AIX for approval before the date of admission to the Official List of the
Bonds.
The AIX does not guarantee that the Bonds will be admitted to the Official List of the AIX. The AIX reserves the right
to grant admission of the Bonds to the Official List of the AIX only where it is satisfied that such admission is in
accordance with the AIX Markets Listing Rules.
The Issuer did not seek independent legal advice with respect to listing the Bonds on the AIX in accordance with this
Prospectus.
The AIX and its related companies and their respective directors, officers and employees do not accept
responsibility for the content of this Prospectus including the accuracy or completeness of any information or
statement included in it. Liability for the Prospectus lies with the Issuer and other persons such as experts whose
opinions are included in the Prospectus with their consent. Nor has AIX, its directors, officers or employees
assessed the suitability of the Bonds for any particular investor or type of investor. If you do not understand the
content of this Prospectus or are unsure whether the Bonds are suitable for your individual investment objectives
and circumstances, you should consult an authorized financial advisor.
No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction outside the AIFC by the Financial Advisor or the Issuer that would
permit a public offering of the Bonds in any country or jurisdiction outside the AIFC where action for that purpose is
required. Accordingly, the Bonds may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Prospectus (in
preliminary, proof or final form) or any amendment or supplement thereto or any other offering or publicity material
relating to the Bonds, may be distributed in or from, or published in any country or jurisdiction outside the AIFC, except
under circumstances that will result to the best of the Financial Advisor’s knowledge and belief in compliance with any
applicable securities laws or regulations.
Under no circumstances shall this Prospectus constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall
there be any sale of these securities in any jurisdiction outside the AIFC or under any circumstances in which such offer,
solicitation or sale is not authorised or would be unlawful. Recipients of this Prospectus who intend to subscribe for or
purchase the Bonds are reminded that any subscription or purchase may only be made on the basis of the information
contained in the Prospectus.
All subsequent references in this Prospectus to “Bonds” are to the Bonds which are subject of the relevant Offer Terms.
All capitalised terms that are not defined in this Prospectus will have the meaning given to them in the relevant Offer
Terms.
These Bonds constitute debt instruments. An investment in the Bonds involves risks. By subscribing to the Bonds,
investors lend money to the Issuer who undertakes to pay interest on a semi-annual basis and to reimburse the principal
on the Maturity Date. In case of bankruptcy or default by the Issuer, the investors may not recover the amounts they are
entitled to and risk losing all or part of their investment. The Bonds are intended for investors who are capable of
evaluating the risks in light of their knowledge and financial experience. An investment decision must be based on the
information contained in the Prospectus. Before making any investment decision, the investors must read the Prospectus
in its entirety (and, in particular, Section “Risk factors” of Registration Document and the Securities Note sections of the
Prospectus). Each potential investor must investigate carefully whether it is appropriate for this type of investor to invest
in the Bonds, taking into account his or her knowledge and experience and must, if needed, obtain professional advice.

AN INVESTMENT IN BONDS INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK.
SEE “RISK FACTORS” FOR A DISCUSSION OF CERTAIN FACTORS THAT SHOULD BE CONSIDERED
IN CONNECTION WITH AN INVESTMENT IN THE BONDS ISSUED.

The date of this Prospectus is 22 November 2022.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
1.

INTRODUCTION

Prospectus summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus.
Any decision to invest in the Bonds should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus as a whole by the investor.
These Bonds constitute debt instruments. An investment in the Bonds involves risks. By investing in the Bonds,
investors lend money to the Issuer who undertakes to pay interest on a semi-annual basis and to reimburse the principal
debt on the Maturity Date.
In case of a bankruptcy or in case the Issuer defaults on its outstanding obligations investors may redeem the full
amount from the Bond Guarantee. In case of bankruptcy or default by the Guarantor which has provided a Guarantee
to secure the Issuer’s obligations to the bondholders, the investors may not recover the amounts they are entitled to and
risk losing all or part of their investment. Civil liability attaches only to those Persons who have tabled the summary
including any translation thereof, but only where the summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent, when read
together with the other parts of the Prospectus, or where it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of
the Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in the Bonds.
Issuer

NEF Qazaqstan Limited Liability Partnership

Bonds

KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion) guaranteed bonds due in November 23, 2023;
with 20% coupon rate,
ISIN KZX000001185

Contact details of the Issuer

Republic of Kazakhstan, A15E3H4 Almaty, Bostandyk District, Al-Farabi ave.,
building 77/7, 8 floor, office Mv5. Website: https://nefuptown.kz/, telephone
number: +7 (727) 356 02 47, e-mail: reception@nefuptown.kz

Guarantor

Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş., a joint stock company
incorporated in Turkiye (“Guarantor”).

Contact details of the Bond
guarantor

Republic of Turkiye, 34394 Sisli, Istanbul, Esentepe Mahallesi Ali Kaya Sk. No.
3/22, and its telephone number is: +90 212 444 9 633; info@nef.com.tr

Approval of the Prospectus

This Prospectus was approved by the AIX on November 22, 2022. Terms and
conditions of the Bonds were approved by the Issuer’s sole participant on
November 22, 2022 The contact details of the AIX are: 55/19 Mangilik El st.,
block C 3.4. Astana, Republic of Kazakhstan, Z05T3C4 and its telephone number
is +7 717 223 5366.

2.

KEY INFOMRATION ON THE ISSUER
2.1. The Issuer of the Bonds

The Issuer was established on 21st of September, 2021 in the form of limited liability partnership. The sole founder of
the Issuer and its General Director is Oskay Tarik Volkan, the citizen of the Republic of Turkiye (“Sole Participant”).
The Issuer acts as a developer company, i.e. its main activities are creating projects, creating architectural,
infrastructural and other sketches of the project, quality control and etc. The Issuer does not construct buildings itself
though it is registered as a construction company in Kazakhstan.
The Issuer operates under the “NEF” brand, which is an international brand in construction sector. The brand “NEF”
was originated in 2010, by the Guarantor of this issue – Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş. There is
a royalty agreement between the Issuer and the Guarantor for the use of this brand. Otherwise, the Issuer and the
Guarantor are not legally affiliated.
The Issuer plans to buy part in “NEF&RAM” LLP, another company that operates in Kazakhstan under the brand
“NEF”. The current participants of “NEF&RAM” LLP are Mr. Erden Timur (50%, the citizen of the Republic of
Turkiye, main shareholder (99.43%) of the Guarantor), Mr. Bulbul Dogan (25%, the citizen of the Republic of Turkiye)
and “Grace Development” LLP (25%, Kazakhstan). It is planned that the Issuer will buy 50% in “NEF&RAM” LLP
for the amount not exceeding 300,000 tenge, from Mr. Bulbul Dogan and “Grace Development” LLP. The Issuer is
currently going through legal procedures to complete the acquisition. This decision does not require the consent of the
potential bondholders of the Issuer. The ownership structure of “NEF&RAM” LLP after the change of its participants
is shown in Figure 1.
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Erden Timur

99,43%
P “EFThe Guarantor
AM” LLP M” LLP

The Issuer

50%

50%

P “EF“NEF&RAM” LLP
AM” LLP M” LLP

Figure 1. The future ownership structure of “NEF&RAM” LLP
The only project of “NEF&RAM” LLP is the construction of “NEF Uptown” residential complex in Almaty,
Kazakhstan (hereinafter – Project). Total number of apartments in the 1st stage of the Project is 486. As of the date of
this Prospectus 94% of works of the Project are finished.
The Issuer plans to construct the second stage of “NEF Uptown” residential complex after buying part in “NEF&RAM”
LLP. The construction is planned to be started in January 2023 and to be finished in 24 months. The licensing
procedures for the 2nd stage are currently underway now, but pre-sales are open already. The 2nd stage of named
residential complex will be built in three phases: 1) the construction of 486 apartments, 2) the construction of villas and
3) the construction of Kazakh International School. The 2nd stage of “NEF Uptown” is the last one according to its
project.
Participants

— The sole founder of the Issuer is Oskay Tarik Volkan, the citizen of the
Republic of Turkiye, residence permission No. 050077640, issued by the
Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan on 25.03.2021.

The Issuer’s Supervisory
Board

— Chopiyev Kubat Toktobekovich. Year of birth – 1977. Mr. Chopiyev
graduated from the Dokuz Eylul University in Izmir, Turkiye (BSc in
Business Administration) in 1999 and did his master degree at the same
university in 2003 (Money and Banking, MBA). He worked as General
Manager and Business coordinator in Assets Management Company
ALMALY (Holding), as Head of Financial Controlling Department in
FMCG sector, as CFO in Peri LLP and in many other companies.
— Almatova Zhanat Ungarovna. Year of birth – 1989. Graduated from
Kazakh University of International Relations, Kazakhstan (BA Foreign
Languages) in 2010. Ms. Almatova is experienced specialist with 10+ years
of experience in real estate consultancy and project management,
responsible for planning and executing complex projects for national and
international enterprises in Kazakhstan according to predetermined
timelines and budgets.
— Sarsekeyeva Gaukhar Kogabayevna. Year of birth – 1976. Graduated from
Kazakh State University (International Law, with Honors) and University
of Oregon, USA (Political Science), as scholar of Presidential Scholarship
“Bolashak”. Gaukhar did her master’s degree in business administration in
2001 at Pace University in New York, USA. Gaukhar obtained Certificate
in HRM from American Association of HRM in 2007. She held managerial
positions at “Kazakh-British Technical University” JSC, “Astana Finance”
JSC, “KTG-Trade” JSC, Rixos President Astana Hotel, “Wellness Club
Luxor -Alem Ltd” and other companies.

The Issuer’s Director

— Oskay Tarik Volkan. Year of birth – 1974. Graduated from Antalya
Hospitality and Tourism Administration High School (Hospitality &
Tourism Administration) in 1991; did his Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from Turan University (Astana) in 2011, MBA in
Business Management, NLP and Quality Management from TUV Austria
Akademie GMBH in 2015 and pursuing MBA (Online) degree from
Kingston University. Chief Business Development Officer with more than
30 years of experience in hotel management, construction management ,
real estate management and facilities management. Held top managerial
positions at Rixos President Hotel, Sembol Investment & Development,
Almaly Asset Management, Capital Partners.

Auditor

GoodWill Audit LLP audit organization. National license to engage in
auditing activities registration No. 14005187 dated April 16, 2014.
Address: Republic of Kazakhstan, 050020 Almaty, Kerbulakskaya
street, 14. Telephone number: +7 (727) 261-23-07
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2.2. Key financial information regarding the Issuer
Financial position of the Issuer:
According to the Auditor’s report (GoodWill AUDIT LLP), financial statements of the Issuer are presented fairly, in
all material respects in accordance with IFRS Audit report of the Issuer is unqualified.
Statement of financial position
September 30, 2022
(audited)
8,105,063
82,173,892
(74,068,829)

KZT
Total assets
Total liabilities
Total capital

September 30, 2021
(audited)
171,266
12,000,000
(11,828,734)

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Information
KZT
Revenues
Cost of goods sold and services rendered
Gross Profit
Financing Income
Administrative and distribution expenses
Other expenses
Income (Loss) before Taxation
Corporate income tax
Income (Loss) after Taxation

September 30, 2022
(audited)
186,151
(60,458,909)
(1,967,337)
(62,240,095)
(62,240,095)

2021
(audited)
(12,028,734)
(12,028,734)
(12,028,734)

September 30, 2022
(audited)

2021
(audited)

(39,844,490)
160,491
46,506,431
62,865
6,885,297
164,266
7,049,563

(12,035,734)
12,200,000
164,266
164,266

Cash Flow Statement
KZT

Net cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flow from financial activities
Effect of exchange rates
Total increase +/- decrease of cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year (opening balance)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (closing balance)
2.3. Key risks that are specific to the Issuer

The Issuer believes that the risks described below represent the principal risks inherent to the Issuer, but they are not
exhaustive.
There is a risk that deal on buying “NEF&RAM” LLP will not be accomplished
The Issuer plans to buy 50% in “NEF&RAM” LLP - Kazakhstani company, operating under brand “NEF”. Current
participants of the “NEF&RAM” LLP are two natural persons, who are residents of Republic of Turkiye, and
“Grace Development” LLP, Kazakhstani company. If the transaction does not take place, then the Issuer will have
to look for sources of financing for its Bonds
The risk of not obtaining permission for construction
There is a potential risk that permission for construction of 2 nd stage of “Nef Uptown” residential complex will
take longer time than planned. But this risk only applies to the Issuer if they buy NEF&RAM” LLP.
Limited land availability for construction
The Issuer operates in the higher price segment of residential and commercial building. This puts some constraints
for location of construction, which must meet demand of the Issuer's potential buyers. In large cities where land
availability is often limited, cost of land may increase price for property substantially and shrink amount of
potential buyers.
Inflationary pressures increase cost of construction
5

The annual inflation rate in Kazakhstan climbed for the ninth straight month to 17.7% in September of 2022, from
16.1% in the previous month. On a monthly basis, consumer prices rose by 1.8%, after increasing by 1.4% in the
previous month. But inflationary pressures are broadening out beyond food, and businesses are facing increase in
cost of construction materials, transportation and labour costs, as well. Consequences of higher homebuilding costs
are higher prices for just-built properties. Despite the fact that the issuer is building premium housing, the high
prices for property may reduce its attractiveness as an investment tool and therefore, may reduce demand for
Issuer’s projects.
Monetary tightening policy of Kazakhstan’s National Bank could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer.
Most home purchases in the Republic of Kazakhstan are financed through mortgages or other available credit. The
rise of interest rates (current base rate of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan is 16%) might lead
financial institutions to tighten their lending criteria, which may contribute to a reduction in credit available to
consumers. Potential reduction of mortgage lending or other reductions in the availability of consumer credit affect
the financial position of consumers and could have a material adverse effect on the demand for Issuer’s products.
Any change in, or failure of, certain of the Kazakhstani housebuilding and home buying incentive schemes and
programmes could affect the Issuer.
The Issuer also have plans on building mass-segment residential property. Therefore, any unexpected change in
incentive schemes and programmes could result in reduced residential construction activity, which could, in turn,
negatively affect the demand for the Issuer’s projects and have a potentially adverse effect on the Issuer’s business
and financial prospects.
2.4. Key risks that are specific to the Guarantor
Very high inflation rates in Turkiye leads to an increase in construction costs
The annual inflation rate in Turkey rose for the 16th consecutive month to 83.5 percent in September of 2022, for
comparison, in the corresponding period of the previous year the rate was less than 20 percent. It was the highest
rate since July of 1998 and Turkish lira plunged further to extend record-lows.
Residential property prices and rental rates are among the leading factors in high inflation rate. Realtor companies,
research centres, the Turkish Central Bank, and the Turkish Statistical Institute (TSI) data provide enough evidence
that house prices and rental costs are soaring, up to a few hundred percentage points in Turkey. The primary reasons
for this hasty growth are decreasing supply in the past few years (especially during the pandemic), policies that
surge demand in Turkey, increasing costs of production, and increasing demand from foreign investors in real
estate. As financial pressure increases, it may impact everything from prices and home values to home sales,
construction costs, and more.
2.5. Key financial information about the Guarantor
The full Financial Statement Report represented in the Schedule 5 of the Prospectus
Statement of financial position
in Turkish Lira (TRY)

Unaudited
30.06.2022
21 622 093 712
10 962 828 698
10 659 265 014
10 186 093 904
4 185 965 064
6 000 128 839
11 435 999 808

Total assets
Current Assets
Non-Current Asset
Total Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Non-Current Assets
Equity

Audited
31.12.2021
10 844 327 094
4 806 901 010
6 037 426 084
7 546 635 540
3 536 529 618
4 010 105 922
3 297 691 554

Audited
31.12.2020
6 009 443 256
2 897 498 748
3 111 944 508
5 777 548 647
2 639 159 329
3 138 389 318
231 894 609

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Information
in Turkish Lira (TRY)

Revenue
Expenses
Income before tax
Tax
Income after tax

Unaudited

Unaudited

Audited

Audited

30.06.2022

30.06.2021

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

5 447 025 151

369 543 860

4 772 085 012

1 172 779 575

-752 372 441

-267 901 911

-1 447 367 159

-1 539 081 322

4 694 652 710

101 641 949

3 324 717 853

-366 301 747

0

-12 280 813

-711 776 831

73 703 300

4 694 652 711

89 361 136

2 612 941 022

-292 598 447

Statements of Cash Flows
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Cash Flow From Operating Activities

Unaudited
30.06.2022
-767 517 433

Unaudited
30.06.2021
-447 385 261

Audited
31.12.2021
525 546 609

Audited
31.12.2020
84 374 357

Cash Flow From Investing Activities

121 726 969

109 323 169

-415 586 126

-83 279 848

Cash Flow From Financing Activities

120687 830

105 698 205

40 604 646

-1 227 432

in Turkish Lira (TRY)

3.

KEY INFORMATION ON THE BONDS

Main features of the Bonds:
Type of the Bonds/ISIN

Guaranteed Coupon bonds/ISIN KZX000001185

Issue price

The Issue price of the Bonds is 100% of the nominal value of the Bonds

Number of the Bonds and the
nominal value of the Bond

6,000,000 (six million) bonds with the nominal value of each Bond in the amount
of KZT 1,000 (one thousand tenge)

Total amount of the issue

KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion)

Coupon rate

The Bonds will bear interest at the rate of 20% per annum and is payable on semiannual basis

Seniority of the Bonds

Senior guaranteed coupon bonds
The Bonds shall constitute direct, general and unconditional obligations of the
Issuer which will rank pari passu among themselves and rank pari passu, in terms
of payment rights, with all other current or future unsubordinated and guaranteed
obligations of the Issuer, except for liabilities mandatorily preferred by applicable
law

Guarantee

Written guarantee of Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş.. The
Guarantee is given in Schedule 3 of the Prospectus.

Registrar

AIX Registrar

Restrictions on the free
transferability

The Bonds are freely transferable and, once admitted to the Official List, shall be
transferable only in accordance with the rules and regulations of the AIX

Rights granted to the bondholders:
— the right to receive a nominal value upon redemption of the Bonds in the manner and terms provided for by
Prospectus;
— the right to receive a fixed interest on the Bonds from their nominal value in the time and amount stipulated by
Prospectus;
— the right to receive information about the Issuer’s activities and its financial condition in accordance with and
in the manner prescribed by AIFC regulations and AIX Business Rules and legislation of the Republic of
Kazakhstan;
— the right to satisfy their claims in respect of the Bonds in the manner prescribed by the Prospectus, AIFC Rules
and legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan;
— the right to declare all or part of the Bonds for repurchase in cases established by Prospectus;
— the right to freely sell and otherwise dispose the Bonds;
— the right to demand redemption of the Bonds by the Issuer in cases provided for by Prospectus;
— the right to demand repayment of the Issuer’s debts from the Guarantor under the Guaranteed Liabilities;
— the right to apply to the court in case of non-fulfilment of the Guaranteed Liabilities by the Guarantor,
demanding the repayment of the Issuer’s debts independently or as part of a collective action, sent by the
Representative of the Bondholders, appointed by Bondholders, on behalf of the Bondholders;
— other rights arising from the ownership of the Bonds pursuant to the Prospectus, AIFC regulations and
legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
The Bonds’ trading:
Application has been made for Admission on the AIX and it is expected that Admission will become effective and that
dealings for normal settlement of the Bonds will commence at open of trading on the AIX on November 29, 2022
under the ticker “NEF.1123”.
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The guarantee of the Bonds:
The Guarantor assumes full joint and several liability to each/ any Bondholder in case of failure to fulfil and/ or
improper performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Bonds by issuing the Guarantee (the written full
joint guarantee of October 28, 2022). Guarantee ensures the liabilities of the Issuer on the Bonds, as follows: 1)
payment in full of the principal debt on the Bonds on their redemption or repurchase (within the limits of the
nominal value of each Bond) and the coupon payment in the terms stipulated by this Prospectus; 2) Penalties
accrued in favour of the Bondholders in accordance with the terms of this Prospectus and payable in connection
with the late performance of the Issuer’s liabilities on payment of the principal debt on the Bonds on their
redemption and/ or coupon payment. The Guarantee is valid until the Guaranteed Liabilities to the Bondholders
under the Bonds has been fully paid. The Guarantee is attached in Schedule 3 to this Prospectus.
Brief description of the guarantor, including its LEI:
BIN/LEI of the Guarantor

BIN 8440447962 - / LEI has not been assigned

Name

Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş

The Guarantor’s contact
details

Republic of Turkiye, 34394 Esentepe District, Ali Kaya Street, Apa Nef Plaza
No/3, floor 5 Sisli – Istanbul. Website: https://www.nef.com.tr/en/ and its
telephone number is: +90 212 444 9 633; info@nef.com.tr

The Guarantor’s principle
activities

The Guarantor’s main operations are purchases, sales, and development of real
estates to operate in construction sector in Turkiye and abroad.

Information on the
Guarantor’s shareholders

Erden Timur (99.43%), Musa Timur (0.57%)

Guarantor’s Auditor

PwC Bagumsiz Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Musavirlik A.S., address:
BJK Plaza, Suleman Seba Caddesi No, 48 B, Blok Kat/ 9, Akaretler Besiktas 34357
Istanbul, Turkiye. Website: www.pwc.com.tr
Tel.: +90 212 326 6060

Key risks that are specific to the Securities:
Investing in the Bonds involves a high degree of risk, which investors should ensure they fully understand. Each
potential investor in the Bonds must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. These
include considering factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under or in connection with Bonds
issued and factors which are material for assessing the market risks associated with Bonds issued.
The Bonds are subject to modification, waivers and substitution.
This Prospectus contain provisions for calling meetings of Bondholders to consider matters affecting their interests
generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Bondholders.
Delisting of the Bonds from the AIX Official List may subject gains and coupon payments on the Bonds to tax
in the Republic of Kazakhstan.
In order for coupon payments due on the Bonds and gains realized by the Bondholders in relation to disposal, sale,
exchange or transfer of the Bonds to be exempt from Kazakhstan withholding tax, it will be necessary for the Bonds to
be admitted to the Official List of AIX as at the coupon payment date or the date of such disposal, sale, exchange or
transfer of the Bonds. No assurance can be given that the Bonds will remain admitted to the Official List of AIX as at
each coupon payment date or during the term of the Bonds, or that there will be no material change in tax and securities
laws in Kazakhstan.
The market price of the Bonds may be volatile.
The market price of the Bonds could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to actual or anticipated
variations in the Issuer’s constructing results, adverse business developments, changes to the regulatory
environment in which the Issuer operates, changes in financial estimates by analysts and the actual or expected
sale of a large number of Bonds.

Other risks:
1) There is a risk that deal on buying “NEF&RAM” LLP will not be accomplished;
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2) The Issuer depends on land availability to develop its projects;
3) The Issuer imports some of construction materials and is exposed to delays in supply and price fluctuations
of imported goods;
4) The Issuer imports vast majority of finishing materials and is exposed to cost over-runs while construction
processes;
5) The Issuer faces competition from other developers in the country
6) The Issuer is subject to regulatory restrictions on its activities
7) There may be a shortage of qualified personnel, which may affect the Issuer’s projects under development
4.

KEY INFORMATION ON THE ADMISSION TO TRADING

Terms and conditions for investing into the Bond
The Bonds will be admitted to trading on the Astana International Exchange Ltd.
Admission to trading
on November 29, 2022, under the trading symbol NEF.1123
Plan for distribution

Public offering. The Bonds will be offered in or from AIFC to a wide range of
investors in Kazakhstan

Offering method

Offering of the Bonds will be made through subscription using the book-building
platform of the trading system of the AIX in accordance with the AIX Business
Rules and relevant AIX market notices.

Selling restrictions

The offering and sale of the Bonds is subject to applicable laws and regulations,
including the AIFC Market Rules. The Bonds may not be sold in other
jurisdictions, including without limitation the United States, the United Kingdom
and the European Economic Area. The Bonds have not and will not be registered
outside AIFC, including under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 or the securities laws
of any state of the United States and may not be offered, sold or delivered within
the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

Notification process for
investors

Prior to the start of the offering process the Issuer will communicate the
information relating to an offering by means of publication of the Prospectus and
Offer Terms via AIX Regulatory Announcement Service at www.aix.kz or the
Issuer’s website https://nefuptown.kz/. The Market Notice on the start of bookbuilding process will be published at www.aix.kz.
All other notifications to the will be delivered by means publication of
announcements via AIX Regulatory Announcement Service at www.aix.kz

Estimated Expenses

All fees associated with admission of the Bonds to the Official List, to trading on
the AIX, book-building process on AIX, third-parties services, and fees to the
financial adviser are expected to be no more than 2% of the total amount of the
issue. The Issuer will not charge investors any commissions. The investor must
independently (or together with his/ her consultant or broker) evaluate the
commission costs that the investor will incur due to buying the Bonds.

Financial Advisor

Jusan Invest JSC, 24 Syganak str., Astana, Z05K7B0, Kazakhstan
+7 7172 644 000, info@jusaninvest.com. The Issuer also appointed Jusan
Invest JSC as a book-runner in connection with the offering of the Bonds.

4.1. The purpose of the Prospectus
Reasons for the Admission

This Prospectus has been produced in connection with the offer of the Bonds and
the Admission. The Issuer is seeking the Admission and will be using proceeds
of the issue of the Bonds for general corporate purposes.

Total amount of the issue

KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion)

Estimated net amount of
proceeds

Not less than KZT 5,880,000,000 (five billion eight hundred eighty million)

Use of proceeds

The proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds will be used for general corporate
purposes, including the financing of the Issuer’s projects and financing of 2nd
stage of NEF Uptown residential complex after buying part in “NEF&RAM LLP:
Maximum amount for construction works (2nd stage of NEF Uptown residential
complex): KZT 5,235 mln;
overhead costs: KZT 320 mln;

−
−

9

−

Conflict of interest

transport and machinery services: KZT 315 mln.
Anticipated proceeds will be sufficient to fund all the proposed uses, no
additional funds will be required. The Issuer is planning to use proceeds from
the issue in the ordinary course of business, with no intention to acquire assets
other than in the ordinary course of business, to finance announced acquisitions
of other businesses, or to discharge, reduce or retire indebtedness of the Issuer.
To the best of the Issuer’s and Guarantor’s knowledge there are no material
conflicts of interest were indicated related to the Admission to trading.
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REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
1.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
1.1. General Information

The full legal and commercial name of the Issuer

In the Kazakh (state) language

In Russian language
In English language

Full name in accordance with the
Charter
«NEF Qazaqstan (НЕФ
Казахстан» жауапкершілігі
шектеулі серіктестігі
Товарищество с ограниченной
ответственностью «NEF
Qazaqstan (НЕФ Казахстан)»
Limited liability Partnership “NEF
Qazaqstan”

Short name in accordance with
the Charter
«NEF Qazaqstan» ЖШС
ТОО « NEF Qazaqstan»
LLP “NEF Qazaqstan”

Legal form of the Issuer:
Limited Liability Partnership
Data on the state and other registration of the Issuer
— The Issuer was incorporated and registered in the Republic of Kazakhstan on 21st of September 2021. The
Issuer remains a registered legal entity from this date. The term of state registration as a legal entity is not
limited. The Issuer was assigned a business identification number (BIN) 210940032142 during initial state
registration
— The liability of the Issuer’s Sole Participant is limited by the Civil Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the
Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On limited and Additional Liability Partnerships”, the Law of the
Republic of Kazakhstan “On private Entrepreneurship” and the Charter
— The Issuer doesn’t have subsidiaries. The Issuer has its own corporate fund “NEF Foundation Qazaqstan”
established for charity purposes.
The address and telephone number of the Issuer’s registered office
Republic of Kazakhstan, A15E3H4 Almaty, Bostandyk District, Al-Farabi ave., building 77/7, 8 floor, office Mv5
Telephone number +7 (727) 356 02 47
1.2. Investments
There were no substantial investment activities carried out by the Issuer during 2021 and 2022. If the 50% stake in
“NEF&RAM” LLP will be bought by the Issuer, then the investment amount will not exceed 300,000 Kazakhstani
tenge.
OPERATIONAL FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
1.3. Actual and Proposed Business Activities
(a) The History of The Issuer
The Issuer was established in September of 2021. The Issuer operates under the “NEF” brand, which is an international
brand in construction sector. The brand “NEF” was originated in 2010, by the Guarantor of this issue – Timur
Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş. There is a royalty agreement between the Issuer and the Guarantor for
the use of this brand. Though legally not affiliated, companies registered in USA, United Kingdom, Canada, UAE and
many others also operate under the brand “NEF”.
As of the date of approval of this Prospectus, the Issuer’s Sole Participant is Oskay Tarik Volkan (100%). The Issuer
is a developer company, i.e. its main activities are creating projects, creating architectural, infrastructural and other
sketches of the project, quality control and etc. The Issuer does not construct buildings itself but appoints general
contractors for the purposes of projects’ executions. That is why the Issuer does not need a license for construction
activities. However, the Issuer is registered as a construction company because there is no classification such as
development company in Kazakhstan.
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The brand “NEF” first entered the Kazakhstani market in 2019 via registered in the same year limited liability
partnership “NEF&RAM”. The participants of “NEF&RAM” LLP are Mr. Erden Timur (50%, the citizen of the
Republic of Turkiye), Mr. Bulbul Dogan (25%, the citizen of the Republic of Turkiye) and “Grace Development” LLP
(25%, Kazakhstan). Mr. Erden Timur is the founder and main shareholder of Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve
Yatirim A.Ş., the Guarantor of this issue.
The only project of “NEF&RAM” LLP is the construction of “NEF Uptown” residential complex on Askarova street,
b. 3112, Almaty, Kazakhstan (hereinafter – Project). Gross buildable area of the Project is 87 000 sq. meters, including
shopping centre. “RAMS Qazaqstan” LLP is the general contractor of the 1st stage of the Project. Gross sellable area
is 44 000 sq. meters, including shopping centre, parking zones, storerooms, Foldhome©. Total number of apartments
in the 1st stage of the Project is 486. As of the date of this Prospectus 94% of works of the Project are finished. Building
commissioning date was first set to September 30, 2022, but was postponed till December 30, 2022. The postponement
is within permissible period of 90 (ninety) days and was caused by delivery delays of construction materials.
It is decided that the participation of Mr. Bulbul Dogan and “Grace Development” LLP in “NEF&RAM” LLP will
be ceased in November 2022. Their part will be sold to the Issuer for the amount not exceeding 300,000 tenge. The
name of the “NEF&RAM” LLP will be changed after the commissioning of the first stage of the Project. The
Issuer is currently going through legal procedures to complete the acquisition. This decision does not require the
consent of the potential Bondholders of the Issuer.
The Issuer plans to construct the second stage of “NEF Uptown” residential complex with a new general contractor, to
maintain the quality of the “NEF” brand. “NEF&RAM” LLP considering “KazStroyPodryad” LLP as a potential
general constructor. The construction site of the “NEF Uptown” residential complex is in the possession of
“NEF&RAM” LLP. The construction is planned to be started in January 2023 and to be finished in 24 months. The
licensing procedures for the 2nd stage are currently underway now, but pre-sales are open already. The 2nd stage of
named residential complex will be built in three phases: 1) the construction of 486 apartments, 2) the construction of
villas and 3) the construction of Kazakh International School. The gross buildable area of the 2nd stage is 120 000 sq.
meters and gross sellable area is 73 000 sq. meters. The total number of apartments to be constructed is 650 and total
amount of villas – 24. The buildings are not higher than 12 meters and according to Kazakhstani Law can be sold before
the start of construction. The Issuer plans to start construction using financial means gathered from pre-sales of
apartments. The 2nd stage of “NEF Uptown” is the last one according to its project. The school is to be build according
to International School’s standard and it is preliminary agreed between NEF&RAM LLP and Kazakh International
School that school will be rented out with subsequent redemption.
(b) Description of The Principal Activities and Business of the Issuer
The Issuer operates in Kazakhstan and acts as a developer company, i.e. its main activities are creating projects, creating
architectural, infrastructural and other sketches of the project, quality control and etc. The Issuer takes raw land, obtains
the necessary permits, creates building lots, and puts in the sewers, the water and electric lines, etc. The Issuer in
constant search of projects to develop not only in Almaty and Astana, but in other regions of Kazakhstan as well. The
Issuer does not construct buildings itself though it is registered as a construction company.

(c) Description of, and key factors relating to, the nature of the Issuer’s operations and its principal activities,
specifying the main categories of products sold and/or services performed for each financial year for the period
covered by the historical financial information
The Issuer is a newly incorporated company that aims to develop residential property projects in Kazakhstan under
internationally recognized brand “NEF”. The Issuer benefits expertise, business relations, and high standards of its
Guarantor – Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş. The Guarantor’s main operations are purchases,
sales, and developments of real estates to operate in construction sector in Turkiye and abroad. It is planned that the
Issuer will provide same services as the Guarantor on territory of Kazakhstan. The Issuer plans to construct second
phase of “NEF Uptown” residential complex after gaining control in “NEF&RAM” LLP, current developer of the
residential complex.
(d) Description of the principal markets in which the Issuer operates, including a breakdown of total revenues by
category of activity and geographic market for each financial year for the period covered by the historical
financial information
The Issuer operates exclusively in Kazakhstan. As a newly established company the Issuer showed no revenue yet.
“NEF&RAM” LLP’s revenue is zero as of December 31,2020 and December 31,2021. This is because the apartments
are sold according to preliminary sale and purchase agreement until commissioning of the residential complex. Until
that moment payments received under preliminary sale and purchase agreements are accumulated as accounts payable.
After the commissioning all preliminary sale and purchase agreements will be re-signed as sale and purchase
agreements and the payments received under preliminary sale and purchase agreements will be reclassified as revenue.
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The Issuer’s Guarantor operates in Republic of Turkiye. Revenue shown below comprises from revenues generated by
the Guarantor and its 14 subsidiaries, all incorporated in Turkiye. Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (TRY)
2020
000 TRY

Total
Revenue, incl.

in %
of total
revenue

1,022,823

2021
000 TRY

For 6 months ended
June 30,
2021(unaudited)

For 6 months ended
June 30, 2022
(unaudited)

000 TRY

000 TRY

222,308

583,401

in %
of total
revenue

1,446,496

The Guarantor’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 was equal to TRY 1,446 billion split mainly between
(i) TRY 1,405 billion generated by residence and office sales, (ii) TRY 0,034 billion generated by land sales, (iii) TRY
0,010 billion generated by rent income, (iv) TRY 0,005 billion generated by other income and (v) TRY -0,008 generated
by sales return.
(e) An indication of any significant new products and/or services that have been introduced by the Issuer and, to
the extent the development of new products or services has been publicly disclosed, the status of the development
The Issuer did not introduce new services
(f) Details of any major customers, suppliers, or other material dependencies of the Issuer
The Issuer does not have any major customers since the sale of apartments is carried out to individuals. This statement
will be in power when the Issuer receives the part in authorized capital of “NEF&RAM” LLP.
The Issuer is free of material dependencies and does not have any major suppliers yet. However, it is planned that the
Guarantor will be among the Issuer’s major suppliers. The main goods and services that the Guarantor will supply
include appliances, construction materials (mostly decoration materials) and intellectual property in the form of
architectural sketches, sketches of design and engineering solutions.
(g) If material to the Issuer’s business or profitability, a summary of the extent to which the Issuer is dependent on
any patents or licenses, industrial, commercial or financial contracts or new manufacturing processes
The Issuer is not dependent on any patents or licenses, industrial, commercial or financial contracts or new
manufacturing processes. The Issuer is a developer company, i.e. its main activities are creating projects, creating
architectural, infrastructural and other sketches of the project, quality control and etc. But because of the fact that there
is no classification as “developer” in Kazakhstani economic activities, the Issuer is registered as construction company.
In fact, the Issuer does not construct buildings itself but appoints general contractors for the purposes of projects’
executions. That is why the Issuer does not need a license for construction activities.
1.4.

Risk Factors

The factors that may affect the ability of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Bonds are categorized as follows:
A. OPERATIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND ITS BUSINESS
B. FINANCIAL RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND ITS BUSINESS
C. COUNTRY RISKS
These risk factors are not listed in any order of priority regarding their severity, significance or probability and any
particular category should not be assumed to contain all the risks related to that category.
A. OPERATIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND ITS BUSINESS
The Issuer’s operations are subject to a variety of risks, some of which are not within its control. These include risks
relating to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, declines in liquidity and decrease in the purchasing
power of the population.
There is a risk that deal on buying “NEF&RAM” LLP will not be accomplished
The Issuer plans to buy 50% in “NEF&RAM” LLP - Kazakhstani company, operating under brand “NEF”. Current
participants of the “NEF&RAM” LLP are two natural persons, who are residents of Republic of Turkiye, and “Grace
Development” LLP, Kazakhstani company. If the transaction does not take place, then the issuer will have to look for
sources of financing for its Bonds

The Issuer depends on land availability to develop its projects
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As a developing company the Issuer always searches for land that may be used for project development. But there
is a shortage of land available for construction in big cities like Almaty, Astana and Shymkent. To mitigate this
risk the Issuer considers projects in other cities of Kazakhstan as well and in suburbs of big cities as well.
The Issuer imports vast majority of finishing materials and is exposed to cost over-runs while construction
processes
The building materials market experienced significant price fluctuations in 2022, as many supply chains were broken
because of geopolitical instability. The exchange rate fluctuations and the uncertain situation that developed in February
and early spring affected the building materials market, pulling changes in the real estate market.
According to the Union of Builders of Kazakhstan, in January-August 2022, the increase in prices for building materials
amounted to 14-37%, depending on the category. Reinforced concrete products, bricks, dry building mixtures, floor
coverings, heat-insulating products increased the most in price. Lumber, inert materials, cement, cellular concrete
blocks and wall blocks are getting more expensive. There is a decrease in the cost of rebar by 24.1%. As of July, prices
have increased for the following items:
Sheet glass - by 39,0%;
Oil refining products – 32,8%;
Paintwork materials – +11%;
Ceramic products – +10,1%;
Brick and tile - + 11,8%;
Wood - by 7,7%,
Concrete products – 7,0%;
Parquet - by 7,8%;
Bulk materials such as gravel, sand, clay and kaolin - by 8.6%.
Today there is a slow decline in prices. For example, for fittings - by 6%, gas block - by 3%, glass - by 17.6%. In the
short term, market prices are expected to decline due to the dumping of Russian materials.
The Issuer operates in premium segment of residential construction which has higher expectations on finishing
materials. Most of the finishing materials are to be imported and it is predictable that the exchange rate fluctuations
will affect price of imported finishing materials dramatically. The current increase in prices for building materials had
a significant impact on the entire market, also affecting the real estate sector. The real estate market reacted by rising
prices: in the secondary market - by 24%. From the Issuer’s perspective, the increase in the cost of construction will
affect marginality of premium segment residential projects by turning it down. The Issuer’s main supplier to be is
the Guarantor of this bonds – Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş., is a large construction company
in Turkiye, which buys construction materials in bulk. This will help to lower the price for goods.
The Issuer’s is exposed to the risks of an adverse event occurring in Kazakhstan
As at 30 September 2022, 100% of the Issuer’s assets and operations are located in Kazakhstan. Accordingly, The
Issuer is exposed to the risks of an adverse event occurring in Kazakhstan. All of the Issuer’s costs are incurred in
Kazakhstan. Since the majority of the Issuer’s expenses are denominated in Tenge, inflationary pressures in Kazakhstan
are a significant factor affecting the Issuer’s expenses. Any adverse change in economic or political conditions in
Kazakhstan could negatively affect the Issuer's income and profitability ratios. Any such adverse changes could also
negatively impact the Issuer's involvement in new projects, thereby reducing its ability to grow.
The Kazakhstan market, being an frontier market, is subject to greater risk than more developed markets, including in
some cases significant legal, economic and political risks. Accordingly, investors should exercise particular care in
evaluating the risks involved and must decide for themselves whether, in light of those risks, their investment is
appropriate.
The Issuer is subject to Regulatory Restrictions on its Activities
The Issuer’s operations are regulated by the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated July 16, 2001 No. 242-II "On
Architectural, Urban Planning And Construction Activities in the Republic of Kazakhstan", the Law of the Republic
of Kazakhstan “About Permissions and Notifications”, the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Shared
Participation In Housing Construction”, The Issuer’s Charter dated 01 October 2022 and other relevant laws and
regulations. There can be no assurance that the current regulatory regime will not change or that the Government will
not implement other regulations or policies or adopt new or modified legal interpretations of existing regulations or
policies, relating to or affecting taxation, interest rates, inflation or exchange controls, or otherwise take action that
could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.
There may be a Shortage of Qualified Personnel
There is a considerable shortage of adequately qualified personnel in Kazakhstan’s engineering and construction sector,
particularly in areas such as mechanics, estimation, electronics and green technologies. If the shortage of adequately
qualified personnel persists, the Issuer’s ability to offer the desired volume and quality of services may be affected
which may, in turn, have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows
or results of operations. In addition, a shortage of adequately qualified personnel may force the Issuer to offer additional
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financial and other incentives to retain existing personnel and recruit additional personnel, which would increase
operating expenses. The Issuer solves these issues by hiring qualified personnel from Turkiye in case needed.
Risks relating to the Bonds
The Issuer will need to maintain the listing of its Bonds on the AIX Official list in order for holders of the
Bonds to enjoy the tax exemptions provided under the Constitutional Statute of the Republic of Kazakhstan
on the Astana International Financial Centre (the Law on AIFC)
Under the Law on AIFC, interests and dividends paid on the securities and capital gains derived from sale of the
securities will be exempt from taxation in Kazakhstan until 1 January 2066 provided that such securities are included
on the Official List of the AIX at the time the dividends and interests are accrued and at the date of their sale. The
provisions of the Law on AIFC in terms of tax benefits are broader than the provisions of the Tax Code, which provides
more flexibility and advantages to holders of the securities. Accordingly, if the Bonds are delisted from the AIX Official
List for any reason, the holders of the Bonds will lose the tax benefits under the Law on AIFC. If the Bonds are delisted
from the AIX, the holders of the Bonds will have to follow the common practice established by the Tax Code.
B. FINANCIAL RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND ITS BUSINESS
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss occurring as a result of default by a borrower or counterparty on their obligation
to the Issuer. This risk is mainly associated with the accounts due from customers and clients. The Issuer has no
significant concentration of credit risk, because the Issuer’s receivables are of a small size and funds are deposited with
financial institutions that, at the time of account opening, have a minimal risk of default.
The maximum amount of possible loss as a result of credit risk is equal tj the carrying amount of cash:
September 30, 2022

December 31, 2021

000 KZT
Cash and cash equivalents

7,050

164

Total max credit risk

7,050

164

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Issuer will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall due. The Issuer
manages liquidity risk using short-term (monthly) forecasts of expected cash outflows from operating activities. The
Issuer has developed a number of internal regulations aimed at establishing control procedures for the appropriate
placement of temporary available cash assets, accounting and payments, as well as provisions for the preparation of
operating budgets. The Issuer’s goal is to maintain a balance between continuous funding and flexibility through the
use of bank deposits. The table below shows the breakdown of liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and September 30,
2022 by contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the maturities table represent the total amount of obligations
concerning the loan received.
000 KZT
For 9 months ended
September 30, 2022
(unaudited)
Loans
Trade payables
Other payables
Total

On call & less
than 1 month

1-3 months

From 3 months
to 1 year

1-5 years

Total
60,160
5,384
16,630
82,174

000 KZT
2021
Loans
Trade payables
Other payables
Total

On call & less
than 1 month
12,000
12,000

1-3 months
-

Market risk
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From 3 months to 1
year
-

1-5 years
-

Total
12,000
12,000

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices,
will adversely affect the profit of the Issuer or the value of the financial instruments it holds. The objective of market
risk management is to manage the Company's exposure to market risk and to ensure that it is within acceptable limits,
while optimizing the amount of return on risky assets.
Currency risk
The Issuer imports goods from other countries and is therefore exposed to currency risk. Currency exchange rates can
be particularly volatile in times of national or global financial instability, such as the recent period of economic turmoil
and economic downturn caused by a pandemic COVID-19. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
give rise to potential currency risk. Accordingly, any future changes in such rates could have a material adverse effect
on the Issuer’s business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows or results of operations. The Issuer does not hedge
currency risks associated with its transactions.
Currency risk is associated with the fact that the financial performance of the Issuer will be negatively affected by
changes in the USD/KZT exchange rate. As of September 30, 2020, the Issuer has no assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currency.
Interest rate risk
The Issuer is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The
Issuer doesn’t have formal policies and procedures to manage interest rate risk as the management believes that this
risk is immaterial to the Issuer’s business operations.
Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction on a
voluntary basis between market participants at the measurement (assessment) date. The best evidence of a fair value is
a quoted price in an active market. An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
The results of the fair value measurements are analyzed and categorized by levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:
(I)

Level 1 – valuations at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

(II)

Level 2 – valuations derived according to the measurement techniques in which all significant inputs
used that either directly (i.e., price), either indirectly (for example, calculated on a price basis) are
observable for the asset or liability, and

(III)

Level 3 – valuations that are not solely based on observable market data (i.e., the valuation requires
significant amount of unobservable input data)

All financial instruments of the Issuer are recognized at amortized cost. Their fair value was measured using the
discounted cash flow method. The fair value of floating rate instruments not quoted in an active market approximates
their carrying amount. The fair value of unquoted fixed rate instruments was determined based on expected future cash
flows discounted at the current interest rate for new instruments with a similar credit rating and maturity.
The management of the Issuer has determined that the fair value of cash and short-term liabilities (loans received)
approximates their carrying amount, mainly due to the short maturities of these instruments.
C.

COUNTRY RISKS

Political, Economic and Related Considerations
The Issuer is a Kazakhstani-based construction company and operates under internationally recognized brand “NEF”,
created by the Guarantor, a leading developer in real estate in Republic of Turkiye. 100% of the Issuer’s operations are
carried out in Kazakhstan, but the Guarantor’s affiliated companies operate in foreign countries, though Guarantor’s
majority of activities are carried out in Turkiye. Accordingly, the Issuer and its Guarantor are affected by political and
economic events in Kazakhstan and in Turkiye, respectively.
Kazakhstan became an independent sovereign state in 1991 as a result of the dissolution of the former Soviet Union.
Since then, Kazakhstan under two presidents, Nursultan Nazarbayev and, from June 2019, Kassym-Jomart Tokayev,
has experienced signiﬁcant changes as it has emerged from a centrally controlled command economy to a marketoriented economy. The transition was initially marked by political uncertainty and tension, a stagnant economy marked
by high inﬂation, instability of the local currency and rapid, but incomplete, changes in the legal environment. However,
Kazakhstan actively pursued a program of economic reform designed to establish a free market economy through
privatisation of government-owned enterprises and deregulation and it is more advanced in this respect than some other
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countries of the former Soviet Union. Under President Nazarbayev’s leadership, Kazakhstan has moved toward a
market-oriented economy. In March 2019, President Nursultan Nazarbayev officially stepped down as president
following almost 30 years in power, thereby beginning a process of political transition in Kazakhstan.
On 9 June 2019, an early presidential election took place with Kassym-Jomart Tokayev receiving approximately 71%
of the votes. Mr. Tokayev was inaugurated on 12 June 2019 as Kazakhstan’s new president. Kassym-Jomart Tokayev
was elected as the President of Kazakhstan after the final results of the presidential election were released on Nov. 22,
2022 Depending on the results of presidential election, the Kazakhstan’s course in economy may change. Changes to
Kazakhstan’s economy, particularly in property, tax or regulatory regimes or other changes could have a material
adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, prospects, financial condition, cash flows or results of operations.
1.5. Sales Trend
As newly incorporated company, the Issuer does not generate revenue yet. It is expected that the Issuer will generate
cash flows after acquiring a 50%-stake in “NEF&RAM” LLP. Sales of apartments in “NEF&RAM” LLP’s only
project – “NefUptown” residential complex started in 2020, before construction began. As of the date of approval of
this Prospectus, 97% of apartments are sold.
3. CONSTITUTION AND ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
3.1 Constitution
Issuer’s objectives and purpose and where they can be found in the constitution
The Charter was approved by the Decision of Sole Participant No. 3 of the limited liability partnership “NEF
Qazaqstan” on October 01, 2022. Article 2 of the Issuer’s Charter provides that the Issuer’s purpose is to make a profit
and ensure sustainable income of the Sole Participant) by, among other activities, providing construction of buildings
and structures, civil engineering and specialized construction works.
The rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to each class of the existing Securities
The Issuer has the Sole Participant who fully paid the authorized capital of the partnership. In case of further
replenishment of the Issuer’s authorized capital, the contribution to the authorized capital may be money, securities,
things, property rights, including the right to land use and the right to the results of intellectual activity and other
property. It is not allowed to make a contribution in the form of personal non-property rights and other intangible
benefits. The shares of all participants in the property of the Issuer are proportional to their contributions to the
authorized capital and are expressed as part of the whole as a percentage.
By decision of the participant, the amount of the authorized capital may be changed.
The Rights of Participant of the Issuer
The rights of the participants of the limited liability partnership are defined by the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan
“On Limited and Additional Liability Partnerships” dated April 22, 1998 and the Charter of the Issuer.
The participant of the Issuer shall have the right:
1) to participate in the management of the Issuer’s affairs as prescribed by the Charter;
2) to get information about the activities of the Issuer and get acquainted with its accounting and other
documentation;
3) to receive income from the activities of the Issuer in accordance with the founding documents of the Issuer
and decisions of the general meeting of participants;
4) to receive in case of liquidation of the Issuer the value of part of the property remaining after settlements
with creditors, or by agreement of all participants of the Issuer, part of this property in kind;
5) to terminate participation in the limited liability partnership by alienating its share in the manner
prescribed by law and the constituent documents;
6) to require an extraordinary general meeting of participants when the interests of the Issuer require such a
meeting to be convened;
7) to use the right to purchase a participants’ share or part of it, which is pre-emptive to third parties, when
it is sold by one of the participants;
8) to challenge in court decisions of the Issuer that violate their rights under this Law and (or) the Charter of
the Issuer.
The Rights of the Members of Supervisory Board
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1) the right to control activities of the executive body (General Director) at any time and at the request
of the Participant of the Issuer;
2) to make decisions on approval of transactions of the Issuer;
3) to have access to the documents of the Issuer.
What action is necessary to change the rights of holders of the Bonds, indicating where the conditions are
more significant than is required by any law applicable to the Issuer
The rights of Bondholders are stipulated by the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Limited and Additional
Liability Partnerships” dated April 22, 1998 and the Charter of the Issuer (as above).
Modification of any conditions of the Bonds, including the change of Bondholders’ rights, may be made if sanctioned
by an extraordinary resolution of the Issuer's Bondholders (hereinafter – Extraordinary Resolution). Such a meeting
may be convened by the assigned third party or the Issuer and shall be convened by the Issuer upon the request in
writing of Bondholders holding not less than one tenth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds.
The quorum at any meeting convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more Persons holding or
representing one more than half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds or, at any adjourned
meeting, two or more persons being or representing Bondholders whatever the principal amount of the Bond held or
represented; provided, however, that reserved matters may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed
at a meeting of Bondholders at which two or more Persons holding or representing not less than three quarters or, at
any adjourned meeting, one quarter of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds form a quorum. Any
Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Bondholders, whether present or
not.
The conditions governing the way annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings of holders
of Securities are called including the conditions of admission to the meeting
According to the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Limited and Additional Liability Partnerships”, the
supreme body of a limited liability partnership (general meeting) is convened as a regular or extraordinary general
meeting of participants.
The supreme governing body of the Issuer is the participant. The exclusive competence of the participant of the Issuer
shall include, among others, approval of the annual financial statements of the Issuer.
Any provisions in the constitution, governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership
must be disclosed
A person who independently or jointly with its affiliated persons owns, uses, disposes of ten or more percent of voting
shares (participatory interest in the authorized capital) of legal entities falling within definition of an affiliate as specified
in subparagraphs 1), 4), 5), 6), 7), 8 ), 9) and 11) of paragraph 2 of Article 12-1 of the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan
“On Limited and Additional Liability Partnerships”, is considered an affiliate of the Issuer.
A person who independently or jointly with its affiliated persons, intends to acquire fifty or more percent of the shares
in the authorized capital of the limited liability partnership, sends a notice to all participants in the partnership of his
intention as specified in subparagraph 2-1) of paragraph 2 of Article 29 of the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On
Limited and Additional Liability Partnerships”
Any provision of the constitution that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in
control of the Issuer
Provisions on change in control of the Issuer are specified in Articles 29, 30, 31 and 32 of the Law of the Republic
of Kazakhstan “On Limited and Additional Liability Partnerships”
The conditions imposed by the constitution governing changes in the capital, where such conditions are
more stringent than is required by law applicable to the Issuer
The Charter does not provide for any such provisions that are more stringent than is required by law applicable to the
Issuer. Under the Charter, the amount of the authorized capital of the Issuer may be changed according to the decision
of the participant. Pursuant to the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan “On Limited and Additional Liability
Partnerships”, an increase in the charter capital of a limited liability partnership is allowed after its full payment and a
decrease in the charter capital of a limited liability partnership can be carried out by proportionally reducing the
contributions of the participants in the partnership or by fully or partially repaying the shares of individual participants.
Any arrangements by which a single investor or group of investors may exercise significant influence over
the Issuer
There are no such arrangements
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3.2 Issuer’s Ownership Structure
The Issuer’s sole founder and Sole Participant is Mr. Oskay Tarik Volkan, the citizen of the Republic of Turkiye, who
has Kazakhstani residence permit issued by Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
The Issuer and the Guarantor are not legally affiliated, but both operate under the same brand “NEF”. The Guarantor’s
ownership structure is as follows: Mr. Erden Timur (99.43%) and Mr. Musa Timur (0.57%). The Guarantor’s ultimate
beneficial owners are both citizens of the Republic of Turkiye.
The Guarantor’s main operations are purchases, sales and developments of real estates to operate in construction sector
in Turkiye and abroad. The Guarantor and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group) are all incorporated in Turkiye and
mainly active in Turkiye
The subsidiaries of the Guarantor as at December 31, 2021 are as follows:
No.

Name of the company

Principal activity

Effective
ownership

Bebek Turizm ve Insaat Ticaret .A.S.
(“Bebek Turizm)
Ganj Yapi Insaat A.S.
(“Ganj Yapi”)

Real estate development and tourism

100%

Real estate development

100%

3

TT Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.S.
(“TT Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

75%

4

Timur Sehircilik ve Planlama A.S.
(“Timur Sehircilik”)

Real estate development

100%

5

Sirius Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.S.
("Sirius")

Real estate development

51%

6

Timur Beykoz 5 Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.S.
("Timur Beykoz 5")

Real estate development

80%

7

Nef Gayrimenkul Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş.
(“Nef Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

25%

8

Base Gayrimenkul Turizm ve Ticaret A.S.
(“Base”)

Real estate development

100%

9

BT Bahcelievler Gayrimenkul ve Tic.A.S.
(“BT Bahcelievler”)

Real estate development

75%

10

TMR Gayrimenkul ve Tic.A.S.
(“TMR Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

96%

11

Sadabad Kagithane Insaat ve Tic.A.S.
(“Sadabad Kagithane”)

Real estate development

71,43%

12

Halic Ogrenci Rezidansi ve Ticaret.A.S.
(“Halic Ogrenci Rezidansi”)

Real estate development

100%

13

Nef Aslanyapi Adi Ortakligi
(“Nef Aslanyapi”)

Real estate development

70%

14

Optimum Yasam Merkezi Insaat ve Tic.A.S.
(“Optimum”)

Real estate development

55%

1
2

4. ASSETS
4.1 Material contracts
The Issuer or Sole Participant of the company had no material contracts: (i) within the two years immediately preceding
the date of this document and which is, or may be, material; or (ii) which contains any provision under which any
participant of the company has any obligation or entitlement which is material to the Issuer as at the date hereof.

5. CAPITAL
5.1 Authorized capital
The authorized capital of the Issuer is KZT 200,000 (two hundred thousand tenge), which is fully formed at the time
of state registration by sole founder – Mr. Oskay Tarik Volkan (100%).
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In case of further replenishment of the Issuer’s authorized capital, the contribution of the authorized capital may be
money, securities, things, property rights, including the right of the land use and the right to the results of the intellectual
activity and other property. It is not allowed to make a contribution in the form of personal non-property rights and
other intangible benefits. The amount of authorized capital may be changed.
6.

MANAGEMENT OF THE ISSUER
6.1. Details relating to directors and senior managers

The Supervisory Board shall have the right to control the activities of the executive body at any time and at the request
of the participant of the Issuer to make decisions on approval of transactions of the Issuer, and for this purpose shall
have the right of unconditional access to the documents of the Issuer.
Members of the Issuer’s Supervisory Board
Name, Business address
Sarsekeyeva Gaukhar
Kogabayevna,
Member of the Supervisory
Board
A15E3H4 Almaty, Bostandyk
District, Al-Farabi ave.,
building 77/7, 8 floor, office
Mv5
Chopiyev Kubat
Toktobekovich,
Member of the Supervisory
Board
050051, Almaty, Kazakhstan
Almatova Zhanat Ungarovna,
Member of the Supervisory
Board
Almaty, Kazakhstan

Functions and principal activities
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Approval of the Issuer’s strategy and development plans;
Approval of the budget, as well as changes and additions to it;
Decisions to pledge 50% (fifty) percent or more of the total property;
Approval of documents regulating the internal activities;
Approval of accounting policy;
Preliminary approval of annual financial statement;
Preliminary approval of annual report;
Approval of the total amount of employees and the structure of the central
office;
Approval of the internal risk management procedures;
Approval of risk management policy;
Appointment of an audit organization;
Other issues stipulated by the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan
and the Charter.

The executive body of the Issuer is a General Director. General Director shall be competent in all matters that are not
within exclusive competence of the participant, including:
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Ensuring the implementation of current and prospective work programs;
Preparation and implementation of the participant’s decisions, provision of reports on the implementation;
Managing the property of the Partnership, including its funds;
Signing agreement (contracts) on behalf of the Partnership without a power of attorney and ensuring their
fulfilment;
Opening settlement and other accounts in banks;
Issuing orders and directives that are binding on the Partnership’ staff;
Issuing powers of attorney for the right to represent Partnership;
Exercising other powers that are not assigned by the Charter of the Partnership to the competence of the
participant

Name, Business address
Oskay Tarik Volkan,
the citizen of the Republic of
Turkiye (residence permission
No. 050077640, issued by the
Ministry of Internal Affairs of
the Republic of Kazakhstan
on 25.03.2021)
GeneralDirector,

Functions and principal activities
— Acts on behalf of the Issuer without a power of attorney;
— Issue a power of attorney for the right to represent the Issuer, including a
power of attorney with the right to transfer trust;
— In relation to employees of the Issuer, issue orders for the appointments,
transfer and dismissal, determines the system of remuneration, sets the size
of official salaries and personal allowances, decides on bonuses, takes
incentives and imposes disciplinary penalties;
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Name, Business address

A15E3H4 Almaty, Bostandyk
District, Al-Farabi ave.,
building 77/7, 8 floor, office
Mv5

Functions and principal activities
— Performs other powers that are not within the exclusive competence of the
participant;

Conflict of interest:
To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge there are no conflict of interests between the personal interests of any key person
mentioned above and that of the duties such persons owed to the Issuer or interests of the Issuer.
6.2.

Other information relating to key persons:

The Issuer is not obliged to form committees in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan
regulating the activities of legal entities operating in the form of limited liability partnerships. Nevertheless, the Issuer
shall form an Audit Commission of two people from the Issuer’s participants or their representatives for a period of 3
(three) years or shall elect an Auditor to exercise control over financial and business activities of the executive body
(General Director). The Audit Commission or the Auditor shall have the right at any time to conduct audits of the
financial and economic activities of the executive body of the Issuer, and for this purpose shall have the right of
unconditional access to all documents of the Issuer.
Compliance with corporate governance regime
To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge, the Issuer is complying with corporate governance regime in Kazakhstan and
this regime is compatible with the corporate governance regime under MAR in respect of Reporting Entities, that are
issuers of debentures.

7.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
7.1. Historical financial information about the Issuer

The tables below set out summary financial information of the Issuer as at and for 30 September 2022, and the year
ended 31 December 2020 prepared in accordance with IFRS. The summary financial information has been extracted
from the financial statements of the Issuer without material adjustment. Rounding differences may occur.
According to the Auditor’s report (GoodWill AUDIT LLP), financial statements of the Issuer are presented fairly, in
all material respects in accordance with IFRS
Statement of financial position
KZT
ASSETS
I.

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short Term receivables
Inventory
Other current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
II. Current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Tax liabilities
Liabilities on other compulsory and voluntary payments
Short term payables
Other current liabilities
III. Capital
Authorized capital
Uncovered loss
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September 30, 2022
(audited)

2021
(audited)

8,105,063
7,049,563
1,000,000
7,000
48,500
8,105,063

171,266
164,266
7,000
171,266

82,173,892
60,159,674
7,810,838
3,819,600
5,383,780
5,000,000
(74,068,829)
200,000
(74,268,829)

12,000,000
12,000,000
(11,828,734)
200,000
(12,028,734)

KZT
Total equity and liabilities

September 30, 2022
(audited)
8,105,063

2021
(audited)
171,266

September 30, 2022
(audited)
186,151
(60,458,909)
(1,967,337)
(62,240,095)
(62,240,095)

2021
(audited)
(12,028,734)
(12,028,734)
(12,028,734)

September 30, 2022
(audited)
(39,844,490)
5,126,963
5,000,000
126,963
44,971,453
2,821,240
3,007,339
37,606,392
1,536,482
160,491
160,491
160,491
48,506,431
68,506,431
68,506,431
22,000,000
22,000,000
62,506,431
6,885,297
164,266
7,049,199

2021
(audited)
(12,035,734)
(12,035,734)
(12,035,734)
12,200,000
12,200,000
12,000,000
200,000
-

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income Information
KZT
Revenues
Cost of goods sold and services rendered
Gross Profit
Financing Income
Administrative and distribution expenses
Other expenses
Income (Loss) before Taxation
Corporate income tax
Income (Loss) after Taxation

Cash Flow Statement
KZT
I. Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Total cash receipts
Advances received
Other receipts
Total cash outflow
payments made to suppliers for goods and services
advance payments made to suppliers of goods and services
wages paid
other payments
II. Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Total cash flow
Remunerations on deposits received
Total cash outflow
III. Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Total cash flow
loan received
Authorized shareholders’ equity paid
Total cash outflow
loan repayment
Effect of exchange rate
Total cash flow increase/decrease
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

164,266
164,266

Historical financial statements for years 2021 ended December 31, 2021 are audited by GoodWill Auditt LLP, a
member of the Chamber of Auditors of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the member of international auditing and
consulting networks.
Interim financial information covering the first nine months of the financial year 2022 is audited.
There were no significant changes in the financial or trading position of the Issuer which has occurred since the end of
the last financial period for which audited financial information and interim financial information have been presented.
The full Financial Statement Report of the Issuer is presented in Schedule 4.
The financial information of “NEF&RAM” LLP, the 50% stake in which the Issuer plans to buy is shown below.
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Statement of financial position of “NEF&RAM” LLP

KZT
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equavalent
Inventory
Current tax assets
Other Current Assets
Non-Current Asset
Fixed Assets
Other Non-current Assets
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Other Current Financial Liabilities
Accounts Payables
Short-term Reserves
Tax Liabilities
Other Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Equity
Capital
Retained Earning

31.12.2021
(unaudited)
15 942 497 174

31.12.2020
(unaudited)
1 821 391 166

7 341 367 761

1 817 986 576

15 796 388

5 863 807

958 704 084

76 998

373 092
6 366 494 197

12 600
1 812 033 171

8 601 129 413

5 605 727 393

70 298 266

2 367 422

8 530 831 147

1 037 168

15 941 497 174

1 821 391 166

16 411 356 106

2 042 705 353

3 516 469 900

15 869 900

12 890 200 835

2 026 448 999

562 835

225 824

4 122 536

160 630

280 288 554

237 624 373

11 570 736

59 131

11 570 736

59 131

-480 429 668

-221 373 318

300 000

300 000

-480 729 668

-221 673 318

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income of “NEF&RAM” LLP
KZT
Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Profit Margin
Other income

31.12.2022
(unaudited)
0

31.12.2021
(unaudited)
0

0

0

0

0

698 552

Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Financial expenses

-213 769 809

-188 387 635

-30 364 783

-20 180 604

0

0

-4 108 705

-196 941

Income

-247 544 745

-208 765 180

Income before tax

-247 544 745

-208 765 180

Other expenses

Tax expense

-11 511 605

10 669

Net income

-259 056 350

-208 754 511

Cash Flow Statement of “NEF&RAM” LLP
KZT
I. Cash flows from operating activities
1. Cash inflow, total
including:
sale of goods
service provision
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2021

2020

8 252 025 103

1 937 427 937

advances received
deposit return
other receipts
2. Cash outflow, total
including:
payments to suppliers for goods and services
advances paid
payroll payments
corporate income tax and other payments to the budget
payments to non-budgetary funds
other payments
Net cash flows from operating activities
II. Cash flows from investing activities
1. Cash inflow, total
including:
sale of fixed assets
2. Cash outflows, total
including: acquisition of property, plant and equipment, sale of
property, plant and equipment:
acquisition of fixed assets
acquisition of intangible assets
Net cash outflow from investing activities

8 251 961 231

1 937 427 937

63 872
7 294 155 224

1 941 477 732

157 622 455
7 126 138 267
5 854 401
1 091 033
3 449 068

3 088 942
1 936 001 046
1 865 981
259 293
262 470

957 869 879

(4 049 795)

0

73 460 582

2 299 985

73 460 582

2 299 985

(73 460 582)

(2 299 985)

600 000

12 099 900

600 000
875 000 000

12 099 900
0

875 000 000
(874 400 000)

12 099 900

Foreign exchange gains and losses

(76 716)

0

Total: Increase +/- decrease in cash

9 932 581

5 750 120

5 863 807
15 796 388

113 687
5 863 807

III. Cash flows from financing activities
1. Cash inflow, total
including:
Contributions and shares in authorized capital
Receipt of loans
2. Cash outflows, total
Including:
Repayment of loans
dividend payout
Other
Net cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting
period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

8. OTHER INFORMATION
8.1. Information about auditors
The independent auditor of the Issuer is GoodWill Auditt LLP, a company was founded in 2014. The state license for
carrying out an audit activity No. 14005187 was issued by Financial Control Committee of the Ministry of Finance of
the Republic of Kazakhstan on April 16, 2014. The company is a member of the Chamber of Auditors of the Republic
of Kazakhstan and the member of international auditing and consulting networks. GoodWill Auditt LLP is undergoing
rebranding procedures currently and will be re-registered as HLB Scope Audit KZ soon. The address of the auditor is
Republic of Kazakhstan, 050020 Almaty, Kerbulakskaya street, 14. Telephone number: +7 (727) 261-23-07
The independent auditor of the Guarantor is PwC Bagumsiz Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Musavirlik A.S.
The company is a global network of professional firms providing Audit, Tax and Advisory services, operating in 152
countries with more than 328,000 people working in member firms around the world. PwC Bagumsiz Denetim ve
Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Musavirlik A.S. address is: BJK Plaza, Suleman Seba Caddesi No, 48 B, Blok Kat/ 9,
Akaretler Besiktas 34357 Istanbul, Turkiye. Website: www.pwc.com.tr, Tel.: +90 212 326 6060.
8.2. Connected persons
If a connected Person is a controller, information about that Person
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The sole beneficiary owner of the Issuer is Oskay Tarik Volkan (100%), the citizen of the Republic of Turkiye,
residence permission No. 050077640, issued by the Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Republic of Kazakhstan on
25.03.2021. The contact details are: Republic of Kazakhstan, A15E3H4 Almaty, Bostandyk District, Al-Farabi ave.,
building 77/7, 8 floor, office Mv5. Website: https://nefuptown.kz/, telephone number: +7 (727) 356 02 47, e-mail:
reception@nefuptown.kz
Major ultimate beneficiary owner of the Guarantor is Erden Timur (99,43%). Contacts: Republic of Turkiye, 34394
Sisli, Istanbul, Esentepe Mahallesi Ali Kaya Sk. No. 3/22, telephone number is: +90 212 444 9 633; info@nef.com.tr
Major ultimate beneficiary owners of “NEF&RAM” LLP are Mr. Erden Timur (50%, the citizen of the Republic of
Turkiye, main shareholder (99.43%) of the Guarantor), Mr. Bulbul Dogan (25%, the citizen of the Republic of Turkiye)
and “Grace Development” LLP (25%, Kazakhstan).
There are no arrangements known to the Issuer, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in
control of the Issuer.
8.3. Legal and other proceedings against the Issuer
To the best of the Issuer’s knowledge there are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such
proceedings which are pending or threatened and of which the Issuer is aware) which may have, or have had during
the 12 months prior to the date of this Prospectus, a significant effect on the Issuer’s financial position of profitability.
8.4. Other significant matters
As of the date of this Prospectus there are no other significant matters that investors would reasonably require in relation
to the Issuer and the Issuer’s jurisdiction
9.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONTENT OF THE PROSPECTUS
9.1. Responsibility Statement

A Responsibility Statement is included in the Schedule 1 of this Prospectus
9.2. Third Party Information
Statistical data and other information appearing in this Prospectus relating to the Kazakhstan have, unless otherwise
stated, been extracted from documents and other publications released by the Ministry of Finance of Kazakhstan, the
National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan and other public sources in Kazakhstan, as well as from Kazakhstan press
reports and publications, edicts and resolutions of the Government and estimates of the Issuer (based on its
management’s knowledge and experience of the markets in which the Issuer operates). In the case of the presented
statistical information, similar statistics may be obtainable from other sources, although the underlying assumptions
and methodology, and consequently the resulting data, may vary from source to source. Any discussion of matters
relating to Kazakhstan in this Prospectus is, therefore, subject to uncertainty due to concerns about the completeness or
reliability of available official and public information. The Issuer confirms that, where information included in the
Prospectus has been sourced from a third party, the source is identified, that information has been accurately reproduced
and that, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts
have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
9.3. Signing of the Prospectus by directors of the Issuer
The Prospectus was signed by Tarik Volkan Oskay, a General Director of the Issuer, and Members of the
Supervisory Board: Sarsekeyeva Gaukhar, Chopiyev Kubat and Almatova Zhanat on November 22, 2022.
9.4. Expert opinions included in a prospectus
The Issuer extracted most of the information contained in this Prospectus from 2021 Annual Financial Statements, 30
September 2022 Interim Unaudited financial statements. Information on Auditors described in the clause 8.1. of the
Registration Document. There are no other expert opinions having been obtained.
10. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY
Copies of the following documents may be inspected at, and are available from, the office of the Issuer at Republic of
Kazakhstan, A15E3H4 Almaty, Bostandyk District, Al-Farabi ave., building 77/7, 8 floor, office Mv5, during normal
business hours on any weekday (except for Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays), so long as the Bonds are listed
on the AIX:
— this Prospectus, Offer Terms and any supplements thereto;
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— the Charter;
— audited financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 31 December 2021 and audited financial
statements for 9 months ended 30 September 2022.
— audited financial statements of the Guarantor for the year ended 31 December 2020, 31 December 2021, and
unaudited financial statements for 6 months ended 30 June 2022.
— Unaudited financial statements of the “NEF&RAM” LLP for the year ended 31 December 2020, 31
December 2021.
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SECURITIES NOTE
1.

KEY INFORMATION
1.1 Risk factors material to the Securities

Prior to making an investment decision, prospective purchasers of Bonds should carefully consider, along with the
other matters referred to in this Prospectus, the following risks associated with investment in Bonds issued by the
Issuer (risk factors are not listed in any order of priority regarding their severity, significance or probability):
Risk of Default of the Guarantor
By subscribing to the Bonds, investors lend money to the Issuer who undertakes to pay interest on a semi-annual basis
and to redeem the principal on the Maturity Date. In case of the Issuer’s bankruptcy or default, the investors may
redeem the full amount of their investments, which comprises of (a) the principal debt on the Bonds on their
redemption, (b) the coupon payment in the terms stipulated by this Prospectus and (c) penalties accrued in favour of
the Bondholders in accordance with the terms of this Prospectus and payable in connection with the late performance
of the Issuer’s liabilities on payment of the principal debt on the Bonds on their redemption and/ or coupon payment
(the “Guaranteed Liabilities”, see Schedule 3) from the Guarantor (Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim
A.Ş., a joint stock company incorporated in Turkiye). The Guarantee is valid until the debt to the Bondholders under
fully paid Guaranteed Liabilities.
However, in case of the Guarantor’s bankruptcy or default, investors may not recover the amounts they are entitled to
and risk losing all or part of their investment.
Risk of delisting
The Issuer will need to maintain the listing of its Bonds on the AIX Official list in order for holders of the Bonds to
enjoy the tax exemptions provided under the Law on Law
As at the date of this Prospectus, under the AIFC Law, interests and dividends paid on the securities will be exempt
from corporate income tax until 1 January 2066, provided that such securities are included in the official list of securities
of the AIX or KASE at the time the dividends are accrued. Accordingly, by virtue of the Bonds being admitted to the
official list of the AIX interests paid on the Bonds will be exempt from corporate income tax.
Starting from 1 January 2023 the new amendments to the Tax Code will enter into force. Pursuant to these amendments
the dividend tax exemption will apply only if there have been trades in such shares. The criteria of sufficiency of the
trades will be set out by the Kazakhstan Government. Pursuant to a draft Government Decree, the active trading criteria
are (1) the amount of deals with the securities being not less than KZT 25 million a month, and (2) the number of deals
with the securities being not less than 50 a month, with the criteria being satisfied only based on executed deals.
The provisions of the AIFC Law in terms of tax benefits are broader than the provisions of the Tax Code, which
provides more flexibility and advantages to holders of the securities. Accordingly, if the Bonds are delisted from the
official securities list of the AIX for any reason, the holders of the Bonds will lose the tax benefits under the AIFC Law.
If the Bonds are delisted from the AIX, the holders of the Bonds will have to follow the common practice established
by the Tax Code.
1.2 Reasons for the Offer
Use of proceeds

−
−
−

The proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds will be used for general corporate purposes, including the financing
of the Issuer’s projects and financing of 2nd stage of NEF Uptown residential complex after acquisition of a 50%
stake in “NEF&RAM LLP:
Maximum amount for construction works (2nd stage of NEF Uptown residential complex): KZT 5,235 mln;
overhead costs: KZT 320 mln;
transport and machinery services: KZT 315 mln.
Anticipated proceeds will be sufficient to fund all the proposed uses, no additional funds will be required. The
Issuer is planning to use proceeds from the issue in the ordinary course of business, with no intention to acquire
assets other than in the ordinary course of business, to finance announced acquisitions of other businesses, or to
discharge, reduce or retire indebtedness of the Issuer.
1.3 Creditworthiness of the Issuer
Debt service coverage ratio
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The debt service coverage ratio is provided to demonstrate how well an Issuer is able to pay its entire debt service. Debt
service includes all principal and interest payments due to be made. The ratio is defined as net operating income divided
to total debt service.
According to the Issuer’s financial statements, net income coverage ratios were equal to negative 0,76x and negative
1,00x for 30 September 2022 and 31 December 2021, respectively.
Relevant credit ratings
The Issuer does not have credit ratings
Risk factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfill its obligations under the Securities to investors
For a discussion of certain investment considerations relating to Kazakhstan and the Bonds that prospective investors
should carefully consider prior to making an investment in the Bonds, see paragraph 2.2 (Risk Factors) of the
Registration Document and paragraph 1.1 (Risk factors material to the Securities) of this Securities Note.
1.4

Creditworthiness of the Guarantor

Debt service coverage ratio
According to the Guarantor’s financial statements, net income coverage ratios were equal to 1,12x and 0.74x for 30
June 2022 and 31 December 2021, respectively.
Relevant credit ratings
The Guarantor does not have credit ratings
Risk factors that may affect the Guarantor’s ability to fulfill its obligations under the Securities to
investors
Amongst risk factors that may affect the Issuer’s ability to fulfill its obligations under the Securities to investors are:
adverse change economic conditions; decrease in demand for the Guarantor’s property; continuing hyperinflation.
1. 5 Guarantees
In case of the Issuer’s bankruptcy or default, the investors may redeem the full amount of their investments, which
comprises of (a) the principal debt on the Bonds on their redemption, (b) the coupon payment in the terms stipulated
by this Prospectus and (c) penalties accrued in favour of the Bondholders in accordance with the terms of this
Prospectus and payable in connection with the late performance of the Issuer’s liabilities on payment of the principal
debt on the Bonds on their redemption and/ or coupon payment (the “Guaranteed Liabilities”, see Schedule 3) from the
Guarantor (Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş., a joint stock company incorporated in Turkiye).
The Guarantee is valid until the debt to the Bondholders under fully paid Guaranteed Liabilities.
The Guarantee is unconditional. The Guarantor does not have any power to veto changes to the Bondholders' rights.
The Guarantor is obliged to disclose financial information about itself.

2.

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE SECURITIES OFFERED/ADMITTED TO TRADING
2.1 General information relating to Securities

The Bonds and any non-contractual obligations, arising out of, or in connection with, the Bonds shall be governed by,
and construed in accordance with the laws of the AIFC. The Issuer has agreed herein the conditions in favor of the
Bondholders that any claim, dispute or discrepancy of any nature arising out of, or in connection with the Bonds
(including claims, disputes or discrepancies regarding the existence, termination thereof, or any non-contractual
obligations arising out of, or in connection with the Bonds) shall be brought to, and finally resolved by the Court of the
AIFC in accordance with the rules thereof, currently in effect, such rules shall be deemed incorporated herein.
Form of the Bonds

The bonds will be issued in fully registered dematerialised form under the
Acting Law of the AIFC.

Governing law, jurisdiction and
arbitration

The Bonds and any non-contractual obligations arising out of, or in
connection with, the Bonds shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the AIFC.
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The Issuer has agreed herein the conditions in favor of the Bondholders
that any claim, dispute or discrepancy of any nature arising out of, or in
connection with, the Bonds (including claims, disputes or discrepancies
regarding the existence, termination thereof, or any non-contractual
obligations arising out of, or in connection with, the Bonds) shall be
brought to, and finally resolved by, the Court of the AIFC in accordance
with the rules thereof.
Registrar

AIX Registrar, a company incorporated in AIFC under company
identification number 180840900010 with its registered office at Mangilik
El Avenue, building 15, Astana, Kazakhstan.
AIX Registrar maintains the registry of holders of securities, issued in
AIFC.

Depository

Astana International Exchange Central Securities Depository Limited
(AIX CSD) is a private company incorporated under the Acting law of the
AIFC responsible for daily cash and securities settlement and depositary
activities.

Admission to listing and trading

Application has been made to list the Bonds described in this Prospectus
on the Official List of the AIX and for trading on the AIX.
Senior, guaranteed coupon bonds (book-entry form)
The Bonds shall constitute direct, general and unconditional obligations of
the Issuer which will rank pari passu among themselves and rank pari
passu, in terms of payment rights, with all other current or future
unsubordinated and guaranteed obligations of the Issuer, except for
liabilities mandatorily preferred by applicable law.

Type of the Bonds
Ranking

ISIN
Principal amount of the Bonds

KZX000001185
KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion)

Currency

Kazakhstani tenge

Nominal value

KZT 1,000 per one Bond

Issue Date

November 23, 2022

Maturity Date

November 23, 2023

Bonds Circulation Term

12 months from the beginning date of the Bond’s circulation

Day Count Fraction

Actual/ Actual

The maturity date and
arrangements

The Bonds will mature on November 23, 2023 and the principal and
accrued interest will be repaid during the period from November 24, 2023
to November 30, 2023 (inclusive)
Payments on the redemption of the principal debt on the Bonds are made
simultaneously with the coupon payment on the last coupon period.
Redemption of the principal debt will be carried out by transferring money
to the participant’s settlement accounts at AIX CSD of the Bondholders,
who have the right to receive the specified payment and have been
registered as the Bondholders by AIX Registrar and AIX CSD as of close
of business on the Register closing date. In case of nominee holding interest
and principal debt could be paid only to the account provided by
Bondholder’s broker or custodian acting as a nominal holder of securities.

Rights granted to the Bondholder

1) The right to receive a nominal value upon redemption of the Bonds in
the manner and terms provided for by Prospectus;
2) The right to receive a fixed interest on the Bonds from their nominal
value in the time and amount stipulated by Prospectus;
3) The right to receive information about the Issuer’s activities and its
financial condition in accordance with and in the manner prescribed
by AIFC and AIX Rules and legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan;
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4) The right to satisfy their claims in respect of the Bonds in cases and in
the manner prescribed by AIFC Rules and legislation of the Republic
of Kazakhstan;
5) The right to declare all or part of the Bonds for repurchase in cases
established by Prospectus;
6) The right to freely sell and otherwise dispose of the Bonds;
7) The right to demand redemption of the Bonds by the Issuer in cases
provided for by Prospectus;
8) Other rights arising from the ownership of the Bonds in cases and in
the manner prescribed by the Prospectus, AIFC Rules and legislation
of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
Restrictions
on
transferability

the

free

Miscellaneous

The Bonds are freely transferable.

For purposes of any calculation specified herein, a value shall be accurate
to two decimal places.

2.2 Coupon Rate
Date from which the calculation of
interest on the Bonds begins

The accrual of interest on the Bonds will commence November 23, 2022.
The interest is accrued throughout the entire period of the Bonds circulation
and ends on November 23, 2023, which is the last day of the Bonds
circulation period and the last day of calculation of the Bond’s interest.

The limit on the validity of claims to
the Coupon Rate and redemption of
principal

The requirements in respect of the coupon payment are valid until the expiry
of the period of the Bond’s circulation. Requirements in respect of payment
of accrued coupon payment and nominal value of the Bonds at their
repurchase or redemption are effective until the Issuer fully performs the
liability on these payments.

Coupon rate

The Bonds will bear a fixed interest rate of 20% per annum from the Offer
Date. The first coupon payment will be made within 7 (seven) calendar
days from May 24, 2023; the second and last coupon payment will be
made simultaneously with redemption of the principal debt, within 7
(seven) calendar days from November 24, 2023.
If Interest payment commencement date coincides with weekends or
holidays, the payment period starts from the next working day.

3.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER
3.1 Main terms and conditions

Number of Bonds offered

6,000,000 Bonds

Categories of potential
investors

The Bonds will be publicly offered to a wide range of investors in Kazakhstan
in compliance with the applicable laws of the AIFC and the AIX rules.

Conflict of interest

No person involved in the offering has any interest in the offering, which is
material to the offering.

Admission type

Public offering

Offering method

Offering of the Bonds will be made through subscription using the bookbuilding platform of the trading system of the AIX in accordance with the AIX
Business Rules and relevant AIX market notices

The offer period opening and
closing date

November 23, 2022

The Settlement date

November 25, 2022

Advisors to the Issuer

Jusan Invest JSC is a financial advisor to the Issuer
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Authorisations

In accordance with Decision No. 4 of the Issuer’s Sole Participant dated
October 14, 2022 it was decided to increase liabilities by issuing bonds on AIX
in the amount not exceeding KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion tenge).

Clearing and settlement

The payment and settlement will be made through the settlement system of the
AIX CSD in accordance with the rules and regulations of the AIX CSD (the “AIX
CSD Rules”), in particular delivery of the Bonds through the system of the AIX
CSD. The Bonds will be held on behalf of investors in the relevant AIX Trading
Member’s custodial account at AIX CSD.

Notification process for
investors

Investors will be notified about offering process via corporate website of Jusan
Invest JSC, the Issuer’s financial advisor, at https://jusaninvest.kz/ and mobile
application of Jusan Invest, JSC. All other notifications to investors will be
posted by the Issuer via AIX Regulatory Announcement Service.

Paying agent

The Issuer did not appoint a Paying agent for the Bonds

Underwriter

Jusan Invest JSC is an underwriter to the Issuer

Placement agent

The placement agent is not provided

Methods of payment for the
Bonds

The Bonds are paid in KZT according to bank details of the Issuer. Payment for
the purchased Bonds must be made in full. Partial payment of the Bonds as well
as payment by installments is not allowed.

Depository

Astana International Exchange Central Securities Depository Limited (AIX
CSD)

Guarantor

Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş.

3.2 Schedule of payments of Interest
Coupon
period
sequence
number

November 23,
2022
May 24, 2023

1
2

4.

May 23, 2023

Register closing
date
23:59:59 Astana
Time
May 23, 2023

November 23,
2023

November 23,
2023

Coupon period
commencement
date

Coupon period
expiry date

Interest payment
commencement
date

Interest payment
expiry date

May 24, 2023

May 30, 2023

November 24,
2023

November 30,
2023

OTHER INFORMATION
4.1 Payment of interest on the Bonds

The interest on the Bonds is paid to persons who have been registered as the Bondholders by the AIX Registrar on
close of business on the Register closing date. When the Settlement date falls in between Register closing date and
Coupon (or Maturity) Date, the settlement shall be made between buyer and seller on a case by case basis.
The coupon payment will be made within 7 (seven) calendar days from May 24, 2023 and November 24, 2023.
The amount of interest payable to each Bondholder at the payment date is calculated as the product of the nominal
value of the placed Bonds owned by the respective Bondholder and the semi-annual coupon rate (the Coupon rate
divided by two).
Coupon payment for the last coupon period is made simultaneously with the payment of the principal debt on the
Bonds.
Coupon payment will be carried out by transferring money to the participant’s settlement account at AIX CSD of the
Bondholders, who have the right to receive the specified payment and have been registered as the Bondholders by AIX
Registrar and AIX CSD as of close of business on the Register closing date. In case of nominee holding interest and
principal debt could be paid only to the account provided by Bondholder’s broker or custodian acting as a nominal
holder of securities.
4.2 Redemption of the Bonds
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The Bonds will be redeemed within 7 (seven) calendar days from the Maturity Date, starting November 24, 2023 to
November 30, 2023 (inclusive).
Payments on the redemption of the principal debt on the Bonds are made simultaneously with the coupon payment on
the last coupon period.
Redemption of the principal debt will be carried out by transferring money to the participant’s settlement account at
AIX CSD of the Bondholders, who have the right to receive the specified payment and have been registered as the
Bondholders by AIX Registrar and AIX CSD as of close of business on the Register closing date. In case of nominee
holding interest and principal debt could be paid only to the account provided by Bondholder’s broker or custodian
acting as a nominal holder of securities.
4.3 Penalty
The Issuer shall pay a penalty to the Bondholders for each day, that follows “Interest payment expiry date” shown in
paragraph 3.2, on which any amount payable under the Bonds remains due and unpaid (the “Unpaid Amount”), at the
rate equal to the Coupon Rate. The amount of penalty payable per any Unpaid Amount in respect of any Bonds shall
be equal to the product of the Coupon Rate, the Unpaid Amount and the number of calendar days on which any such
Unpaid Amount remains due and unpaid divided by amount of actual days within the period of 12 months when Bonds
are in circulation, rounding the resultant figure to the nearest cent, half of any such cent being rounded upwards.
4.4 Covenants
During the period of circulation of the Bonds, established by current Prospectus, the Issuer must comply with the
following conditions:
1) prevent the facts of non-fulfillment of obligations not related to the Issue of bonds of the Issuer by more than ten
percent of the total value of the assets of this Issuer as of the date of state registration of the issue of bonds;
2) not to make changes to the constituent documents of the Issuer, providing for changes in the main types of activities
of the Issuer;
3) not to change the legal form;
4) The Issuer shall comply with all obligations applicable to it due the Bonds being listed on the Official List of the
AIX and whose breach is reasonably likely to cause delisting of the Bonds from the Official List of the AIX.
In case of violation by the Issuer of the conditions stipulated by this clause, the Issuer is obliged to redeem the bonds
at the request of the Bondholders at a price corresponding to the par value of the Bonds, taking into account the
accumulated interest.
4.5 Events of Default
If any one or more of the below events (each an “Event of Default”) shall occur, the Bondholder may give written
notice to the Issuer at its registered office that such Bonds are immediately repurchased, at its principal amount together
with accrued interest (if any) to the date of payment.

(a) Breach of other obligations (Covenants): the Issuer is in default in the performance, or is otherwise in
breach, of any covenant, obligation, undertaking or other agreement under the Bonds and such default or
breach is not remedied within 30 calendar days after notice thereof has been given to the Issuer, as the case
may be, by the Bondholders. So long as the Bonds remain outstanding, other obligations include:
(i) The Issuer will not (i) declare, make or pay any dividend in respect of the Issuer’s authorized
capital, or (ii) pay any management, advisory or other fee to or to the order of the Participant,
or (iii) directly or indirectly voluntarily purchase, redeem or otherwise retire for value of
authorized capital of the Issuer (any such action in (i), (ii) or (iii) being, a “Restricted Payment”)
at any time when an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom;
(ii) the Issuer will maintain the listing of the Bonds in the Official List;
(iii) the Issuer will not initiate a termination of the activity;
(iv) the Issuer shall pay any penalty due to any Bondholder in accordance with Condition “Penalty”
above.
(b) Bankruptcy:
(i)

any Person shall have instituted a proceeding or entered a decree or order for the appointment
of a receiver, administrator or liquidator in any insolvency, rehabilitation, readjustment of debt,
marshalling of assets and liabilities, moratorium of payments or similar arrangements involving
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the Issuer or all or substantially all of its respective properties and such proceeding, decree or
order shall not have been vacated or shall have remained in force undischarged or unstayed for
a period of 45 days; or
(ii) the Issuer shall institute proceedings under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other
similar law now or hereafter in effect to be adjudicated a bankrupt or shall consent to the filing
of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding against it or shall file a petition or answer or
consent seeking reorganization under any such law or shall consent to the filing of any such
petition, or shall consent to the appointment of a receiver, administrator or liquidator or trustee
or assignee in bankruptcy or liquidation of the Issuer, as the case may be, or in respect of its
property, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors or shall otherwise be unable
or admit its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due
(c) Material compliance with applicable laws: the Issuer fails to comply in any respect with any applicable
laws or regulations (including any foreign exchange rules or regulations) of any governmental or other
regulatory authority for any purpose to enable the Issuer lawfully to exercise its rights or perform or comply
with its obligations under the Bonds or to ensure that those obligations are legally binding and enforceable
or to ensure that all necessary agreements or other documents are entered into and that all necessary consents
and approvals of, and registrations and filings with, any such authority in connection therewith are obtained
and maintained in full force.
(d) Invalidity or Unenforceability:
(i) the validity of the Bonds is contested by the Issuer or the Issuer shall deny any of its obligations
under the Bonds (whether by a general suspension of payments or a moratorium on the payment
of debt or otherwise) or
(ii) it is or becomes unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with all or any of its obligations
set out in the Bonds or
(iii) all or any of the Issuer’s obligations set out in the Bonds, shall be or become unenforceable or
invalid.
(e) Government Intervention:
(i) all or any substantial part of the undertaking, assets and revenue of the Issuer is condemned,
seized or otherwise appropriated by any Person acting under the authority of any national,
regional or local government or
(ii) the Issuer is prevented by any such Person from exercising normal control over all or any
substantial part of its undertaking, assets, revenue.
4.6 Guarantee Trigger Event
Guarantee Trigger Event has been satisfied if the Issuer failed to make payment on any of the following:
(a) the principal debt on the Bonds on their redemption;
(b) the coupon payment in the terms stipulated by Prospectus and/or Offer Terms;
(c) penalties accrued in favour of the Bondholders in accordance with Condition “Penalty” above and/or Offer
Terms and payable in connection with the late performance of the Issuer’s liabilities on payment of the
principal debt on the Bonds on their redemption and/ or coupon payment.
(i) The actions of the Issuer:
1) In case of upcoming default, on any date before the Guarantee Trigger Event, the Issuer must notify the
Guarantor about it in order the Guarantor could provide payments for Bondholders within period of time
for such payments stipulated in this Prospectus and/or Offer Terms instead of the Issuer.
2) Upon the occurrence of the Guarantee Trigger Event, the Issuer notifies the Guarantor about it under this
Guarantee Agreement. The Guarantor then transfers the required funds to fulfill its obligations under this
Guarantee Agreement to the Issuer’s account in second-tier bank
3) The Issuer publishes information regarding the dates of payment on its corporate website
4) The funds received from the Guarantor under previous clause must be converted into Kazakhstani tenge.
5) The Issuer must use the funds received from the Guarantor only to pay off its obligations under Bonds
issue to Bondholders.
(ii) The actions of the Guarantor:
1) Prior of Guarantee Trigger Event, upon receipt of notification from the Issuer of a possible default, the
Guarantor shall do everything possible to prevent a default from occurring.
2) Upon the occurrence of the Guarantee Trigger Event, the Guarantor receives a notification from the Issuer
about it under this Guarantee.
3) The Guarantor then transfers the required funds to fulfill its obligations under this Guarantee to the
Issuer’s account in second-tier bank
(iii) The actions of the Bondholder:
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1) Upon the occurrence of the Guarantee Trigger Event, the Bondholder sends a notice about it to the Issuer
in compliance with clause “Notices” of the Prospectus; to his broker and/ or AIX;
2) The Bondholder shall then follow the notifications on the official website of the Issuer re payments;

4.7 Meetings of Bondholders
The Issuer may from time to time call meetings of Bondholders for the purpose of consultation with Bondholders or
for the purpose of obtaining the consent of Bondholders on matters which in terms of this Prospectus require the
approval of a Bondholders’ meeting.
A meeting of the Bondholders shall be called by the General Director by giving all Bondholders listed on the register
of the Bondholders and the Representative of the Bondholders as at a date being not more than 15 days preceding the
date scheduled for the meeting, not less than 7 days’ notice via e-mails and corporate web-site and via Regulatory
Announcement Service. Such notice shall set out the time, place and date set for the meeting and the matters to be
discussed or decided thereat, including, if applicable, sufficient information on any amendment of the terms of the
Bonds that is proposed to be voted upon at the meeting and seeking the approval of the Bondholders. Following a
meeting of the Bondholders held in accordance with the provisions contained hereunder, the Issuer shall, acting in
accordance with the resolution(s) taken at the meeting, communicate to the Bondholders whether the necessary consent
to the proposal made by the Issuer has been granted or withheld. Subject to having obtained the necessary approval by
the Bondholders in accordance with the provisions of this section at a meeting called for that purpose as aforesaid, any
such decision shall subsequently be given effect to by the Issuer.
The amendment or waiver of any of the provisions of and/ or conditions contained in this Securities Note, or in any
other part of the Prospectus related to the terms of the Bonds, may only be made with the approval of the General
Director of Issuer and of the Bondholders at a meeting called and held for that purpose in accordance with the terms
hereof.
A meeting of the Bondholders must be held in absentia. By the date stated in notification about Bondholders’ meeting
Bondholders vote by sending an absentee ballot on the issue. Absentee ballots, representing not less than 50% of the
principal debt on the Bonds then outstanding, shall constitute a quorum. If there is no quorum by the time scheduled
for the commencement of the meeting in absentia as indicated on the notice convening same, the meeting shall be
rescheduled for another date. The Issuer shall within 2 days from the date of the original meeting publish by way of a
company announcement the date, time, agenda (agenda shall include only the matters specified in the notice calling the
original meeting) and place where the adjourned meeting is to be held. An adjourned meeting shall be held in absentia
not earlier than 5 days, and not later than 10 days, following the original meeting. Absentee ballots, representing not
less than 40% of the principal debt on the Bonds then outstanding, shall constitute a quorum at an adjourned meeting.
Once a quorum is declared present by the chairman of the meeting, who is appointed by members of the Issuer’s staff
who present on the meeting, the meeting may then proceed to counting votes given in absentee ballots.
The proposal placed before a meeting of Bondholders shall only be considered approved if the Bondholders,
representing at least 40% of the principal debt on the Bonds then outstanding, submitted their absentee ballots at the
time when the vote is being counted and shall have voted in favour of the proposal.
If the proposal placed before a meeting of Bondholders relate to any of the items indicated below, in this case an
Extraordinary Resolution is required:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

interest rate, methods of payment on the Bonds;
the conditions and procedure redemption, repurchasing of the Bonds;
Events of Default, covenants;
the Bonds;
Rights of the Bondholders.

4.8 Notices
To the Bondholders
All notices to the Bondholders shall be deemed to have been duly given if, so long as the Bonds are in the Official List
and so long as the rules of the AIX so require, by publication (i) via AIX Regulatory Announcement Service at
www.aix.kz or (ii) otherwise in accordance with the regulations of the AIX. If the Bonds are excluded from the Official
List, any notice shall be sent to the Bondholders by e-mail (or its equivalent) at their respective addresses on the register.
To the Issuer
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Notices to the Issuer will be deemed to be validly given if delivered to the Issuer at office Mv5, 8 floor, building 77/7,
Al-Farabi ave., Bostandyk District, Almaty, A15E3H4, Republic of Kazakhstan and will be deemed to have been
validly given when delivered.
Notices to the Guarantor will be deemed to be validly given if delivered to the Guarantor at Republic of Turkiye, 34394
Sisli, Istanbul, Esentepe Mahallesi Ali Kaya Sk. No. 3/22 and will be deemed to have been validly given when
delivered.
4.9 Terms and conditions of the Bond’s repurchase
(1) repurchase of the Bonds at the option of the Issuer
The Issuer is obliged to announce the repurchase of Bonds in the organised or unorganised markets within the
circulation time.
Bonds repurchase price determined by the Issuer:
−
the implementation of foreclosures on the organized securities market - at a price, established as a result of
trading on the AIX on the date of repurchase;
−
upon repurchase in an unorganized market - at a price agreed by the Issuer and the Bonds holder planning to
sell the Bonds owned by him upon repurchasing by the Issuer.
The Issuer is obliged to inform the Bondholders about the repurchase by posting the appropriate information message
via AIX Regulatory Announcement Service. Published information should contain the following information:
−
the number of repurchasing Bonds;
−
the date of repurchase of the Bonds;
−
method of repurchasing of the Bonds including market (organized or unorganized);
−
method of submitting applications by the Bondholders who wish to sell their Bonds to the Issuer.
−
Repurchase of the placed Bonds by the Issuer is carried out on the day determined in the Issuer’s announcement.
Bonds repurchase in organized and/ or unorganized markets will not be deemed redeemed and the Issuer is entitled to
sell back its repurchased Bonds in organized and unorganized securities markets during the entire term of their
circulation.
(2) Early redemption of the Bonds in case of the Event of Default
The Issuer, within 3 (three) Business Days following the day of any of the Events of Default, is obliged to inform the
Bondholders about this Event of Default with a detailed description of the reasons for the announcement of the Event
of Default. Bringing this information to the notice of the Bondholders is carried out by posting the corresponding
information via AIX Regulatory Announcement Service.
The Bondholders have the right to submit to the Issuer, and the Issuer is obliged to accept written claims for the
redemption of their Bonds indicating the number of Bonds declared for redemption within 7 (seven) calendar days
following the first publication of information about the violation by the Issuer of any of the covenants.
The Participant must make relevant corporate decisions and take necessary actions to execute received claims within
30 (thirty) calendar days following the last day of the period of acceptance of the written redemption claims in the event
that at least one written claim for the redemption of the Bonds is received.
The Issuer is obliged at the request of the Bondholders to redeem the Bonds at the highest of the following prices:
−

the price corresponding to the nominal value of the Bonds, taking into account the accumulated interest;

−

fair market price of the Bonds.

Bondholders who have not submitted a claim for redemption are entitled to redeem their Bonds at the end of their
circulation period specified in this Prospectus.
4.10 Taxation
The following is a general description of certain material tax considerations relating to the Bonds. This summary is
based upon the laws, regulations, decrees, rulings, income tax conventions (treaties), published administrative practice
and judicial decisions in effect at the date hereof. Legislative, judicial or administrative changes or interpretations may,
however, be forthcoming that could alter or modify the statements and conclusions set out herein. Any such changes
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or interpretations may be retroactive and could affect the tax consequences of ownership of the Bonds by Bondholders.
This summary does not purport to be a legal opinion or contain a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to
the Bonds. Prospective investors in the Bonds should consult their tax advisers as to which countries’ tax laws could
be relevant to their acquiring, holding and disposing of the Bonds and receiving payments of interest, principal and/ or
other amounts under the Bonds and the consequences of such actions under the tax laws of those countries.
The information and analysis contained within this section are limited to taxation issues, and prospective investors
should not apply any information or analysis set out below to other areas, including (but not limited to) the legality of
transactions involving the Bonds.
Also, prospective investors should note that an appointment by an investor in the Bonds, or any Person (as defined in
the Conditions) through which an investor holds Bonds, of a custodian, collection agent or similar person in relation to
such Bonds in any jurisdiction may have tax implications. Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisers
in relation to the tax consequences for them of any such appointment.
Republic of Kazakhstan Taxation
The following is a general summary of Kazakhstan tax consequences as at the date hereof in relation to payments of
interest made under the Bonds and in relation to the sale or transfer of the Bonds. It is not exhaustive, and purchasers
are urged to consult their professional advisers as to the tax consequences to them of holding or transferring Bonds.
Interest
Payment of interest on the Bonds to residents of Kazakhstan or to non-residents who either have a registered branch or
representative office in Kazakhstan or maintain a permanent establishment in Kazakhstan (together, “Kazakhstan
Holders”), other than to individuals (who are exempt) and Kazakhstan investment funds and certain other entities, will
be subject to Kazakhstan withholding tax according to Tax Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
The withholding tax on interest mentioned above would not apply if the Bonds are included, as at the date of accrual
of interest, in the official list of Astana International Exchange. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Bonds Delisting of the Bonds from the official list of the Astana International Exchange may subject interest payments on the
Bonds to tax in the Republic of Kazakhstan”.
Gains
Any gains realized by Kazakhstan Holders in relation to the Bonds which are included, as at the date of sale, in the
official list of Astana International Exchange and sold through open trades on Astana International Exchange are not
subject to Kazakhstan income tax. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Bonds - Delisting of the Bonds from the
official list of the Astana International Exchange may subject interest payments on the Bonds to tax in the Republic of
Kazakhstan”.
THE DISCUSSION ABOVE IS A GENERAL SUMMARY. IT DOES NOT COVER ALL TAX MATTERS THAT MAY BE OF
IMPORTANCE TO A PARTICULAR PURCHASER. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR IS URGED TO CONSULT ITS OWN
TAX ADVISER ABOUT THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO IT OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE BONDS IN LIGHT OF THE
PURCHASER’S OWN CIRCUMSTANCES.
4.11 Other information
Audit and source of information including use of expert reports
Audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 prepared by the Issuer’s auditor GoodWill Audit
LLP and unaudited financial statements of the Issuer for 9 months of 2022, ended 30 September 2022;
Audited combined financial statements of the Guarantor – Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş. for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 prepared by the Guarantor’s auditor PwC Bagumsiz Denetim
ve Serbest Muhasebeci Mali Musavirlik A.S. and unaudited financial statements of the Guarantor for 6 months of 2022,
ended 30 June 2022.
Responsibility for the preparation of the audited financial statements, as well as for ensuring the internal control system
necessary for the preparation of financial statements that do not contain material misstatements, rests with the Issuer’s
management.
Financial statements of “NEF&RAM” LLP for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 are prepared
by the “NEF&RAM” LLP and are not audited.
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5.

ADMISSION TO TRADING
5.1 Key dates of admission for trading

The actual dates for:
Admission to the Official List – November 24, 2022
Admission to trading on AIX – November 29, 2022
Trading of Bonds under “public” Admission type commenced on the date November 29, 2022
5.2 Estimation of the total expenses related to the admission to trading
All fees associated with admission of the Bonds to the Official List, to trading on the AIX, third-parties services, and
fees to the financial adviser are expected to be no more than 2% of the total amount of the issue. The Issuer will not
charge investors any commissions. The investor must independently (or together with his/ her consultant or broker)
evaluate the commission costs that the investor will incur due to buying the Bonds.
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GLOSSARY OF FREQUENTLY USED DEFINED TERMS
“Admission”

has the meaning given to it on the title page of this Prospectus.

“AIFC”

means Astana International Financial Centre.

“AIX”

means Astana International Exchange Limited.

“AIX CSD”

means Astana International Exchange Central Securities Depository
Limited.

“AIX Registrar”

means Astana International Exchange Registrar Limited.

“Bondholder”

means a holder of the Bond.

“Bonds” or “Securities”

means the bonds issued by the Issuer pursuant to this Prospectus.

“Business Day”

means a day on which banks and exchange markets are open for business
in Astana and Almaty.

“Charter”

means the charter of the Issuer approved by the decision of the Sole
Participant on 1 October 2021 (as amended from time to time).

“Earnings coverage ratio”

equals to consolidated net income applicable to common shareholders
divided by short-term liabilities.

“Event of Default”

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.5 (Events of Default) of the
Securities Note.

“Financial Advisor”

“Jusan Invest” JSC as financial advisor to the Issuer.

“Government”

means the Government of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

“Group”

means Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş., a joint stock
company incorporated in Turkiye, and its subsidiaries and other entities,
which are not legally related, but operate under common brand “NEF”

“Guarantee”

means the obligations under the guarantee agreement as set out in Schedule
3 hereto.

“Guaranteed liabilities”

Issuer’s liabilities on payment of the principal debt on the Bonds on their
redemption and/ or coupon payment

“IFRS”

means International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

“Issue Date”

means the date of issue of relevant Bonds.

“Issuer”

“NEF Qazaqstan.” LLP

“KASE”

means JSC “Kazakhstan Stock Exchange”.

“Kazakhstan”

means the Republic of Kazakhstan.

“KZT” or “Tenge”

means Kazakh Tenge, lawful currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

“Maturity Date”

means the date on which relevant Bonds mature which is November 23, 2023.

“NBK”

means the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

“Person”

means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture,
association, organization, state or agency of a state or other legal entity, whether or
not having separate legal personality.

“Prospectus”

means this prospectus

“Representative”

means a legal entity or a natural person appointed by the Bondholders to represent
their rights
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SCHEDULE 2
FORM OF OFFER TERMS
Set out below is the form of Offer Terms of the Bonds issued.
NEF QAZAQSTAN LIMITED LIABILITY PARTNERSHIP OFFER TERMS
OF THE KZT 6,000,000,000 BONDS DUE NOVEMBER 23, 2023 (ISIN: KZX000001185)
The Bonds will be constituted by and have the benefit of a KZT 6,000,000,000 12-months coupon bond issuance
established by NEF Qazaqstan Limited Liability Partnership (the “Issuer”). The Bonds have been issued in accordance
with the Acting Law of the Astana International Financial Centre (the “AIFC”) (the “Bonds”). Terms used herein shall
be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the conditions set forth in the Prospectus dated November 22, 2022
(the “Prospectus”). This document constitutes the final Offer Terms of the Bonds (the “Offer Terms”) described herein.
This document is prepared for the purposes of the AIFC rules and must be read in conjunction with the Prospectus. Full
information on the Issuer and the offer of the Bonds is only available on the basis of the combination of these Offer Terms
and the Prospectus. The Offer Terms and the Prospectus have been published on the website of the Astana International
Exchange (hereinafter the “AIX”) at https://www.aix.kz and the Issuer’s website https://nefuptown.kz .
The AIX and its related companies and their respective directors, officers and employees do not accept responsibility
for the content of the information included in this document including the accuracy or completeness of any
information or statements included in it. Liability for this document lies with the issuer of this document and other
persons such as Experts whose opinions are included in this document with their consent. Nor has the AIX, its
directors, officers or employees assessed the suitability of the securities to which this document relates for any
particular investor or type of investor. If you do not understand the contents of this document or are unsure whether
the securities are suitable for your individual investment objectives and circumstances, you should consult an
authorised financial advisor.
Terms defined in the Prospectus have the same meanings in these Offer Terms unless they are expressly defined herein.
Issuer

NEF Qazaqstan Limited Liability Partnership

Guarantor

Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapi ve Yatirim A.Ş.

Type and name

Public offering for coupon bonds of NEF Qazaqstan Limited Liability Partnership

ISIN

KZX000001185

Specified
currency

KZT

Denomination

KZT 1,000

Total nominal
amount of Bonds

KZT 6,000,000,000 (six billion)

Issue date

November 23, 2022

Maturity date

November 23, 2023

The offer period
opening date

November 23, 2022

The offer period
closing date

November 23, 2022

Settlement date

November 25, 2022

Estimated net
amount of
proceeds

Not less than KZT 5,880,000,000

Use of proceeds

The proceeds from the issuance of the Bonds will be used for general corporate purposes,
including the financing of the Issuer’s projects and financing of 2nd stage of NEF Uptown
residential complex after acquisition of a 50% stake in “NEF&RAM LLP:
Maximum amount for construction works (2nd stage of NEF Uptown residential complex): KZT
5,235 mln;

−
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−
−

Coupon rate

overhead costs: KZT 320 mln;
transport and machinery services: KZT 315 mln.
Anticipated proceeds will be sufficient to fund all the proposed uses, no additional funds will be
required. The Issuer is planning to use proceeds from the issue in the ordinary course of business,
with no intention to acquire assets other than in the ordinary course of business, to finance
announced acquisitions of other businesses, or to discharge, reduce or retire indebtedness of the
Issuer
20% per annum

Offer price
Potential
investors
Financial Advisor
Clearing systems

100% of the par value at the Issue Date
The Bonds will be publicly offered to a wide range of investors in Kazakhstan in compliance with
the applicable laws of the AIFC and the AIX rules
Jusan Invest JSC
AIX CSD
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TIMUR GAYRIMENKUL GELISTIRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONIM SIRKETI
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATUTORY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
30 JUNE 2022 AND 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equavalent
Trade Receivables
Other Receivables
Inventory
Prepayments
Other Current Assets
Non-Current Asset
Trade Receivables
Financial Asset
Tangible Asset
Investment Properties
Intangible Asset
Prepayments
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Trade Payables
Other Payables
Deferred Income
Other Current Liabilities
Non-Current Assets
Financial Liabilities
Trade Payables
Other Payables
Deferred Income
Other Current Liabilities
Equity
Capital
Reserves
Capital Contributions from shareholders
Retained Earning
Actuarial Loss arising from employee benefits
Restricted Reserves allocated from profit
Net Profit of the year
NonControlling Interest
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Notes

1

2

3

3

4

1

Cons. Statutory
30.06.2022
21.622.093.712
10.962.828.698
430.075.351
1.503.922.982
199.163.255
7.261.881.499
1.329.794.531
237.991.080
10.659.265.014
39.624.812
765
53.528.448
10.391.120.180
21.761.262
153.229.548
10.186.093.904
4.185.965.064
308.618.330
1.315.166.854
314.362.322
1.967.529.006
280.288.554
6.000.128.839
1.557.212.381
213.810.575
266.142.506
1.887.892.721
2.075.070.657
11.435.999.808
459.000.175
-45.770.246
4.143.347.974
2.185.737.230
-1.688.358
720.323
3.126.727.226
1.567.925.485
21.622.093.712

IFRS
31.12.2021
10.844.327.094
5.238.599.701
179.999.562
1.316.622.395
191.840.821
2.761.809.721
475.174.147
313.153.055
5.605.727.393
205.018.515
765
53.528.448
4.988.500.801
22.868.127
335.810.737
7.546.635.540
3.536.529.618
353.446.148
728.749.817
300.765.345
1.915.943.935
237.624.373
4.010.105.922
1.593.070.329
22.848.418
300.765.145
1.291.392.036
802.029.994
3.297.691.554
459.000.175
-45.770.246
557.503.328
-334.639.450
-1.688.358
720.323
1.662.492.095
1.000.073.687
10.844.327.094

TIMUR GAYRIMENKUL GELISTIRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONIM SIRKETI
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATUTORY STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR 30
JUNE 2022 AND 2021

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue
CoS (-)
Gros Profit
Oprerational Expenses
Other Operational Income/Expenses
EBIT
Financial Expenses
Extraordinary Income/Expenses
EBT
Tax
Profit

5

*31.12.2021 tax is based on IFRS calculation

2

Cons. Statutory
30.06.2022
583.401.029
-505.621.464
77.779.566
-168.646.872
4.863.624.122
4.772.756.816
-71.583.609
-6.520.496
4.694.652.711
0
4.694.652.711

IFRS
30.06.2021
222.308.177
-146.104.489
76.203.688
-52.447.039
147.235.683
170.992.332
-69.322.799
-27.584
101.641.949
-12.280.813
89.361.136

TIMUR GAYRIMENKUL GELISTIRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONIM SIRKETI
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATUTORY DIRECT CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
30 JUNE 2022
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated)

Cash Flow TL
(+) Collection
(+) VAT Recovery
Total Cash-in
(-)
(-)
(-)
(-)
(-)
(+/-)

Payment to Landlords
Construction Payments
General Administrative Expenses
Refund Payment to Customers
Tax Payment to Authorities
Other Payments
Total Cash-out From Operating Activities

as of June.22
as of June.21
1,009,580,241
404,860,570
6,973,842
40,366,424
1,016,554,083
445,226,993
(51,836,971)
(413,409,442)
(241,485,075)
(44,814,110)
(16,809,577)
837,742
(767,517,433)

(76,287,601)
(299,690,640)
(58,618,954)
(8,399,256)
(4,162,478)
(226,332)
(447,385,261)

(+/-) Bank Fees, Interest received and Other Financial Payments (1,749)
(-) Loan payments (including interest)
(120,686,080)
Total Cash-out From Financial Activities
(120,687,830)

(2,317,919)
(103,380,287)
(105,698,205)

(+/-) Cash in/out from Shareholders (Erden Timur)
Total Cash in/out From Investing Activities
Cash in the Beginning of the year
Cash at the end of the year

121,726,969
121,726,969

109,323,169
109,323,169

179,999,562
430,075,351

31,482,388
32,949,084

TIMUR GAYRIMENKUL GELISTIRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONIM SIRKETI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATUTORY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR 30 JUNE 2022 AND 2021

1 Jan 2021
Profit of the year
Other Contributions from Shareholders
Other Comprehensive income
Transactions with non-controlling interests
Transfers
30 June 2021
1 Jan 2022
Profit of the year
Other Contributions from Shareholders
Other Comprehensive income
Transfers
30 June 2022

Actuarial Loss
arising from
employee
Paid Capital
benefits
459.000.175
465.374

Foreign
Restricted
Currency
reserves
Translation allocated from
Difference
profits
157.604.048
720.323

Capital
Effects of
Contributions
transaction
from under common
shareholders
control
-45.770.246

Retained
Earnings
-37.322.571

Profit for the
year
-285.698.084

28.802.648
-638.074

-157.604.048

459.000.175

-172.700

0

720.323

28.802.648

-45.770.246

-285.698.084
-323.020.655

285.698.084
153.743.978

459.000.175

-1.688.358

0

720.323

557.503.328

-45.770.246

-334.639.450

1.662.492.095

2.520.376.680

1.464.235.131

2.185.737.230

3.126.727.226

153.743.978

3.585.844.646

459.000.175

-1.688.358

0

720.323

3

4.143.347.974

-45.770.246

Equity
Attribute to
Owners of the
Company
249.099.019
0
28.802.648
-4.498.144
0
0
273.403.523
2.297.617.867
0
3.585.844.646
3.984.611.810
0
9.868.074.323

NonControlling
Interest
-17.204.410

-14.382.842

-31.587.252
1.000.073.687

567.851.798
1.567.925.485

Total Equity
-231.894.609
0
28.802.648
-18.880.986
0
0
-221.972.947
241816271
3.297.691.554
0
3.585.844.646
4.552.463.609
0
11.435.999.809

TIMUR GAYRIMENKUL GELISTIRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONIM SIRKETI
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GROUP ORGANIZATION
Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi (“Timur Gayrimenkul” or “the Company”) was
established as Şen Timur Gümrükleme ve Dış Ticaret Limited Şirketi in 1992 in Turkey to operate in custom
brokerages and agency services. As at 12 April 2007, the Company changed its operation and name as “Timur
Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi. Main operations of the Company are purchases, sales,
and developments of real estates to operate in construction sector in Turkey and abroad. The Company address is
Esentepe Mh. Ali Kaya Sk. Apa Nef Plaza No:3 Kat:5-6 34393 Levent, Istanbul, Turkey.
As of 30 June 2022 the number of the employees of the Group is 410 (2021: 410).
Consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” and individually “Group company”), and Group’s shares in its associates as
of and for the year ended 31 December 2021.
30 June 2022

31 December 2021

Principal
Activity

Place of
incorporation
and activity

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Real estate development and tourism

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

TT Gayrimenkul ve
Ticaret A.Ş. (“TT Gayrimenkul”) Real estate development

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

Timur Şehircilik ve
Planlama A.Ş. (“Timur Şehircilik”) Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Sirius Gayrimenkul
ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sirius”)

Real estate development

Turkey

51.00

100.00

51.00

51.00

Gayrimenkul ve Tic.
A.Ş. (“Timur Beykoz 5”)

Real estate development

Turkey

80.00

100.00

80.00

80.00

Yapı ve Yatırım A.Ş.
(“Nef Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

25.00

100.00

25.00

25.00

Turizm ve Ticaret A.Ş.
(“Base”)

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

BT Bahçelievler
Gayrimenkul ve Tic.
A.Ş. (“BT
Bahçelievler”)

Real estate development

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

Tic. A.Ş.
(“TMR Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

96.00

100.00

96.00

96.00

Name of Subsidiary
Bebek Turizm ve
İnşaat Ticaret A.Ş.
(“Bebek Turizm”)
Ganj Yapı İnşaat A.Ş.
(“Ganj Yapı”)
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Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

30 June 2022

31 December 2021

Principal
Activity

Place of
incorporation
and activity

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Sadabad Kağıthane İnşaat ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“Sadabad Kağıthane”)
Real estate development

Türkiye

71.43

100.00

71.43

100.00

Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi
(“Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Nef Aslanyapı Adi
Ortaklığı (“Nef
Aslanyapı”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

70.00

70.00

70.00

70.00

Optimum Yaşam
Merkezi İnş. Ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“Optimum”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

55.00

55.00

55.00

55.00

Name of Subsidiary

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Bebek Turizm
In 2014, The Company acquired 100 percentage of the shares and voting interests in Bebek Turizm for
TRY68,176,777 with the intention of developing projects on the land and commercial properties which
have been leased by Bebek Turizm from T.C. Başbakanlık Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü.
Ganj Yapı
In 2015, The Company has acquired 100 percentage of the shares and voting interests in Ganj Yapı for
TRY12,500, which was established in 2013 in Istanbul with the intention of developing construction
projects, buying and selling of real estates.
TT Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul in 2015 to operate in construction sector through
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates.
Timur Şehircilik
In 2016, The Company acquired 100 percentage shares of Timur Şehircilik for a consideration of
TRY5,000,000 which was established in Istanbul in 2012 with the intention of developing construction
projects, buying and selling of real estates.
Timur Beykoz 5
Timur Beykoz 5 was established in Istanbul on 10 May 2016 to develop construction and contracting
projects and to purchase, construct and sell real estate.
Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Ticaret A.Ş.
Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı, was established in Istanbul on 19 December 2017 with the the intention of
developing student dorms, aparts etc. domestically and abroad, and developing construction of all kinds.
Nef EBRD, owns 100 percentage of Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı.
Nef Gayrimenkul
On 18 February 2016, Timur Gayrimenkul acquired 25 percentage of the shares and voting interests of
the company that was founded as Nef Gayrimenkul Yönetim Hizme”eri ve Danışmanlığı Limited Şirketi
in 2011 from Timur Holding and following the acquisition on 22 April 2016 the trade name of newly
acquired company has changed to Nef Gayrimenkul Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi.
Base
Base Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul in 2007 to invest in the tourism and real estate sectors.
With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 29 March 2016, shares of the Company corresponding
to the capital of TRY500,000 were transferred to TMR Gayrimenkul for the consideration of
USD30,000,000.
BT Bahçelievler
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BT Bahçelievler was established in Istanbul on 10 May 2016 with the intention of developing
construction and buying and selling of real estates.
TMR Gayrimenkul
TMR Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul on 11 February 2016 to operate in construction sector
through developing, selling and purchasing of real estates. The Company acquired 100 percent shares
of Base Gayrimenkul Turizm ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi (“Base Gayrimenkul”) on 30 March 2016.
Sadabad Kağıthane
In 2016, the Company acquired 71.43 percentage shares of Sadabad Kağıthane for a consideration of
TRY6,200,000 which was established in Istanbul with the intention of developing construction projects,
buying and selling of real estates.
Nef Aslanyapı
Nef Aslanyapı was established in Istanbul on 4 January 2017 with the intention of developing
construction and share the revenue on the land registered to the name of Termal Grup Turizm ve
Otelcilik San. Tic. A.Ş.
Optimum
The Company acquired 55% share of Optimum, which was established in Istanbul in 2013, in order to
develop construction and contracting projects and to realize the purchase, construction and sale of real
estate.
Sirius
The Company acquired 51% share of Sirius, in order to develop construction and contracting projects
and to realize the purchase, construction and sale of real estate.
Optimum (Continued)
The details of the Company’s associates as at 30 June 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
30 June 2022

31 December 2021

Principal
activity

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Timur KarlıtepeGayrimenkul
ve Yatırımları A.Ş.
(“HT Karlıtepe”)

Real estate development

Turkey

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

HT Gayrimenkul
Yatırım ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“HT Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

Nef EBRD Gayrimenkul
Geliştirme A.Ş.
(“Nef EBRD”)

Real estate development

Turkey

65.00

65.00

65.00

65.00

Name of Joint Venture

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Timur Karlıtepe was established in 2014 in Istanbul to operate in construction sector through developing,
selling and purchasing of real estates.
On 26 December 2014, HT Gayrimenkul was established the name of H30 Solar Enerji Üretim Sanayi
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi and upon acquisition the name of H30 Solar Enerji Üretim Sanayi ve Ticaret
Anonim Şirketi has been changed to HT Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi with the resolution of
General assembly dated 1 April 2015. Timur Gayrimenkul has acquired 50 percentage of the shares for
TRY25,000 on 13 February 2015.
Nef EBRD, was established in Istanbul on 15 March 2017 to operate in construction sector by
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates.
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1. INVENTORY
The owner of the company, Erden Timur, contributed to the group (non-refundable) with lands on
30.06.2022 valued 3.450.000.000.

Inventory

Nef Kandilli
Nef City 82
Nef Balıkesir
Yalıkavak
Bahçelievler
Nef Çekmeköy
Nef İnistanbul
Nef Nakkaştepe
Nef Sancaktepe
Nef 22 Ataköy
Nef 09 Dörtlevent
Nef Beykoz
Gölköy
Nef 08 Points
Nef 98 Points
Nef 04 Points
Nef 05 Kağıthane
Nef 14 Kağıthane
Nef 39 Seyrantepe
Nef 36 Basınekspres
Diğer
Nef Ortayaka
Nef Ilgaz
Nef Çanakkale Çan
Çanakkale Ayvacık*
Balıkesir Susurluk*
Çanakkale Biga*
Çanakkale Ezine*
Sakarya*
Beynam*
Nef Sapanca
Nef Eskişehir
Total

30 June 31 December
2022
2021
309.006.694
273.552.771
398.937.112
544.032.483
699.672.534
133.359.295
8.735.054
137.448.144
29.754.765
55.540.018
1.965.235
38.694.422
479.962.176
13.146.971
11.606.166
7.954.996
12.751.613
463.487
256.208.736
201.109.986
11.087.290
28.486.254
20.062.298
340.948.130
1.536.643
164.519.397
316.880.283
1.915.332.254
710.783.293
117.826.566
20.516.432

240.928.945
303.004.344
401.710.335
365.215.726
316.725.674
115.028.360
8.602.442
94.894.293
15.526.045
55.217.542
1.965.235
37.934.603
483.589.594
12.120.840
9.301.999
7.954.996
4.849.447
13.275.139
900.000
202.810.882
37.127.831
6.762.895
3.982.244
22.380.310

7.261.881.499 2.761.809.720
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2. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

30.06.2022
5.420.630.180
4.970.490.000
10.391.120.180

31.12.2021
2.621.535.800
2.366.900.000
4.988.435.800

2022
30 June

2021
December

Nef 05 Kağıthane
225.130.500
Sütlüce
318.990.000
İstanbul Maltepe Pafta No:2 Parsel No:73- Arazi
18.207.000
Gölköy II*
3.308.487.000
Konya*
630.000.000
TT Bodrum-2
461.128.500
Sarıyer arsa
8.547.000
Investment Properties-Lands
4.970.490.000
NEF 163
100.674.000
Bodrum Türkbükü Karacaburun 7 Pafta 323 Parsel 350.525.000
TT Bodrum
1.520.841.000
Nef 09 Seyrantepe
125.832.000
Altower 4 adet bağımsız bölüm
15.235.500
Nef 04 Kemerburgaz - 12236 76
9.555.000
Nef 22 Ataköy
96.117.000
Nef Kağıthane 11
2.205.000
Bebeköy projesi
2.194.500.000
Nef 03 - APANEF
1.005.145.680
Investment Properties
5.420.630.180
GRAND TOTAL
10.391.120.180

107.205.000
151.900.000
8.670.000
1.575.470.000
300.000.000
219.585.000
4.070.000
2.366.900.000
47.940.000
207.200.000
724.210.000
59.920.000
7.255.000
4.550.000
45.770.000
1.050.000
1.045.000.000
478.640.800
2.621.535.800
4.988.435.800

Investment Properties
Investment Properties-Lands

*The Lands were contributed to Capital by owner of the Company, Erden Timur, as nonrefundable on 31.12.2021.
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3. DEFERRED INCOME
Deferred Income in total liabilities refers to Group’s net sales from ongoing projects after
delivery of the residential units and sales. Deferred income is not monetary liability. Once
projects/lands are delivered, the amount will be transferred to Revenues in P&L.

Deferred Income
Short Term
Long Term
Total

30.06.2022
31.12.2021
1.967.529.006 1.915.943.935
1.887.892.721 1.291.392.036
3.855.421.726 3.207.335.971

Portion in Total Liabilities %

37,3%

42,5%

4. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION FROM SHAREHOLDERS
The owner of the company, Erden Timur, contributed to the group (non-refundable) with lands on
30.06.2022 valued 3.450.000.000

9

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM
ANONİM ŞİRKETİ AND IT’S SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TOGETHER WITH
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION..........................................

1-2

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS ...................................................

3

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME................

4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY...........................................

5

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS ..........................................................

6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ...................................... 7-72
NOTE 1 GROUP’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
NOTE 2 BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
NOTE 4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ASSESSMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
NOTE 5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NOTE 6 CASH RESERVED FOR PROJECTS
NOTE 7 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
NOTE 8 BORROWINGS
NOTE 9 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
NOTE 10 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
NOTE 11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
NOTE 12 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
NOTE 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
NOTE 14 INVENTORIES
NOTE 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
NOTE 16 PREPAYMENTS AND DEFERRED REVENUES
NOTE 17 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
NOTE 18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
NOTE 19 PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
NOTE 20 COMMITMENTS
NOTE 21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
NOTE 22 OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
NOTE 23 SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS
NOTE 24 REVENUE AND COST OF SALES
NOTE 25 GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE, SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
NOTE 26 EXPENSES BY NATURE
NOTE 27 OTHER OPERATING INCOME / (EXPENSES
NOTE 28 INCOME FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NOTE 29 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
NOTE 30 TAXATION (DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED)
NOTE 31 EARNING PER SHARE
NOTE 32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
NOTE 33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE STATEMENTS AND STATEMENTS AND
STATEMENTS REGARDINGS FINANCIAL RISK PROTECTION ACCOUNTING)
NOTE 34 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

7-10
10-15
15-30
30-31
31
32
32-33
33-36
36-38
39-40
40
40-41
41-43
43-44
44-46
47
48-49
50
51
52-53
54
55
55-56
57
57-58
59
59-60
60
60-61
61-63
63
64-71
71
72

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

ASSETS

Notes

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash reserved for projects
Financial investments
Trade receivables
- Trade receivables from related parties
- Trade receivables from third parties
Other receivables
- Other receivables from related parties
- Other receivables from third parties
Inventories
Prepayments
Current tax assets
Other current assets

5
6
7
9
10
9
12
14
16
22

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial investments
Trade receivables
- Trade receivables from third parties
Inventories
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Prepayments
Deferred tax assets
Investment properties
Other non-current assets

7
10
14
15
17
18
16
30
13
22

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

Audited
31 December 2021

Audited
31 December 2020

171,357,818
8,641,744
240
1,316,622,395
4,333,111
1,312,289,284
290,163,952
98,323,131
191,840,821
2,514,060,480
475,174,147
9,146
30,871,088

20,792,689
10,689,699
240
661,150,525
3,246,758
657,903,767
191,049,135
72,776,238
118,272,897
1,466,976,849
467,410,865
92,116
79,336,630

4,806,901,010

2,897,498,748

525
205,018,515
205,018,515
247,749,241
1,843,189
53,593,449
22,868,127
335,810,737
16,676,550
4,988,435,800
165,429,951

525
48,048,770
48,048,770
677,781,686
1,886,840
340,150,002
207,906,284
571,559,589
28,716,585
1,069,607,897
166,286,330

6,037,426,084

3,111,944,508

10,844,327,094

6,009,443,256

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

LIABILITIES

Notes

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Trade payables
- Trade payables to related parties
- Trade payables to third parties
Payables related to employee benefits
Other payables
- Other payables to related parties
- Other payables to third parties
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Short-term provisions
- Employee benefits
- Other short-term provisions
Other current liabilities

8
8

9
10
11
9
12
16
30
19
19
22

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities
Long term borrowings
Trade payables
- Trade payables to third parties
Other payables
- Other payables to related parties
- Other payables to third parties
Deferred revenue
Long-term provisions
- Employee benefits
Deferred tax liability
Other non-current liabilities

8
10
9
9
16
21
30
22

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company
Paid-in capital
Capital contributions from shareholders
Effect of transactions under common control
Other comprehensive income items that will be
never reclassified to profit or loss
- Actuarial loss arising from employee benefits
Other comprehensive income or expenses that are or may be reclassified
to profit or loss
- Foreign currency translation reserve
Restricted reserves allocated from profits
Accumulated loss
Net profit/(loss) for the year

Audited
31 December 2021

Audited
31 December 2020

75,300,252
277,981,590
164,306
727,295,286
3,775,569
723,519,717
1,454,531
314,626,042
25,099,339
289,526,703
1,915,943,935
875,974
2,206,696
2,145,317
61,379
220,681,006

35,112,879
142,687,105
85,031
488,388,685
2,566,670
485,822,015
896,976
313,855,309
60,926,224
252,929,085
1,655,922,826
699,919
646,574
53,345
1,510,599

3,536,529,618

2,639,159,329

1,593,070,329
22,848,418
22,848,418
300,765,145
190,449,051
110,316,094
1,270,135,522
4,611,220
4,611,220
728,164,708
90,510,580

1,662,048,211
154,376,345
154,376,345
299,544,371
299,544,371
1,012,787,185
1,634,702
1,634,702
7,998,504
-

4,010,105,922

3,138,389,318

2,297,617,867
459,000,175
557,503,328
(45,770,246)

249,099,019
459,000,175
(45,770,246)

(1,688,358)
(1,688,358)

465,374
465,374

720,323
(334,639,450)
1,662,492,095

157,604,048
157,604,048
720,323
(37,222,571)
(285,698,084)

Non-controlling interest

1,000,073,687

(17,204,410)

TOTAL EQUITY

3,297,691,554

231,894,609

10,844,327,094

6,009,443,256

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

23
23
23

23

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
2

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Notes
PROFIT/(LOSS)
Revenue
Cost of sales (-)

24
24

GROSS PROFIT

Audited
1 January 31 December 2021

1,446,496,424
(1,084,449,155)

Audited
1 January 31 December 2020

1,022,822,751
(885,469,788)

362,047,269

General administrative expenses (-)
Marketing expenses (-)
Other operating income
Other operating expenses (-)

25
25
27
27

OPERATING PROFIT
Income from investing activities
Share or profit / (loss) of investments
accounted for using the equity method

28
15

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE EXPENSES

(66,156,068)
(90,876,781)
3,449,751,098
(157,185,575)

137,352,963
(31,284,860)
(51,492,907)
239,170,710
(107,166,952)

3,497,579,943

186,578,954

16,557,690

3,164,584

(43,651)

(6,929)

3,514,093,982

Financial income
Financial expenses (-)

29
29

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

16,465,375
(205,841,504)
3,324,717,853

Tax expense
Current tax expense
Deferred tax (expense)/income

30

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

189,736,609
14,788,482
(570,826,838)
(366,301,747)

(711,776,831)
(288,673)
(711,488,158)

73,703,300
(931,575)
74,634,875

2,612,941,022

(292,598,447)

3,6220

(0,6224)

Profit attributable to
Non-controlling interest
Owners of the Company

950,448,927
1,662,492,095

(6,900,363)
(285,698,084)

Profit/(loss) for the year

2,612,941,022

(292,598,447)

Earnings per share

31

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Notes

Audited
1 January 31 December 2021

Audited
1 January 31 December 2020

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial loss arising from employee benefits
Taxes on other comprehensive income
not to be reclassified to profit or loss
- Deferred tax expense/(income)

(2,153,732)
(2,692,165)

711,682
889,603

538,433

(177,921)

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences

(157,604,048)
(157,604,048)

55,970,505
55,970,505

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/INCOME

(159,757,780)

56,682,187

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE)

2,453,183,242

(235,916,260)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of the Company

950,448,927
1,502,734,315

(6,900,363)
(229,015,897)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE)

2,453,183,242

(235,916,260)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Paid
capital
1 January 2020

459,000,175

Items that will
never be
reclassified to
profit or loss in
subsequent
periods

Items that are
or may be
reclassified to
profit or loss in
subsequent
periods

Actuarial loss
arising from
employee
benefits

Foreign
currency
translation
differences

Restricted
Capital
reserves contributions
allocated from
from
profits shareholders

Effect of
transaction
under
common
control

Retained earnings

Retained
earnings
139,295,699

(176,518,270)

478,114,916

(10,304,047)

467,810,869

Profit
for the year

Equity attribute
to owners
of the
company

Non-controlling
interest

Total
Equity

(246,308)

101,633,543

720,323

-

(45,770,246)

-

711,682
-

55,970,505
-

-

-

-

(176,518,270)

(285,698,084)
176,518,270

(285,698,084)
56,682,187
-

(6,900,363)
-

(292,598,447)
56,682,187
-

31 December 2020

459,000,175

465,374

157,604,048

720,323

-

(45,770,246)

(37,222,571)

(285,698,084)

249,099,019

(17,204,410)

231,894,609

1 January 2021

459,000,175

465,374

157,604,048

720,323

-

(45,770,246)

(37,222,571)

(285,698,084)

249,099,019

(17,204,410)

231,894,609

-

-

-

-

-

-

(285,698,084)

285,698,084

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

557,503,328

-

-

557,503,328

67,619,060

625,122,388

(789,890)
950,448,927

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Transfers

Transfers
Other contributions
from Shareholders
Transactions with
non-controlling interests
Other comprehensive income
31 December 2021

-

-

(2,153,732)

(157,604,048)

-

-

-

(11,718,795)
-

1,662,492,095

(11,718,795)
1,502,734,315

459,000,175

(1,688,358)

-

720,323

557,503,328

(45,770,246)

(334,639,450)

1,662,492,095

2,297,617,867

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1,000,073,687

(12,508,685)
2,453,183,242
3,297,691,554

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Notes
A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) for the year
Adjustments to reconcile net profit/(loss)
to cash provided by operating activities
Adjustments to depreciation and amortization
Adjustments related to provisions
Adjustments related to fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties
Adjustments related to other provisions (reversals)
Adjustments related to reconcile profit or loss
Adjustments related to interest income and expenses
Adjustments related with unrealized foreign exchange differences
Adjustments related to fair value of financial investments
Adjustments to income tax expense
Adjustments related to losses/(gains) from sale of tangible assets
Adjustments related with unrealized foreign exchange differences

17,18
13
28,29
30

Changes in net working capital

Audited
1 January 31 December 2021

Audited
1 January 31 December 2020

525,546,609

84,374,357

2,612,941,022

(292,598,447)

(2,501,477,481)

309,880,152

1,593,316
5,977,309
(3,403,339,691)
8,034
6,648,484
166,586,427
183,389,896
43,651
711,776,831
(16,557,690)
(157,604,048)

14,174,561
573,053
(219,120,451)
37,182
2,081,862
230,452,259
299,407,552
6,929
(73,703,300)
55,970,505

414,083,068

Adjustments related to increase/decrease in trade receivables
Adjustments related to increase/decrease in inventories
Decrease/(Increase) in prepaid expenses
Adjustments related to (decrease) / increase in other receivables
from operating activities
Adjustments related to increase/decrease in trade payables
Increase in deferred revenue
Adjustments related to increase / (decrease) in other payables
from operating activities
Employee benefits paid
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Cash outflow from acquisition of properties and equipment and
intangible assets
Cash inflow from sale of tangible assets
Cash inflow from sale of investment properties
Cash outflow from acquisition of investment properties
Financial Investments

17,18
13
13

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(812,441,615)
21,273,492
227,985,570

(57,214,768)
443,283
(237,061,754)

19,167,199
120,335,113
517,369,446

(90,472,579)
355,478,748
(116,048,540)

321,895,911
(1,502,048)

212,318,228
(349,966)

(415,586,126)

(83,279,484)

(10,319,920)
10,376,187
27,757,784
(443,400,177)
-

(140,017,984)
30,338,017
(7,132,239)
33,532,722

40,604,646

Interest received
Interest paid
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayments of loans and borrowings
Other

8
8

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

67,092,652

13,620,723
(116,525,415)
560,223,764
(527,448,797)
110,734,371

(1,227,432)
13,071,528
(243,899,834)
298,635,411
(69,034,537)
-

150,565,129

(132,559)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE PERIOD

5

20,792,689

20,925,248

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

5

171,357,818

20,792,689

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM
ANONİM ŞİRKETİ VE BAĞLI ORTAKLIKLARI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

1.

GROUP’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi (“Timur Gayrimenkul” or “the
Company”) was established as Şen Timur Gümrükleme ve Dış Ticaret Limited Şirketi in 1992 in Turkey
to operate in custom brokerages and agency services. As at 12 April 2007, the Company changed its
operation and name as “Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi. Main
operations of the Company are purchases, sales, and developments of real estates to operate in
construction sector in Turkey and abroad. The Company address is Esentepe Mh. Ali Kaya Sk. Apa Nef
Plaza No:3 Kat:5-6 34393 Levent, Istanbul, Turkey.
As of 31 December 2021 the number of the employees of the Group is 410 (2020: 385).
Consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” and individually “Group company”), and Group’s shares in its
associates as of and for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Principal
Activity

Place of
incorporation
and activity

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Real estate development and tourism

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Ganj Yapı İnşaat A.Ş.
(“Ganj Yapı”)

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

TT Gayrimenkul ve
Ticaret A.Ş. (“TT Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

Timur Şehircilik ve
Planlama A.Ş. (“Timur Şehircilik”) Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Sirius Gayrimenkul
ve Ticaret A.Ş. (“Sirius”)

Real estate development

Turkey

51.00

100.00

-

-

Timur Beykoz 5
Gayrimenkul ve Tic.
A.Ş. (“Timur Beykoz 5”)

Real estate development

Turkey

80.00

100.00

80.00

100.00

Nef Gayrimenkul
Yapı ve Yatırım A.Ş.
(“Nef Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

25.00

100.00

25.00

100.00

Base Gayrimenkul
Turizm ve Ticaret A.Ş.
(“Base”)

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

BT Bahçelievler
Gayrimenkul ve Tic.
A.Ş. (“BT
Bahçelievler”)

Real estate development

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

TMR Gayrimenkul ve
Tic. A.Ş.
(“TMR Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

96.00

100.00

93.00

100.00

Name of Subsidiary
Bebek Turizm ve
İnşaat Ticaret A.Ş.
(“Bebek Turizm”)
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1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Principal
Activity

Place of
incorporation
and activity

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Sadabad Kağıthane İnşaat ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“Sadabad Kağıthane”)
Real estate development

Türkiye

71.43

100.00

71.43

100.00

Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi
(“Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Nef Aslanyapı Adi
Ortaklığı (“Nef
Aslanyapı”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

70.00

70.00

70.00

70.00

Optimum Yaşam
Merkezi İnş. Ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“Optimum”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

55.00

55.00

55.00

55.00

Name of Subsidiary

Bebek Turizm
In 2014, The Company acquired 100 percentage of the shares and voting interests in Bebek Turizm for
TRY68,176,777 with the intention of developing projects on the land and commercial properties which
have been leased by Bebek Turizm from T.C. Başbakanlık Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü.
Ganj Yapı
In 2015, The Company has acquired 100 percentage of the shares and voting interests in Ganj Yapı for
TRY12,500, which was established in 2013 in Istanbul with the intention of developing construction
projects, buying and selling of real estates.
TT Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul in 2015 to operate in construction sector through
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates.
Timur Şehircilik
In 2016, The Company acquired 100 percentage shares of Timur Şehircilik for a consideration of
TRY5,000,000 which was established in Istanbul in 2012 with the intention of developing construction
projects, buying and selling of real estates.
Timur Beykoz 5
Timur Beykoz 5 was established in Istanbul on 10 May 2016 to develop construction and contracting
projects and to purchase, construct and sell real estate.
Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Ticaret A.Ş.
Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı, was established in Istanbul on 19 December 2017 with the the intention of
developing student dorms, aparts etc. domestically and abroad, and developing construction of all kinds.
Nef EBRD, owns 100 percentage of Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı.
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1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Nef Gayrimenkul
On 18 February 2016, Timur Gayrimenkul acquired 25 percentage of the shares and voting interests of
the company that was founded as Nef Gayrimenkul Yönetim Hizme”eri ve Danışmanlığı Limited Şirketi
in 2011 from Timur Holding and following the acquisition on 22 April 2016 the trade name of newly
acquired company has changed to Nef Gayrimenkul Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi.
Base
Base Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul in 2007 to invest in the tourism and real estate sectors.
With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 29 March 2016, shares of the Company corresponding
to the capital of TRY500,000 were transferred to TMR Gayrimenkul for the consideration of
USD30,000,000.
BT Bahçelievler
BT Bahçelievler was established in Istanbul on 10 May 2016 with the intention of developing
construction and buying and selling of real estates.
TMR Gayrimenkul
TMR Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul on 11 February 2016 to operate in construction sector
through developing, selling and purchasing of real estates. The Company acquired 100 percent shares
of Base Gayrimenkul Turizm ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi (“Base Gayrimenkul”) on 30 March 2016.
Sadabad Kağıthane
In 2016, the Company acquired 71.43 percentage shares of Sadabad Kağıthane for a consideration of
TRY6,200,000 which was established in Istanbul with the intention of developing construction projects,
buying and selling of real estates.
Nef Aslanyapı
Nef Aslanyapı was established in Istanbul on 4 January 2017 with the intention of developing
construction and share the revenue on the land registered to the name of Termal Grup Turizm ve
Otelcilik San. Tic. A.Ş.
Optimum
The Company acquired 55% share of Optimum, which was established in Istanbul in 2013, in order to
develop construction and contracting projects and to realize the purchase, construction and sale of real
estate.
Sirius
The Company acquired 51% share of Sirius, in order to develop construction and contracting projects
and to realize the purchase, construction and sale of real estate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR
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1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Optimum (Continued)
The details of the Company’s associates as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Principal
activity

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Timur KarlıtepeGayrimenkul
ve Yatırımları A.Ş.
(“HT Karlıtepe”)

Real estate development

Turkey

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

HT Gayrimenkul
Yatırım ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“HT Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

Nef EBRD Gayrimenkul
Geliştirme A.Ş.
(“Nef EBRD”)

Real estate development

Turkey

65.00

65.00

65.00

65.00

Name of Joint Venture

Timur Karlıtepe was established in 2014 in Istanbul to operate in construction sector through developing,
selling and purchasing of real estates.
On 26 December 2014, HT Gayrimenkul was established the name of H30 Solar Enerji Üretim Sanayi
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi and upon acquisition the name of H30 Solar Enerji Üretim Sanayi ve Ticaret
Anonim Şirketi has been changed to HT Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi with the resolution of
General assembly dated 1 April 2015. Timur Gayrimenkul has acquired 50 percentage of the shares for
TRY25,000 on 13 February 2015.
Nef EBRD, was established in Istanbul on 15 March 2017 to operate in construction sector by
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates.
Approval of financial statements:
Consolidated financial statements were approved by the General Assembly on 15 March 2022. The
General Assembly has the right to amend the consolidated financial statements after the publication of
the consolidated financial statements.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements

a)

Preparation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by IASB.
The Group registered in Turkey and maintain its books of account and prepares its statutory financial
statements in accordance with the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation and the Uniform
Chart of Accounts issued by the Ministry of Finance. These financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost conversion except for the investment properties carried at fair values, with the
required adjustments and reclassifications reflected for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1

Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

b)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the
below. Investment properties were measured at fair value. The methods used to measure the fair values
are disclosed in Note 4.
c)

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements of entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The results and financial position of
entity are expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”), which is the functional currency of the Group and the
presentation currency of the financial statements.
2.2

Basis of consolidation

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of Timur Gayrimenkul and its subsidiaries.
The financial statements of the entities included in the consolidation have been prepared as at the date
of the consolidated financial statements.
a)

Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2021, the consolidated financial statements include the financial results of Timur
Gayrimenkul and its subsidiaries which are listed on Note 1. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases. When necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those
used by the Group. The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting
policies for similar transactions and events and are prepared with the same chart of accounts of the
Company.
Transactions under Common Control
With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 15 November 2016, the Company acquired 100 percent
of the shares of Timur Şehircilik, a subsidiary of Timur Holding A.Ş. which was under the control of
the Company's shareholders. With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 15 November 2016, the
Company acquired 57.15% shares of Sadabad Kağıthane, which was under the control of the Company's
shareholders. The Group accounted for these acquisitions through the pooling of interest method under
"Resolution 2013-2 accounting for Business Combinations under Common Control" issued by the
Turkish Accounting Standards Board ("Turkish Accounting Standards Board") and prepared financial
statements as if the combination had taken place as of the beginning of the reporting period. As a result
of these transactions any goodwill or negative goodwill was not recognized, instead, the difference
between the purchase price and the Group’s share of netbook values of Timur Şehircilik and Sadabat
Kağıthane are accounted under the “effects of common control transaction” in the equity. With the
decision of the Board of Directors dated 17 December 2021, the Company acquired 51 percent of the
shares of Sirius, a subsidiary of NEF Gayrimenkul which was under the control of the Company's
shareholders.
11

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM
ANONİM ŞİRKETİ AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

b)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred
to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are
the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain
on bargain purchase is recognized in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as
incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognized as profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then
it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity Otherwise, another contingent
consideration is re-measured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.
If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by
the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s
replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination.
This determination is based on the market-based measure of the replacement awards compared with the
market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate
to pre-combination service.
c)

Non – controlling interests

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.
d)

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognizes the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is
lost.
e)

Interests in equity-accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a joint venture.
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint
control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets
and obligations for its liabilities. Interests in associates and the joint venture are accounted for using the
equity method. They are initially recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and OCI of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control
ceases.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

f)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees
are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.
2.3

New Standards and Amendments

a)

Standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as at 31 December 2021:

●

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2;
effective from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Phase 2 amendments
address issues that arise from the implementation of the reforms, including the replacement of
one benchmark with an alternative one. The Phase 2 amendments provide additional temporary
reliefs from applying specific IAS 39 and IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements to hedging
relationships directly affected by IBOR reform.

●

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 9; effective from annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These amendments defer the date of application of
IFRS 17 by two years to 1 January 2023 and change the fixed date of the temporary exemption in
IFRS 4 from applying IFRS 9, Financial instrument until 1 January 2023.

b)

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but not effective as at
31 December 2021:

●

Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – Covid-19 related rent concessions Extension of the
Practical expedient; as of March 2021, this amendment extended till June 2022 and effective
from 1 April 2021.As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions have
been granted to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms, including payment
holidays and deferral of lease payments. On 28 May 2020, the IASB published an amendment to
IFRS 16 that provides an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing whether a rent
concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. Lessees can elect to account for such
rent concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. In many
cases, this will result in accounting for the concession as variable lease payments in the period(s)
in which the event or condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs.

●

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023. This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of practices
in accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the accounting by all
entities that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation
features.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.3

New Standards and Amendments (Continued)

●

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ on classification of liabilities;
effective date deferred until accounting periods starting not earlier than 1 January 2024. These
narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, clarify that liabilities
are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the
reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the
reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendment also
clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability.

●

A number of narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and some annual
improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16; effective from Annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
o

Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ update a reference in IFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requirements for business combinations.

o

Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a company from
deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling
items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a
company will recognize such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

o

Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ specify
which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.
Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’,
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ and the Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, ‘Leases’.

●

Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8; effective from annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The amendments aim to improve accounting policy
disclosures and to help users of the financial statements to distinguish between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.

●

Amendment to IAS 12 – Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction; from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These amendments
require companies to recognize deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition give rise
to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences.
The Group will evaluate the effects of the above changes on its operations and will apply from
the effective date.

14

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM
ANONİM ŞİRKETİ AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4

Inflation accounting

The law on amending the Tax Procedure Law and the Corporate Tax Law was enacted on January 20,
2022, It has been enacted with the number 7352 and it has been decided that the financial statements
will not be subject to inflation adjustment in the 2021 and 2022 accounting periods, including the
temporary accounting periods, and in the provisional tax periods of the 2023 accounting period,
regardless of whether the conditions for the inflation adjustment within the scope of the repeated Article
298 are met. POA made a declaration on the Implementation of Financial Reporting in High Inflation
Economies under IFRS on January 20, 2022, and it was stated that there was no need to make any
adjustments within the scope of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies in the
consolidated financial statements for 2021.
3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies explained below have been consistently applied by the Group in all periods
presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
a)

Associates

The investor’s share of losses of an equity-accounted investee is recognized only until the carrying
amount of the investor's equity interest in the investee is reduced to zero. After the investor's interest is
reduced to zero, a liability is recognized only to the extent that the investor has an obligation to fund the
investee's operations or has made payments on behalf of the investee.
b)

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognized in profit or loss. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in
foreign currency are not translated.
Foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognized in OCI:
•
•
•

Available-for-sale equity investments (except on impairment, in which case foreign currency
differences that have been recognized in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss),
A financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent
that the hedge is effective and
Qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

Foreign currency (Continued)

The annual changes in TRY / Euro and TRY / USD Dollar exchange rates are as follows at the end of
the reporting periods:

TRY/EUR
TRY/USD

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

14,6823
12,9775

9,0079
7,3405

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into TRY at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses
of foreign operations are translated into TRY at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except
to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI. When a foreign operation is disposed of
in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains
control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the Group
disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint control,
the irrelevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
c)

Financial instruments

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant
financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.
(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; FVOCI – debt
investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.
Financial instruments are not reclassified after initial recognition unless the Group changes its operating
model for the management of financial assets.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
•
•
•
•

It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset result in cash flows on certain dates that include only
the principal and interest payments on the principal balance.
Holding the financial asset under a business model aimed at collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets and
The contractual terms of the financial asset result in cash flows that, at specified dates, include
only payments of principal and interest on the principal amount balance.

All financial assets that are not measured at the amortized cost specified above or by reflecting the fair
value difference to other comprehensive income are measured by reflecting the fair value difference to
profit or loss. These include all derivative financial assets. When financial assets are included in the
financial statements for the first time, the fair value difference of a financial asset is irreversibly
reversible to profit or loss, provided that it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
arising from the measurement of financial assets differently and the related gains or losses are included
in the financial statements differently.
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided
to management. The information considered includes:
•

•
•
•
•

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash flows through the
sale of the assets,
It can be to manage daily liquidity needs, maintain a certain interest yield, or match the maturity
of financial assets with the maturity of the debts that fund those assets,
The business model and how the performance of financial assets held within the scope of the
business model is reported to the Group management,
The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed,
How managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and the frequency, volume
and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations
about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that are not eligible for derecognition are not
considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group's continuing recognition of its assets in its
financial statements.
Financial assets held for trading or managed on a fair value basis and whose performance is evaluated
on this basis are classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:
•
•
•
•
•

•

Contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows.
Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features.
Prepayment and extension features and
Terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract.
Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual per amount,
a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the
contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include
reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this
criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. However, see (v) for
derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Financial assets at Amortized cost: These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.
Debt investments at FVOCI: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
Equity investments at FVOCI: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to
profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in
such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset
or liability.
Financial assets are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group
classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories; trade and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other receivables are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Trade and other
receivables include trade and other receivables from related parties.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or
less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value.
(iv)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognizes non-derivative financial liabilities on the date when they are originated.
All other financial liabilities (including financial liabilities which are measured at fair value through
profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expire.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and trade and other
payables to related parties.
(v)

Share capital

Ordinary shares
The ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
d)

Property and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement

Property and equipment (“PE”) of the Group is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses:
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes:



The cost of materials and direct labor,
Any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended
use,

If the Group has an obligation to relocate the asset or restore the site, the costs of dismantling, relocating
and restoring the site, and if the items that make up the property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment (essential
components).
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of an item of property
and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying
amount of the asset) is recognized in “Income from investing activities” or “Expense from investing
activities” under profit or loss.
ii)

Subsequent cost

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing maintenance and repair costs are recognized as
expense as incurred.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Property and equipment (Continued)

iii)

Depreciation

Items of property and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are available for use or, in
respect of self-constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment using the straightline basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is generally recognized in profit or loss, unless
the amount is included in the carrying amount of another asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.
In the current and prior periods, useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:
Description
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles
Leasehold improvements

Year
50
5-10
3-20
5
5-30

Leased assets are depreciated by the same method used for property and equipment over the shorter of
the lease term and their useful lives. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
e)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets of the Group consist of software programs and licenses acquired by the Group, which
have finite useful lives, and are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over their estimated useful lives,
from the date that they are available for use.
Useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:
Rights

3- 15 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment properties are measured at fair value with any changes
recognized in profit or loss.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The
cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended
use and capitalized borrowing costs.
Investment property under construction is measured at fair value. When the Group cannot reliably
measure the fair value of investment property under construction, it measures such investment property
at cost until construction is completed.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in other income and other
expenses.
The Group transfers a property from investment property to inventories or owner-occupied property
when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of development with a
view to sale. When the Group decides to dispose of an investment property without development, it
continues to treat the property as an investment property until it is derecognized. Similarly, if the Group
begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as investment property, the
property remains an investment property and is not reclassified as owner-occupied property during the
redevelopment.
For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property or inventories,
the property's deemed cost for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.
g)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories consist of land
held for residential construction for sale and costs of ongoing residential construction on these land.
Cost of inventories includes all procurement costs, conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their existing location and condition. Such of land where the Group is developing real
estates are recognized as inventories in the consolidated financial statements. Borrowing costs incurred
are capitalized on inventories. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
h)

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets
Financial instruments and contract assets
The Group recognizes loss allowances for ECLs on.




Financial assets measured at amortized cost,
Debt investments measured at FVOCI
Contract assets.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Impairment (Continued)

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses
(“ECL”)’s, except for the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:


Other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring
over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due.
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:



The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by
the Company to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
The financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Company is exposed to credit risk.
Measurement of expected credit losses
The expected credit losses are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of
the financial instrument. In other words, they are credit losses measured at the present value of all cash
deficits (for example, the difference between the cash inflows to the business based on the contract and
the cash flows the business expects to collect.)
The cash deficit is the difference between the cash flows that must be made to the business according to
the contract and the cash flows the business expects to receive. Because expected credit losses take into
account the amount and timing of payments, a loan loss occurs even if the entity expects to receive the
full payment later than the contractual term.
The expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Impairment (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt
securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired . A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes the following observable data:
•
•
•
•
•

The borrower or the issuer being in significant financial difficulty,
Breach of contract, such as debtor's default or financial instrument past due 90 days,
Restructuring a loan or advance depending on the conditions that the Group will not consider
otherwise,
It is possible for the borrower to go into bankruptcy or financial reorganization, or
The disappearance of an active market for a security due to financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.
The loss allowance for debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is
recognized in other comprehensive income instead of reducing the carrying amount of the financial asset
in the statement of financial position.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. Write-off is a cause for
derecognition.
For individual customers, the Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the
financial asset is 180 days past due based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets. For
corporate customers, the Group individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount
of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no
significant recovery from the amount written off.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to
comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired only if there is evidence that it has been objectively
impaired by one or more events, happening after its initial recognition and if those effects can be reliably
measured on estimated future cash flows of that asset.
Objective evidence that financial assets may be impaired include default or delinquency of a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to conditions that the Group would not consider otherwise, indicators
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment conditions of borrowers or
issuers or disappearance of an active market for a financial asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Impairment (Continued)

For the financial assets measured at amortized cost, an impairment loss is calculated as the difference
between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an
allowance account. The interest calculated on the asset that is impaired is continued to be accounted as
discounted. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, then the previously recognized
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Impairment losses for an investment equity that do not have a quoted market prices in active markets
that are measured at cost because fair value cannot be determined reliably are not reversed.
(ii)

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are estimated at same time every year. An
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs),
and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata
basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
i)

Employee benefits

Severance indemnity
In accordance with the existing labor law in Turkey, the Group is required to make lump-sum payments
to employees who retire. Severance pay liability is calculated by considering estimated present value of
the future probable obligation arising from the retirement of the employees. It is computed and reflected
in the consolidated financial statements on an accrual basis as it is earned by serving employees. The
computation of the liabilities is based upon the retirement pay ceiling announced by the Government.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the ceiling amount applicable for each year of employment is
TRY 10,849 and TRY 7,639 respectively.
Short- term employee benefits
Short- term employee benefits are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

j)

Revenue

IFRS 15 requires revenue recognition for all contracts with customers to follow the five-step approach
to revenue recognition.
Step 1: Identifying the contract
A contract exists only if it is legally enforceable, the collection of the consideration is probable, the
rights to goods and services and payment terms can be identified, the contract has commercial substance;
and the contract is approved and the parties are committed to their obligations, this contract is considered
within the scope of IFRS 15. If either contracts were negotiated as a single commercial package, or
consideration in one contract depends on the other contract or goods or services (or some of the goods
or services) are a single performance obligation the Group accounts the contracts as a single contract.
Step 2: Identifying the performance obligations
The Group defines ‘performance obligation’ as a unit of account for revenue recognition. The Group
assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as:
(a)
(b)

A performance obligation either a good or service that is distinct,
Or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern
of transfer to the customer.

The Group defines a good or service in a contract separately from other commitments in the contract
and defines it as a different good or service if it enables the customer to benefit from the said good or
service alone or in combination with other resources available for use. A contract may contain promises
to deliver a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. At contract inception, an
entity determines whether the series of goods or services is a single performance obligation.
Step 3: Determining the transaction price
In order to determine the transaction price, the Group assesses how much consideration it expects to be
entitled to by fulfilling the contract. In arriving at the assessment, the Group considers variable elements
of consideration, as well as the existence of a significant financing component.
Significant financing component
The Group revises the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a significant financing
component to the amount that reflects what the cash selling price of the promised good or service. As a
practical expedient, the Group does not adjust the transaction price for the effects of a significant
financing component if, at contract inception, the entity expects the period between customer payment
and the transfer of goods or services to be one year or less. In cases where advance for the services are
received and the payment scheme is broadly aligned with the Group’s performance throughout the
period, The Group considers that the time between fulfillment of the obligation and payment should
never exceed 12 months.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

j)

Revenue (Continued)

Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to performance obligations
If distinct goods or services are delivered under a single arrangement, then the consideration is allocated
based on relative stand-alone selling prices of the distinct goods or services (performance obligations).
If directly observable stand-alone selling prices are not available, the total consideration in the service
contracts is allocated based on their expected cost plus a margin.
Step 5: Recognition of revenue
The Group recognizes income over time if any of the following conditions are met:
•
•
•

Customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the entity performs, or,
The customer controls the asset as the entity creates or enhances it, or
Group’s performance does not create an asset for which the entity has an use; and alternative there
is a right to payment for performance to date.

For each performance obligation that is satisfied over time, an entity selects a single measure of progress,
which depicts the transfer of control of the goods or services to the customer. The Group uses a method
that measures the work performed reliably. The Group uses cost incurred to measure the progress
towards to completion of the project where the input method is used and uses units transferred to
measure the progress towards to completion of the project where the output method is used. If a
performance obligation is not satisfied over time, then the Group recognize revenue at the point in time
at which it transfers control of the good or service to the customer.
The Company recognizes a provision in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under a contract exceed the
economic benefits.
(i)

Residential, office and store sales

Revenue is measured at fair value and recognized on accrual basis when residential, offices and stores
are delivered by registering the transfer of title deed or issuing delivery record indicating that the related
risk and rewards are transferred to the customers, the amount of revenue can be determined reliably and
the economic benefits of transactions are likely to be transferred to the Group.
(ii)

Deferred revenue

Risks and rewards are transferred upon the delivery of residential, offices and stores with delivery
records. In the case that the delivery is not completed with a delivery record, the Group recognizes the
deferred revenue on statement of financial position.
(iii)

Rent income

Rental income from investment properties are recognized as revenue on using the straight line method
during the lease contract.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Leases

(i)

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equals to
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Other leases are operating leases which are not recognized on the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position.
(ii)

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the
finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each
period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability.
(iii)

Determining whether a contract contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a
lease. The following two criteria must be met for a “lease”:
•
•

The fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
The arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s).

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other
consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on
the basis of their relative fair values.
If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, an
asset and a liability are recognized at an amount equals to the fair value of the underlying asset.
Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance charge on the liability
is recognized using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
l)

Finance income and finance costs

Financing income consists of interest income from bank deposits, interest income from invested funds,
receivables from related parties, foreign exchange gains on financial assets and liabilities, and gains
recognized in profit or loss, which form part of the cycle used for financing purposes.
Finance costs comprised the interest expense on borrowings, interest expense of borrowings from related
parties which are used for financing purposes and rediscount expenses. Borrowing costs that are not
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset are recognized in profit or
loss by using effective interest rate.
Foreign exchange gains and expenses on financial assets and liabilities (excluding trade receivables and
payables) are reported net in finance income or financing expenses according to the net position of the
exchange rate movements on a group basis. Foreign exchange gains on trade receivables and payables
are reported under other operating income, while exchange difference expenses are reported under other
operating expenses.
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m)

Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in OCI.
(i)

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax
is not recognized for:
•
•
•

Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit and loss,
Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Group’s able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and
Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
(iii)

Tax exposures

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Group takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group determines that
its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors,
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities;
such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n)

Provisions, contingent asset and liabilities

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, having a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the
effect is material.
Contingent assets are not recognized unless they are realized and only disclosed in notes to the financial
statements.
o)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the
end the reporting period and the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue.
Two types of events can be identified:
•
•

Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period; and
Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events
after the reporting period).

The Group adjusts the amounts recognized in its consolidated financial statements to reflect the
adjusting events after reporting period. If the events after the reporting period are considered as nonadjusting events, accordingly such of events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
p)

Related Parties

Organizations that can directly or indirectly control or significantly influence the other party through
shareholding, contractual rights, family relations or similar means are defined as related parties. Related
parties also include shareholders and Company management. Related party transaction is a transfer of
resources or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ASSESSMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
a)

Investment properties

The fair value of investment property is based on valuations using various estimates and assumptions
(Note 13) performed by independent valuers, who hold recognized and relevant professional
qualifications and who have recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties
being valued. The valuations are based primarily on comparable rents, discount rates, yields and sales
prices from recent market transactions on an arm’s lengths basis, using the discounted cash flow
technique for investment properties and income capitalization approach for investment properties under
development. Change in these estimates and assumptions in future may have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ASSESSMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

For disclosure purposes fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the measurement date.

5.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, cash and cash equivalents comprised the following

Cash on hand
Cash at banks
- Demand deposits
- Time deposits
Other liquid assets
Cash and cash equivalents at cash flow statement

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

210,917

169,248

73,776,215
96,724,124
646,562

14,658,771
5,802,498
162,172

171,357,818

20,792,689

As at 31 December 2021 maturity dates and interest rates of time deposits comprised the following:
Currency
TRY

Maturity

Interest rate %

December 2021

January 2022

13.50 - 17.00

96,724,124

As at 31 December 2020 maturity dates and interest rates of time deposits comprised
Currency
TRY

Maturity
January 2021

Interest rate %

December 2020

21.00-22.00

5,802,498

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there is no blockage or restriction on balance of cash and cash
equivalents.
The Group’s exposure to currency risk, interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in Note 32.
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6.

CASH RESERVED FOR PROJECTS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, cash reserved for projects comprised the following:

Cash reserved for projects
- Demand deposits
- Time deposits

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

8,270,869
370,875

10,329,654
360,045

8,641,744

10,689,699

Cash reserves are generated from the sales of the certain projects and retained for related project’s costs
and expenses.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, maturity dates and interest rates of time deposits of the Group’s cash
reserved for projects comprised the following:
Currency
TRY

Maturity

Interest rate %

December 2021

January 2022

14.00

370,875

Maturity

Interest rate %

December 2020

January 2021

21.00-22.00

360,045

Currency
TRY

The Group’s exposure to currency risk, interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in Note 32.

7.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the details of short-term and long-term financial investments
comprised the following:
Short-term financial investments

Private sector bonds
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240

240

240

240
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7.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Financial investments which have been measured by fair value differences reflected to profit or loss
follow.
2021

2020

1 January
Disposal

240
-

33,532,962
(33,532,722)

31 December

240

240

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

525

525

525

525

Long-term financial investments

Financial assets available for sale

Short-term bank deposits as at 31 December are as follows:
Participation rate
(%)
Dia Finans - FC Yapı – Timur - TRY

31 December Participation rate
2021
(%)

1%

525

1%

525

31 December
2020
525
525

The movement of financial investments for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is given below:
2021

2020

Balance as at 1 January
Change in share rate

525
-

525
-

Balance as at 31 December

525

525

8.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, Loans and borrowings measured at amortized cost comprised the
following:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

75,300,252

35,112,879

75,300,252

35,112,879

Short-term borrowings
Short-term secured loans
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8.

BORROWINGS (Continued)
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

277,981,590

142,687,105

277,981,590

142,687,105

1,593,070,329

1,662,048,211

1,593,070,329

1,662,048,211

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
Short-term portion of long-term secured
loans and borrowings

Long-term borrowings
Long-term secured loans and borrowings

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, total loans and borrowings of the Group by company comprised the
following:

Borrowings

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

1,946,352,171

1,839,848,195

1,946,352,171

1,839,848,195

As at 31 December 2021, total borrowings of the Group by company comprised the following:

Timur Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul
TMR Gayrimenkul
Bebek Turizm

Short-term
borrowings

Long-term
borrowings

Total

79,995,376
133,402,775
137,552,756
2,330,935

1,268,928,791
201,495,941
80,408,183
42,237,414

1,348,924,167
334,898,716
217,960,939
44,568,349

353,281,842

1,593,070,329

1,946,352,171

As at 31 December 2020, total borrowings of the Group by company comprised the following:

Timur Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul
TMR Gayrimenkul
Bebek Turizm

Short-term
borrowings

Long-term
borrowings

Total

34,471,841
97,116,548
45,906,708
304,887

1,285,102,141
203,469,407
131,864,927
41,611,736

1,319,573,982
300,585,955
177,771,635
41,916,623

177,799,984

1,662,048,211

1,839,848,195
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8.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, borrowings are payable as follows:

Less than 1 year
Payable in the second year
Payable in the third year
Payable in the fourth year
Payable in the fifth year
Payable after five years

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

353,281,842
558,633,760
519,573,669
314,886,933
199,975,967
-

177,799,984
234,717,313
464,063,709
465,716,646
304,319,252
193,231,291

1,946,352,171

1,839,848,195

Maturity date and interest rates of loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as
follows:
Original
Currency

Nominal interest
rate percentage

Net book
value

TRY
EUR
TRY
TRY

10%
6,5%
13.50%-20.50%
10%

1,348,924,167
334,898,716
217,960,939
44,568,349

Secured bank loan TRY (*)
Secured bank loan EUR (*)
Secured bank loan TRY (*)
Secured bank loan TRY (*)

1,946,352,171
(*)

Personal securities of the shareholders and mortgage on the projects for the loans and borrowings are
TRY1,304,162,500 and EUR37,950,000 (31 December 2020: TRY1,335,810,000 and EUR37,950,000).
As at 31 December 2021, TRY530,886,592 and USD5,862,581 of notes were given as a guarantee for loans
and borrowings (31 December 2020: TRY449,524,382 and USD5,862,581) (Note 20).

Maturity date and interest rates of loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are as
follows:

Secured bank loan TRY (*)
Secured bank loan EUR (*)
Secured bank loan TRY (*)
Secured bank loan TRY (*)

Original
Currency

Nominal interest
rate percentage

Net book
value

TRY
EUR
TRY
TRY

10%
6.5%
16%
10%

1,319,573,982
300,585,955
177,771,635
41,916,623
1,839,848,195
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8.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 due from details of bank borrowings are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

1 January
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Exchange rate differences

1,839,848,195
560,223,764
(527,448,797)
73,729,009

1,310,839,769
298,635,411
(69,034,537)
299,407,552

Total

1,946,352,171

1,839,848,195

9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, due from/due to related parties are as follows:
Due from related parties

Other receivables
Trade receivables

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

98,323,131
4,333,111

72,776,238
3,246,758

102,656,242

76,022,996

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

190,449,051
25,099,339
3,775,569

60,926,224
2,566,670

219,323,959

63,492,894

Due to related parties

Other long-term payables
Other short-term payables
Trade payables

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term trade receivables from related parties are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

4,333,111

3,246,758

4,333,111

3,246,758

Short-term trade receivables
ENG Enerji Yatırım A.Ş.
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9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term other receivables from related parties are as follows:

MED Enerji A.Ş.
ENG Enerji Yatırım A.Ş.
Musa Timur
Timur Holding A.Ş.
Erden Timur
Nef 12 East 37Th LLC.
Other

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

30,928,867
16,797,015
14,436,311
13,459,196
10,678,580
5,191,000
6,832,162

18,265,301
8,953,739
10,815,722
6,784,189
11,528,565
2,936,200
13,492,522

98,323,131

72,776,238

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term trade payables to related parties are as follows:
Trade payables to related parties
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

3,697,083
47,805
30,681

2,484,925
47,806
33,939

3,775,569

2,566,670

Short-term trade payables
EE Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.Ş.
Emine Timur
HM Sigorta Aracılık Hizm. Ltd. Şti.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term and long-term other payables to the related parties are as
follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

10,501,208
9,201,131
4,866,000
531,000

46,225,599
5,204,461
8,965,164
531,000

25,099,339

60,926,224

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

190,449,051

-

190,449,051

-

Other payables to related parties
Erden Timur
Dia Finans-FC Yapı-Timur Adi Ortaklığı
BTE Kağıthane
Musa Timur

Other long-term payables to related parties
Nezih Barut (*)

(*)

The debt to Nezih Barut arises from the funding need between related companies. Nezih Barut is a
shareholder of TT Gayrimenkul.
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9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Related party transactions
The transactions of the Group with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are
listed below:
Finance
income

G&A
expenses

Finance
cost

Total

Med Enerji
Musa Timur
Timur Holding
ENG Enerji A.Ş.
Proje Asist
Molecule
Central
EE Gayrimenkul
İstanbul Global Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.Ş.
RDN Gayrimenkul
Beşpınar
Other

2,209,367
2,178,719
1,241,147
955,173
726,078
447,543
272,373
188,806
87,449
31,925
17,148
9,502

-

-

2,209,367
2,178,719
1,241,147
955,173
726,078
447,543
272,373
188,806
87,449
31,925
17,148
9,502

Total

8,365,230

-

-

8,365,230

2020

Finance
income

G&A
expenses

Finance
cost

Total

Med Enerji
Musa Timur
Eng Enerji
Timur Holding
Proje Asist
Sirius Gayrimenkul
Molecule
Central
EE Gayrimenkul
İstanbul Global Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.Ş.
DEEM Dekoras
Emine Timur
RDN Gayrimenkul
Beşpınar
Other
Sayram Global
BTE Kağıthane

1,014,721
933,303
468,678
348,372
338,729
233,937
214,808
125,748
76,304
38,889
24,921
19,684
12,353
6,783
2,353
-

-

(1,400,957)

1,014,721
933,303
468,678
348,372
338,729
233,937
214,808
125,748
76,304
38,889
24,921
19,684
12,353
6,783
2,353
(1,400,957)

Total

3,859,583

-

(1,400,957)

2,458,626

2021

There are no impairment in the related party balances of the Group as of 31 December 2021.
Remuneration with key management personnel:
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, compensation for key management personnel are as
follows:

Short-term benefits (wages and bonuses)
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5,039,430

561,798

5,039,430

561,798
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10.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Short-term trade receivable
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s short-term trade receivables comprised the following:
31 December 2021
Note receivables
Trade receivables
Doubtful receivables
Allowance for doubtful receivables (-)

667,471,091
644,818,193
12,418,398
(12,418,398)

Balance at the beginning of the period
Provisions in the period
Balance at the end of the period

31 December 2020
514,956,148
142,947,619
5,640,779
(5,640,779)

1,312,289,284

657,903,767

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

5,640,779
6,777,619

3,951,813
1,688,966

12,418,398

5,640,779

Long-term trade receivable
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s long-term trade receivables comprised the following:

Trade receivables
Note receivables

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

132,465,163
72,553,352

48,048,770

205,018,515

48,048,770

Short-term trade payables
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s short-term trade payables comprised the following:

Trade payable
Note payables
Other trade payables
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31 December 2020

527,955,597
192,861,709
2,702,411

299,831,893
185,194,106
796,016

723,519,717

485,822,015
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10.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)

Long-term trade payables
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s long-term trade payables comprised the following:

Long-term trade payables

11.

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

22,848,418

154,376,345

22,848,418

154,376,345

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s employee benefit obligations comprised the following:

Social security premiums payable
Payables to personnel

12.

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

1,317,886
136,645

656,256
240,720

1,454,531

896,976

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Other short-term receivables
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other short-term receivables comprised the following

Receivables from tax office
Stamp duties, land registries and subscriptions
Advance paid for land
Receivables from commercial site managements
Receivable from municipality
Deposits and guarantees given
Other
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31 December 2020

63,292,838
54,938,391
36,355,038
15,287,958
9,963,828
210,799
11,791,969

6,818,244
19,671,507
47,039,807
10,983,217
14,441,139
213,700
19,105,283

191,840,821

118,272,897
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12.

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)

Other short-term payables
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other short-term payables comprised the following:

Deposits and guarantees received
Payables to site administrations
Taxes and funds payable
Overdue, deferred payables or payables on instalments
Other (*)

(*)

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

92,689,213
47,389,642
32,799,842
21,971,596
94,676,410

133,271,570
68,750,000
11,013,090
94,309
39,800,116

289,526,703

252,929,085

Other payables consist of the title deed subscription and residence fees to be paid to the relevant institutions.

Other long-term payables
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other long-term payables comprised the following

NBG Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve Ticaret A.Ş. (**)
Deposits and guarantees received
Other

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

65,137,756
39,398,032
5,780,306

273,027,882
20,736,183
5,780,306

110,316,094

299,544,371

(**)

The debt to Nezih Barut arises from the funding need between related companies. Nezih Barut is a
shareholder of TT Gayrimenkul.

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, investment properties comprised the following:

Investment properties
Investment properties-Lands
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31 December 2021

31 December 2020

2,621,535,800
2,366,900,000

746,147,897
323,460,000

4,988,435,800

1,069,607,897
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13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, movements of investment property comprised the following
2021

2020

1 January

1,069,607,897

843,355,207

Addition
Transfers
Changes in fair value (Note 27)
Disposals

443,400,177
108,648,035
3,403,339,691
(36,560,000)

7,132,239
219,120,451
-

31 December

4,988,435,800

1,069,607,897

The following tables show fair values of investment properties including their levels in the fair value
hierarchy:
31 December 2021
Investment properties
31 December 2020
Investment properties

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

-

4,988,435,800

-

4,988,435,800

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

-

1,069,607,897

-

1,069,607,897

Fair values of active investment properties as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are
following:

Gölköy 3 plots of land (*)
Bebeköy project (**)
TT Bodrum 828-5
Nef 03- APANEF
Konya Meram Land (*)
TT Bodrum 819-5
Bodrum Türkbükü Karacaburun
7 Sheets 323 Parcels
TMR- BASE Bodrum Cennet (***)
Sütlüce
Nef 05 Kağıthane
Nef 9 Seyrantepe
NEF 163
Nef 22 Ataköy
İstanbul Maltepe Land
Altower apartments
Nef 04 Kemerburgaz
Sarıyer land
Nef Kağıthane 11
Muğla- Bodrum- Gölköy-Çomca
1542 Plot No. 41

31 December 2021
Appraisal
report date
Fair value

31 December 2020
Appraisal
report date
Fair value

30/11/2021
31/12/2021
28/02/2022
28/02/2022
11/03/2022
28/02/2022

1,575,470,000
1,045,000,000
724,210,000
478,640,800
300,000,000
219,585,000

31/03/2021
31/03/2021
-

340,048,000
231,820,783
-

28/02/2022
08/03/2022
09/03/2022
23/02/2022
28/02/2022
07/02/2022
28/02/2022
28/02/2022
28/01/2022
28/02/2022
08/02/2022

207,200,000
151,900,000
107,205,000
59,920,000
47,940,000
45,770,000
8,670,000
7,255,000
4,550,000
4,070,000
1,050,000

31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021
-

57,955,000
250,730,000
72,730,000
29,575,000
21,814,114
32,815,000
-

-

-

31/03/2021

32,120,000

(*)

The Group has bought the regarding properties and accounted as an investment property to earn rental
income or for capital appreciation in 2021.
(**) The Group has transferred Bebeköy project from tangible and intangible assets to investment properties
beginning of the year since the commencement of leasing activities.
(***) The Group has transferred regarding land from investment properties to inventory since the change in use.
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13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Discount rates used in calculation fair value of investment properties following:
Discount rates
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
TT Bodrum (828-5 ve 819-5)
Muğla - Bodrum - Gölköy - Çomca 1542 Parcel No 41
Nef 05 Kağıthane
NEF 163
Sütlüce
TMR - BASE Bodrum Cennet
Bebeköy project
Gölköy 3 plots of land
Konya Meram land

%20
%20
%20
%18
%21
%17

%18
%18
%16,5
%16
%16,5
%17,5
-

Discounted cash flows method and market approach were used in measuring the fair value of investment
properties.
As at 31 December 2021 there are pledges amounting to TRY1,304,162,500 and EUR37,950,000 on
investment properties (31 December 2020: TRY1,142,465,000 and EUR37,950,000).
14.

INVENTORIES

Short-term inventories
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term inventories comprised the following:

Nef Gölköy (*)
Nef Balıkesir
Nef Yalıkavak
Nef Bahçelievler
Nef City 82
Nef 36 Basınekspres (*)
Nef Çekmeköy
Nef Nakkaştepe
Nef 22 Ataköy (*)
Nef Beykoz
Nef Eskişehir
Nef 19 Sancaktepe
Nef 14 Kağıthane
Nef 08 Points
Nef 98 Points
Nef Inistanbul
Nef 04 Points
Nef 05 Kağıthane
Nef Sapanca
Nef 39 Seyrantepe
Nef 09 4Levent
Other (**)

43

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

483,589,594
401,710,335
365,215,726
316,725,674
303,004,344
202,810,882
115,028,360
94,894,293
55,217,542
37,934,603
22,380,310
15,526,045
13,275,139
12,120,840
9,301,999
8,602,442
7,954,996
4,849,447
3,982,244
900,000
39,035,665

338,307,542
388,069,502
395,097,613
128,371,923
60,364,369
37,909,812
29,320,242
1,698,459
12,120,840
9,301,999
6,758,495
8,166,746
6,311,133
2,007,500
1,965,235
41,205,439

2,514,060,480

1,466,976,849
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14.

INVENTORIES (Continued)

Long-term inventories
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, long-term inventories comprised the following:

Nef Kandilli
Nef Ortayaka
Nef Basınekspres
Nef Gölköy (*)
Nef Nakkaştepe
Nef Ataköy
Nef Çekmeköy
Nef Kağıthane
Other

(*)
(**)

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

240,928,945
6,762,895
57,401

105,184,156
6,354,920
219,720,675
150,653,669
114,894,293
75,274,140
3,238,854
2,403,578
57,401

247,749,241

677,781,686

The projects that are previously being accounted in the long-term inventories are started to be accounted in
the short-term inventories in the consolidated financial statements.
Real estate projects developed by the Group for commercial purposes in various regions of Istanbul.

As at 31 December 2021, there are pledges amounting to TRY250,610,000 and EUR37,950,000
(31 December 2020: TRY250,610,000 and EUR37,950,000) on the long and short-term inventories of
the Group.
The Group performs impairment tests for inventories. Based on the impairment tests performed, as at
31 December 2021 and 2020 there is not any impairment losses recognized.
15.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s shares from the equity accounted
investees which are recognized in profit or loss are as follows:

HT Gayrimenkul
Nef EBRD

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

1,843,189
-

1,886,840
-

1,843,189

1,886,840

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s shares from the investments accounted
for using the equity method which are recognized in profit or loss are as follows:
31 December 2021
HT Gayrimenkul
Nef EBRD
BTE Kağıthane
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31 December 2020

(43,651)
-

(6,929)
-

(43,651)

(6,929)
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15.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Timur Karlıtepe
Timur Karlıtepe which the Company owns 75 percentage of shares and 50 percentage voting right was
established on 1 July 2014 to develop real estates. Since the Company’s share of accumulated losses in
Timur Karlıtepe is exceeding the Company’s equity interest’s carrying amount, the Company’s equity
interest in the Timur Karlıtepe has been reduced to zero. As of 31 December 2021, the Group has no
accumulated losses recorded. As at and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial
information of Timur Karlıtepe is summarized as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Non-current assets
Current assets
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities
Net Assests

-

-

Company’s share
Carrying value on the statement of financial position

-

-

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Revenue
Costs (-)
Tax expenses

-

-

Net loss for the year

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Company’s share in loss for the year
Dividend received by the Company

-

-

HT Gayrimenkul
The Company was founded in Turkey on 18 February 2015 to develop properties. As at
31 December 2021 and 2020, financial information of HT Gayrimenkul is summarized as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Non-current assets
Current assets
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities

18,091
3,752,467
84,179

7,563
3,769,329
3,212

Net Assests

3,686,378

3,773,680

Company’s share
Carrying value on the statement of financial position

1,843,189
1,843,189

1,886,840
1,886,840
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15.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

HT Gayrimenkul (Continued)
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Revenue
Costs (-)
Tax income

(87,291)
-

318
(14,176)
-

Net loss for the year

(87,291)

(13,858)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income

(87,291)

(13,858)

Company’s share in loss for the year

(87,291)

(6,929)

Nef EBRD
Nef EBRD, was established in Turkey on 15 March 2017 to develop properties. The Company owns 65
percentage of shares and 50 percentage voting rights. As of 19 December 2017, Nef EBRD owns
percentage100 of Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi. Since
the Company's share in NEF EBRD's losses is higher than its share in NEF EBRD, the value of the
investment has been reduced to zero. The Group did not record the accumulated loss of TRY214,131 as
of 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021, financial information of Nef EBRD is summarized as
follows:

Non-current assets
Current assets
Short-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

82,464
36,266
165,738
292,489

117,723
71,186
68,359
449,983

Net Assets

(339,498)

(329,433)

Company’s share in loss for the year
Dividend received by the Company

(214,131)
-

(214,131)
-

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Revenue
Costs (-)
Tax income

(125,367)
-

46,863
(254,787)
-

Net loss for the year

(125,367)

(207,924)

Other comprehensive income

-

Total comprehensive income
Company’s share in loss for the year
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(125,367)

(207,924)

(81,488)

(135,151)
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16.

PREPAYMENTS AND DEFERRED REVENUES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term prepayments comprised the following:

Advance given for land
Advances given to subcontractors
Prepaid expenses
Job advances

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

391,317,606
68,072,842
9,930,610
5,853,089

305,374,768
154,580,337
4,435,821
3,019,939

475,174,147

467,410,865

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, long-term prepayments comprised the following:

Advance given for land
Advance given for others

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

331,705,754
4,104,983

563,945,114
7,614,475

335,810,737

571,559,589

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, short-term deferred revenues comprised the following:

Advance received for sales of residence (*)
Deferred income

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

1,877,557,269
38,386,666

1,627,400,198
28,522,628

1,915,943,935

1,655,922,826

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, long-term deferred revenues comprised the following:

Advance received for sales of residence (*)
Deferred income

(*)

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

1,158,594,566
122,737,877

734,920,295
277,866,890

1,281,332,443

1,012,787,185

TRY 3 billion in total liabilities consist of deferred revenue which refers to Group’s net sales after delivery
of the residential units and lands.
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17.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Loan and
Buildings

Machinery and
Equipment

Furniture
and Fixtures

Leasehold
Improvements

Construction
in Progress

Total

Cost
1 January 2021
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

65,517,077
(7,500,000)
(9,966,628)

4,759,315
21,067
-

13,364,057
(162,325)
674,170
(413,043)
-

23,711,981
(5,576,190)
10,008
(13,033,347)
-

31 December 2021

48,050,449

4,780,382

13,462,859

5,112,452

257,258,451
(81,459,235)
(175,799,216)
-

364,610,881
(87,197,750)
705,245
(196,745,606)
(9,966,628)
71,406,142

Accumulated Depreciation
1 January 2021
Foreign currency translation differences
Depreciation charge for the year
Transfers
Disposals

7,613,346
536,347
(409,559)

2,906,424
393,490
-

3,857,149
(135,321)
531,307
-

9,998,541
(2,062,051)
109,592
(5,526,572)
-

85,419
(85,419)
-

24,460,879
(2,197,372)
1,570,736
(5,611,991)
(409,559)

31 December 2021

7,740,134

3,299,914

4,253,135

2,519,510

-

17,812,693

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2021

57,903,731

1,852,891

9,506,908

13,713,440

257,173,032

340,150,002

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2021

40,310,315

1,480,468

9,209,724

2,592,942

-

53,593,449

Net carrying value

In the current period, depreciation expenses are included in general administrative expenses.
There are no borrowing costs capitalized from ongoing constructions in the current period. (31 December 2020: TRY4,128,743).
As at 31 December 2021, insurance coverage on property and equipment amounted to TRY16,000,000 (31 December 2020: TRY8,650,000).
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17.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Loan and
Buildings

Machinery and
Equipment

Furniture
and Fixtures

Leasehold
Improvements

Construction
In Progress

Total

Cost
1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions
Transfers (*)
Disposals
31 December 2021

94,684,965
(29,167,888)

5,141,288
435,736
(817,709)

13,133,257
129,106
454,114
(352,420)

19,270,035
4,435,046
6,900
-

181,116,912
64,788,941
11,352,598
-

313,346,457
69,353,093
12,249,348
(30,338,017)

65,517,077

4,759,315

13,364,057

23,711,981

257,258,451

364,610,881

Accumulated Depreciation
1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

5,737,739
1,875,607
-

2,102,362
938,236
(134,174)

3,536,786
107,628
456,068
(243,334)

6,881,010
1,640,061
1,477,471
-

85,419
-

18,343,316
1,747,689
4,747,382
(377,508)

31 December 2020

7,613,346

2,906,424

3,857,148

9,998,542

85,419

24,460,879

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2020

88,947,226

3,038,926

9,596,471

12,389,025

181,031,493

295,003,141

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2020

57,903,731

1,852,891

9,506,909

13,713,439

257,173,032

340,150,002

Net carrying value

(*)

The Group has transferred Bebeköy project to investment properties which was previously recognized from its cost under tangible assets and received an appraisal report
since the commencement of leasing activities in 2021.
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18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Rights and
software

Vakıflar rental
agreement

Research and
Developments Expenses

Total

1 January 2021

1,475,695

256,592,360

-

258,068,055

Foreign currency
translation differences
Transfers (*)
Additions/ Disposals

3,154,153

(85,514,858)
(171,077,502)
-

13,184,121
6,460,522

(85,514,858)
(157,893,381)
9,614,675

31 December 2021

4,629,848

-

19,644,643

24,274,491

1 December 2021
Foreign currency
translation differences
Transfers (*)
Additions

1,383,783

48,777,988

-

50,161,771

22,580

(12,911,188)
(35,866,800)
-

-

(12,911,188)
(35,866,800)
22,580

31 December 2021

1,406,363

-

-

1,406,363

Cost

Amortization

Rights and
Software

Vakıflar rental
agreement

Total

2,487,211

188,577,763

191,064,974

(1,011,516)

68,014,597
-

68,014,597
(1,011,516)

1,475,695

256,592,360

258,068,055

3,028,429

29,118,626

32,147,055

(1,681,430)
36,784

10,268,967
9,390,395

10,268,967
(1,681,430)
9,427,179

1,383,783

48,777,988

50,161,771

Cost
1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions/ Disposals
31 December 2020
Amortization
1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions/ Disposals
Additions
31 December 2020
(*)

The Group transferred the costs associated with the leasing activities of the Bebeköy project, which was
previously classified under intangible assets, to investment properties.
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19.

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, provisions comprised of:
Short-term provisions
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

2,145,317
61,379

646,574
53,345

2,206,696

699,919

4,611,220

1,634,702

4,611,220

1,634,702

6,817,916

2,334,621

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Lawsuit provisions

61,379

53,345

Total

61,379

53,345

Short-term employee benefit provisions
Other short-term provisions

Long-term provisions
Long-term employee benefit provisions

Total provisions
Other short-term provisions
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20.

COMMITMENTS

Commitments and obligations
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group’s guarantee, pledge and mortgage (“GPM”)
position are as follows:
TRY Equivalent

TRY

USD

EUR

2,468,324,022
606,968,237
1,861,355,785

5,862,581
5,862,581
-

37,950,000
37,950,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,468,324,022

5,862,581

37,950,000

31 December 2021

A. GPMSs given on behalf of the Group’s
legal personality
Guarantee (*)
Pledge
Mortgage (**)
B. GPMSs given in favor of subsidiaries included in
included full consolidation
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
GPMs given by the Group for the liabilities of 3rd
C. Parties in order to run ordinary course of business
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
D. Other GPMs
i. GPMs given in favor of
parent company
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
ii.
GPMs given in favor of the Group companies not
companies not
in the scope of B and C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
iii. GPMs given in favor of third party
companies not in the scope of C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
Total GPM
(*)

As of 31 December 2021, the total amount of collateral bills given by the Group consists of TRY530,886,592 and
USD5,862,581 of collateral given to banks in return for financial borrowing.

(**)

There are mortgages amounting to TRY1,304,162,500 and EUR37,950,000 on the projects for loans and borrowings
obtained.
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20.

COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Commitments and obligations (Continued)
TRY Equivalent

TRY

USD

EUR

31 December 2020

E. GPMSs given on behalf of the Group’s
legal personality
Guarantee (*)
Pledge
Mortgage (**)
F. GPMSs given in favor of subsidiaries included in
included full consolidation
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
G. GPMs given by the Group for the liabilities of 3rd
Parties in order to run ordinary course of business
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
H. Other GPMs
i. GPMs given in favor of
parent company
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
ii.
GPMs given in favor of the Group companies not
companies not
in the scope of B and C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
iii. GPMs given in favor of third party
companies not in the scope of C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
Total GPM

2,227,483,463
492,558,658
1,734,924,805

5,862,581
5,862,581
-

37,950,000
37,950,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,227,483,463

5,862,581

37,950,000

(*)

As of 31 December 2020, letters of guarantees given are amounting to TRY145,878,063. Significant amount of the
letters of guarantees are given to the landowners. There are letters of guarantees given to tax office regarding the tax
return amounting to TRY 73,850,503, as part of the Nef Bahçelievler Project TRY50,000,000, to building material
suppliers and municipalities amounting to TRY22,027,560.

(**)

There are mortgages amounting to TRY475,431,544 TRY and USD15,061,393 on the projects for loans and borrowings
obtained.

(***)

The Group has mortgages on its projects in the amount of TRY996,262,644 and EUR56,750,000 due to financial
borrowing.
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21.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined benefit obligation
In accordance with the current social legislation in Turkey, companies are required to make lump-sum
payments to employees whose employment is ended due to retirement or for reasons other than
resignation or misconduct. The amount of compensation is equal to one month’s salary for each year of
service and this amount is limited with TRY10,848.59 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
TRY7,639). The liability is not funded and accordingly there are no plan assets for the defined benefits
as there is no funding requirement.
Based on the Group’s past experience, severance pay liability is calculated and recognized considering
the estimated net value of the future probable obligations by discounting such of future obligations based
on interest rates of government bonds which are effective at end of each reporting period. For the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, movements of defined benefit obligation are as follows:

1 January
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial difference
Payments during the period
31 December

2021

2020

1,634,702

1,061,649

1,393,456
931,378
2,153,732
(1,502,048)

1,426,277
208,424
(711,682)
(349,966)

4,611,220

1,634,702

Actuarial difference arises due to the change in interest rates and expected increase in salaries.
Additionally, actuarial difference is affected due to defined benefits paid to employees that quits before
retirement date contrary to the assumption made that employment end date is to be retirement date.
Actuarial difference is recognized in other comprehensive income.
Unused vacation provisions
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, detail of short-term employee benefit provision is as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Provision for unused vacation

2,145,317

646,574

Total

2,145,317

646,574

As at 31 December, movements of provision for unused vacation are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

646,574

605,368

Current year charge

1,498,743

41,206

31 December

2,145,317

646,574

1 January
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22.

OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other current assets comprised the following:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

24,303,158
6,567,930

72,180,835
7,155,795

30,871,088

79,336,630

Deferred value added tax (“VAT”)
Other

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other non-current assets comprised the following:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

133,927,391
24,386,861
7,115,699

138,447,846
24,386,861
3,451,623

165,429,951

166,286,330

Deferred value added tax (“VAT”)
Paintings
Other

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other short-term and long-term liabilities comprised the following:
Short-term

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

220,681,006

1,510,599

220,681,006

1,510,599

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

90,510,580

-

90,510,580

-

Accrued expenses (*)

Long-term
Accrued expenses (*)

(*)

Accrued expenses mainly consist of the remaining amounts to be paid for the Gölköy and Konya lands purchased by
the Group as of August and September respectively. The maturity of the payments are August 2023.

23.

SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS

Paid in capital
The Company's approved and issued capital consists of 4,590,175 (31 December 2020: 4,590,175)
shares each with a registered face value of TRY100.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 paid in capital comprised the following:
Shareholders

%

31 December 2021

%

31 December 2020

Erden Timur
Musa Timur

99
1

456,380,675
2,619,500

99
1

456,380,675
2,619,500

100

459,000,175

100

459,000,175
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23.

SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued)

Paid in capital (Continued)
In 27 July 2018, on the Gorup’s extraordinary general meeting; The Group has decided to increase its
capital from TRY 52,390,000 to TRY 459,000,174.63 and has decided to amend by unanimous vote the
sixth item related to the company’s articles of association. TRY406,610,174.63 The entire capital has
been paid in the same way by recording them in the legal books of our Company over the current values
of the real estates belonging to Erden Timur. That capital in-kind has been approved by the Kaman Civil
Court of First Instance dated 25 July 2018 and by 2018/291 numbered justified decision. In
3 August 2018, capital related item of articles of association has been registered.
Restricted reserves allocated from profits
The legal reserves comprised first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish
Commercial Code. The code stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits
at the rate of 5 percentage per annum, until the total reserve reaches 20 percentage of the Company’s
paid-in share capital. In case of a profit distribution in accordance with statutory records, second level
legal reserves are set aside by rate of 1/11 for all cash distribution exceeding 5 percentage of the share
capital. The legal reserves can be used only to offset losses and are not available for any other usage
unless they exceed 50 percentage of paid-in-capital. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s legal reserves
amounted to TRY1,270,323 (31 December 2020: TRY 720,323).
Other comprehensive gains or losses non-classified as income or expense
As a result of the adoption of IAS 19, all actuarial differences are recognized immediately in other
comprehensive income.
Defined benefit pension plan remeasurement gain/loss
As at 31 December 2021, remeasurement of benefit pension plan/loss comprise actuarial gains or losses
that have been accounted as other comprehensive income regarding provision for employee termination
benefits amounted TRY1,688,358 (31 December 2020: 465,374).
Additional Capital Contributions from Shareholders
Within the scope of the “General Communiqué Serial No: 1 on Bringing Certain Assets to the
Economy”, the cash amounts belong to Erden Timur and the lands located in Eskişehir and Balıkesir,
which also belong to Erden Timur, are included in the Group's assets. The assets are mainly consist of
cash amounting to TRY111,309,870, land amounting to TRY433,812,518 and write-off payable
amounting to TRY80,000,000.
Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling share in the net assets and results of subsidiaries for the year are separately classified
as “non-controlling interest” in the consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated
statements of profit or loss. As at 31 December 2021 the amount of TRY558,587,348 is classified as
“non-controlling interest” in statement of financial position (31 December 2020: TRY (17,204,410)).
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24.

REVENUE AND COST OF SALES
1 January 31 December 2021

1 January 31 December 2020

Residence and office sales (*)
Land sales (**)
Rent income
Other revenue
Sales returns (-)

1,404,796,278
34,421,667
9,652,189
5,283,907
(7,657,617)

1,009,695,093
6,676,308
6,451,350
-

Revenue

1,446,496,424

1,022,822,751

(1,084,449,155)

(885,469,788)

Cost of sales (-)
Gross profit

362,047,269

137,352,963

(*)

As of 31 December 2021, the income from the residential and office sales consists of Yalıkavak, Nef
İnistanbul, Nef 22 Ataköy and Nef 09 4 Levent projects (In 2020, a significant portion of the revenues from
the sales of residential and office units consist of Nef İnistanbul, Nef 22 Ataköy projects).

(**)

Land sales consist of sales revenues of the newly established Nef Arsa brand. In this context, land sales
mainly consist of Nef City 82, Nef Eskişehir and Nef Balıkesir.

25.

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE SELLING AND MARKET EXPENSES
31 December 2021

Selling and marketing expenses
General administrative expenses

31 December 2020

(90,876,781)
(66,156,068)

(51,492,907)
(31,284,860)

(157,032,849)

(82,777,767)

General administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
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25.

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE SELLING AND MARKET EXPENSES (Continued)

General administrative expenses
General administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021
Taxes, duties and charges
Personnel expenses
Consulting expenses
Rent expenses
Amortization and depreciation expenses
Travelling and accommodation expenses
Maintenance and repair expenses
Fuel, energy and water expenses
Hosting expenses
Communication and stationery expenses
Insurance expenses
Post, cargo, dispatch and transport expenses
Other

31 December 2020

(24,106,786)
(17,306,834)
(12,883,108)
(2,150,532)
(1,593,316)
(520,909)
(498,233)
(438,582)
(384,562)
(371,568)
(216,539)
(133,014)
(5,552,085)

(5,217,448)
(5,317,425)
(1,878,100)
(1,875,446)
(14,174,561)
(266,657)
(163,457)
(456,213)
(136,567)
(322,924)
(220,842)
(83,316)
(1,171,904)

(66,156,068)

(31,284,860)

Sales and marketing expenses
Sales and marketing expenses for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021

Agency services and commission expenses
Advertising, promotion and exhibition expenses
Personnel expenses
Rent expenses
Communication and stationery expenses
Consulting expenses
Maintenance and repair expenses
Hosting expenses
Taxes, duties and charges
Other
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31 December 2020

(40,829,665)
(35,767,799)
(4,497,094)
(3,561,366)
(1,195,354)
(934,717)
(869,345)
(736,283)
(415,984)
(2,069,174)

(17,268,345)
(16,554,323)
(3,107,995)
(2,077,294)
(484,508)
(375,692)
(857,616)
(8,383,977)
(117,237)
(2,265,920)

(90,876,781)

(51,492,907)
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26.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses by nature for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021
Cost of residential units and offices sold
Agency services and commission expenses
Advertising, promotion and exhibition expenses
Taxes, duties and charges
Personnel expenses
Consulting expenses
Cost of land sold
Rent expenses
Amortization and depreciation expense
Communication and stationery expenses
Maintenance expenses
Hosting expenses
Travelling and accommodation expenses
Fuel, energy and water expenses
Insurance expenses
Post, cargo, dispatch and transport expenses
Other

27.

31 December 2020

(1,072,947,513)
(40,829,665)
(35,767,799)
(24,522,770)
(21,803,928)
(13,817,825)
(11,501,642)
(5,711,898)
(1,593,316)
(1,566,922)
(1,367,578)
(1,120,845)
(520,909)
(438,582)
(216,539)
(133,014)
(7,621,259)

(885,469,788)
(17,268,345)
(16,554,323)
(5,334,685)
(8,425,420)
(2,253,792)
(3,952,740)
(14,174,561)
(807,432)
(1,021,073)
(8,520,544)
(266,657)
(456,213)
(220,842)
(83,316)
(3,437,824)

(1,241,482,004)

(968,247,555)

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Other operating income
Other operating incomes for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Increase in value on investment properties (Note 13)
Contract revision income
SGK discounts and gains
Other
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31 December 2020

3,403,339,691
37,392,895
2,802,071
6,216,441

219,120,451
513,945
19,536,314

3,449,751,098

239,170,710
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27.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES (Continued)

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Exchange difference expenses, net
(115,581,956)
After sales expenses
(19,685,325)
Doubtful trade receivable and other allowance expense (Note 10)
(6,777,619)
Non - deductible VAT
Other
(15,140,675)

(83,628,167)
(10,803,590)
(1,688,966)
(2,572,002)
(8,474,227)

(157,185,575)

(107,166,952)

28.

INCOME FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Income from investing activities for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Sales of fixed asset
Interest income from deposits

29.

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

16,557,690
-

3,164,584

16,557,690

3,164,584

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Financial income
Financial income for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Interest income
Other
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31 December 2021

31 December 2020

13,620,723
2,844,652

13,071,528
1,716,954

16,465,375

14,788,482
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29.

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES (Continued)

Financial expenses
Financial expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021
Interest expenses
Foreign exchange difference expenses
Loan issue and other various expenses
Other

30.

31 December 2020

(180,207,150)
(18,875,372)
(6,758,982)
-

(243,523,787)
(314,407,552)
(10,888,517)
(2,006,982)

(205,841,504)

(570,826,838)

TAXATION (DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED)

Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiaries to file a consolidated tax
return. Therefore, tax liabilities, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, have been
calculated on a separate-entity basis.
The corporation tax rate is 25% in Turkey (December 31, 2020: 22%). Corporation tax rate is applied
to net income of the companies after adjusting for certain disallowable expenses, exempt income and
allowances.
The law on amending the Tax Procedure Law and the Corporate Tax Law was enacted on January 20,
2022, It has been enacted with the number 7352 and it has been decided that the financial statements
will not be subject to inflation adjustment in the 2021 and 2022 accounting periods, including the
temporary accounting periods, and in the provisional tax periods of the 2023 accounting period,
regardless of whether the conditions for the inflation adjustment within the scope of the repeated Article
298 are met. POA made a declaration on the Implementation of Financial Reporting in High Inflation
Economies under IFRS on January 20, 2022, and it was stated that there was no need to make any
adjustments within the scope of IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies in the
consolidated financial statements for 2021.
Transfer pricing
The transfer pricing provisions are set out under the Article 13 of the Corporate Tax Law under the
heading of “disguised profit distribution via transfer pricing”. The General Communiqué on disguised
profit distribution via transfer pricing dated 18 November 2007 sets out details about the implementation
of these provisions. If a taxpayer enters into transactions regarding the sale or purchase of goods and
services with related parties, where the prices are not set in accordance with an arm’s-length basis, the
related profits are considered to be distributed in a disguised manner through transfer pricing. Such
disguised profit distributions through transfer pricing are not accepted as a deduction for corporate tax
purposes.
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30.

TAXATION (DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) (Continued)

Current year taxes for year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021
Corporate tax
Prepaid tax and funds

31 December 2020

(1,220,248)
344,274

-

(875,974)

-

Details of the current year tax expense for year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Corporate tax expense
Deferred tax expense

(288,673)
(711,488,158)

(931,575)
74,634,875

Tax expense recognized in (loss)/profit

(711,776,831)

73,703,300

Deferred tax recognized in other comprehensive income

538,433

(177,921)

(711,238,398)

73,525,379

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, deferred tax income recognized in other comprehensive income is
comprised of actuarial losses.
The movement of deferred tax income/(expense) for year is as follows:

1 January
2021

Inventories
Current year loss
Advance payments
Financial Liabilities
Trade Receivables
Provision for unused vacation
Provision for severance pay
Other temporary differences
Trade Payables
Financial investment
Tangible assets and Intangible
assets
Investment Property
Tax assets / (liabilities)

Current
period
deferred tax
expense

Foreign
currency
conversion
effect

Part of the
comprehensive
income
statement

31 December
2021

233,321,596
106,362,265
5,193,857
93,438,810
2,951,483
142,246
359,634
892,775
10,879
401,171

9,152,153
(85,487,914)
29,890,791
(67,655,428)
(1,525,502)
286,817
24,177
(1,480,629)
-

-

538,433
-

242,473,749
20,874,351
35,084,648
25,783,382
1,425,981
429,063
922,244
(587,854)
10,879
401,171

(60,847,536)
(361,509,099)

85,975,315
(680,667,938)

-

-

25,127,779
(1,042,177,037)

20,718,081

(711,488,158)

538,433

(690,231,644)
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30.

TAXATION (DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES INCLUDED) (Continued)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The reported taxation charges for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is different than the
amounts computed by applying statutory tax rate to profit before tax as shown in the following
reconciliation:
Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

2021

2020

Profit for the year
Total tax expense

2,612,941,022
711,776,831

(292,598,447)
(73,703,300)

Profit before tax

3,324,717,853

(366,301,747)

Tax expense using the Company’s
domestic tax rate
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of taxes that are subject to tax exemption
Tax rate change effect
Unused tax losses not recognized as deferred tax asset
Change in previous year losses
Other

(831,179,463)
(50,865,998)
24,807,821
194,799,442
(47,504,599)
(1,834,034)

80,586,384
(5,043,193)
2,288,632
(2,690,283)
(1,438,240)

Tax expense

(711,776,831)

73,703,300

31.

EARNING PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year to the weighted average shares of the
Company. For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the calculation of earnings per share is as
follows:

The average number of shares that are available
throughout the period (full value)
Net profit for the year, attributable to the
owners of the Company (TRY)
Earnings per share (TRY)

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

4,590,002

4,590,002

1,662,492,095

(285,698,084)

362,20
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group may be exposed to the following risks, depending on the usage of financial instruments:




Credit Risk
Liquidity Risk
Market Risk

The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the volatility of financial markets and
minimizing the effects of potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group
makes limited use of derivative financial instruments from time to time in order to protect itself from
various risks it is exposed to.
Financial risk management is implemented by the Group within the framework of policies approved by
its Board of Directors within the general principles determined by the Group.
Credit Risk
Financial losses due to the Group’s receivables and financial assets which result from not implementing
agreement clauses related to financial assets by a customer or other party constitutes credit risk. The risk
controlled by the Group as counterparty credit ratings and credit limits are primarily determined by the
method of limiting the total risk from the one opposite side.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is as follow:

31 December 2021
Maximum credit risk exposed (A+B+C+D)
- Guaranteed portion of the maximum risk
A. Carrying amount of financial assets not
overdue or not impaired
B. Carrying amount of financial assets overdue but
not impaired (***)
C. Carrying amount of assets impaired
- Overdue (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
- Not past due (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Off balance sheet items with credit risk

Receivables
Trade Receivables
Other Receivables
Releated
Third
Related
Third
parties
parties
parties
parties

Financial
investments

Other

4,333,111
-

1,517,307,799
-

98,323,131
-

191,840,821
-

179,142,083
-

240
-

525
-

4,333,111

1,107,514,037

98,323,131

191,840,821

179,142,083

240

525

-

409,793,762

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,418,398
(12,418,398)
-

-

-

-

-

-

Receivables
Trade
Other
Receivables
Receivables
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 1-3 months
Past due 3-12 months
Past due 1-5 years
Past due more than 5 years

Deposits at
banks (**)

16,772,417
23,303,366
124,448,955
165,427,078
92,260,344
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Deposits at
bank

Derivative
instruments

Other

-

-

-

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM
ANONİM ŞİRKETİ AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

31 December 2020
Maximum credit risk exposed (A+B+C+D)
- Guaranteed portion of the maximum risk
A.Carrying amount of financial assets not
overdue or not impaired
B.Carrying amount of financial assets overdue but
not impaired (***)
C.Carrying amount of assets impaired
- Overdue (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
- Not past due (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
D. Off balance sheet items with credit risk

Receivables
Trade Receivables
Other Receivables
Releated
Third
Related
Third
parties
parties
parties
parties

Deposits at
banks (**)

3,246,758
-

705,952,537
-

72,776,238
-

118,272,897
-

31,150,968
-

240
-

765
-

3,246,758

144,573,868

72,776,238

118,272,897

31,150,968

240

765

-

-

-

-

-

-

561,378,669
5,640,779
(5,640,779)
-

Receivables
Trade
Other
Receivables
Receivables
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 1-3 months
Past due 3-12 months
Past due 1-5 years
Past due more than 5 years

402,740,313
110,589,584
53,583,024
106,527
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-

Financial
investments

Other

Deposits at
bank

Derivative
instruments

Other

-

-

-
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment
2021

2020

Balance at 1 January
Provisions during the year
Reversal

5,640,779
6,777,619
-

3,951,813
1,688,966
-

Balance at 31 December

12,418,398

5,640,779

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has reviewed the receivables and recognized impairment loss for
trade receivables which are not made subject to any legal follow up but considered as doubtful and are
not certain whether collectable or not. The Group has not recognized impairment loss for receivables
which is past due but considered as collectable since such of receivables are arisen from the sales of
residences which have not yet been delivered to the customers.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s
approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or damaging the Group’s reputation.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts and contractual cash flows of financial
liabilities are as follows;
2021
Contractual
Maturities
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade payables to
related parties
Trade payables to third
parties
Other payables to related
parties
Other payables to third
parties
Total
2020
Contractual
Maturities
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade payables to
related parties
Trade payables to third
parties
Other payables to related
parties
Other payables to third
parties
Total

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flow

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1,946,352,171

(2,263,913,689)

(165,716,338)

3,775,569

(3,775,569)

(3,775,569)

-

746,368,135

(746,368,135)

(723,519,717)

-

215,548,390

(215,548,390)

(215,548,390)

-

212,984,116

(212,984,116)

(142,066,054)

-

3,125,028,381

(3,442,589,899)

(1,250,626,068)

Carrying
amount

(203,192,204)

(203,192,204)

Contractual
cash flow

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1,839,848,195

(1,967,602,643)

(20,838,849)

2,566,670

(2,566,670)

(2,566,670)

-

640,198,360

(640,198,360)

(485,822,015)

-

(77,621,164)

60,926,224

(60,926,224)

(60,926,224)

-

387,334,092

(387,334,092)

(108,525,904)

-

2,930,873,541

(3,058,627,989)

(678,679,662)

67

(77,621,164)

1 to 5
years

(1,895,005,147)
(22,848,418)
-

More than
5 years

-

(70,918,062)

-

(1,988,771,627)

-

1 to 5
years

(1,599,963,917)
(154,376,345)
-

More than
5 years

(269,178,713)
-

(278,808,188)

-

(2,033,148,450)

(269,178,713)
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices - such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices - will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return.
(i)

Currency Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk through the impact of rate changes on the translation of foreign
currency denominated payables and bank borrowings from financial institutions. Currency risk is
managed with the regular meetings hold by the board of directors. The Group manages currency risk by
keeping assets denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases that are denominated in a currency, mostly in
USD, other than the respective functional currency of the Group entities.
The Group’s functional currency is TRY, exchange rate fluctuations in TRY against foreign currencies
affects the items presented in the financial statements which are denominated in currencies other than
TRY.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i)

Currency Risk (Continued)
31 December 2021

1. Trade receivables
Monetary financial assets (Cash and banks
accounts included)
Non-monetary financial assets
Other
Current assets (1+2+3)
Trade receivables
Monetary financial assets
Non-monetary financial assets
Other
Non-current assets (5+6+7)
Total assets (4+8)
Trade payables
Financial liabilities
Monetary other liabilities
Non - Monetary other liabilities
Short-term liabilities (10+11+12)
Trade payables
Financial liabilities
Monetary other liabilities
Non - Monetary other liabilities
Long-term liabilities (14+15+16)
Total liabilities (13+17)
Net asset/(liability) position of off balance
sheet derivative instruments (19a-19b)
a. Total asset amount hedged
19b. Total liability amount hedged
Net foreign currency asset/(liability)
position (9-18+19)
Net asset/(liability) position of foreign currency
monetary
items (IFRS 7.B23)
(=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a)
Fair value of FX swap financial instruments
Swap financial
instruments
Export
Import

TRY
Equivalent

USD

79,817,942

6,062,240

104,746,984
184,564,926
184,564,926
(77,187,110)
(133,402,775)
(39,748,234)
(250,338,119)
(201,495,941)
(201,495,941)
(451,834,060)

4,931,165
10,993,405
10,993,405
(123,404)
(2,022,762)
(2,146,166)
(2,146,166)

-

-

31 December 2020
Other

TRY
Equivalent

-

-

-

429
429
429
-

-

EUR

TRY

78,000
2,775,130
2,853,130
2,853,130
(5,148,079)
(9,085,959)
(919,328)
(15,153,365)
(13,723,731)
(13,723,731)
(28,877,096)
-

USD

EUR

TRY

Other

50,547,323

6,716,740

138,000

-

-

-

95,576,615
146,123,939
5,836,895
5,836,895
151,960,834
(55,386,660)
(97,116,548)
(19,205,191)
(171,708,399)
(203,469,407)
(34,867,375)
(238,336,782)
(410,045,181)
-

11,800,602
18,517,343
301,077
301,077
18,818,420
(6,126,610)
(930,590)
(7,057,200)
(4,750,000)
(4,750,000)
(11,807,200)
-

990,712
1,128,712
402,629
402,629
1,531,341
(1,156,128)
(10,781,264)
(1,372,910)
(13,310,302)
(22,587,885)
(22,587,885)
(35,898,186)
-

-

3,023
3,023
3,023
(720)
(720)
(720)
-

(267,269,134)

8,847,239

(26,023,966)

-

429

(258,084,347)

7,011,220

(34,366,846)

-

2,303

(267,269,134)

8,847,239

(26,023,966)

-

429

(258,084,347)

7,011,220

(34,366,846)

-

2,303

-

-

-

-

-

-
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i)

Currency Risk (Continued)

Sensitivity Analysis
Currency risk sensitivity analysis table

31 December 2021

Profit/Loss
Strengthening of
Weakening of
foreign currency
foreign currency

Change in USD against
TRY by 10 percentage
USD net asset/liability
Hedged portion of USD risk (-)
USD net effect (1+2)
Change in Euro against
TRY by 10 percentage
Euro net asset/liability
Hedged portion of Euro risk (-)
Euro net effect Euro net effect (4+5)
Change in other foreign currencies
against TRY by 10 percentage
Other foreign currency net asset/liability
Hedged portion of other foreign currency (-)
Other foreign currency net effect (7+8)
TOTAL (3+6+9)

31 December 2020

Equity
Strengthening of
Weakening of
foreign currency
foreign currency

22,963,010
22,963,010

(22,963,010)
(22,963,010)

-

-

(76,418,336)
(76,418,336)

76,418,336
76,418,336

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,499
1,499

(1,499)
(1,499)

(53,453,827)

53,453,827

Profit/Loss
Strengthening of
Weakening of
foreign currency
foreign currency

Equity
Strengthening of
Weakening of
foreign currency
foreign currency

Change in USD against
TRY by 10 percentage
USD net asset/liability
Hedged portion of USD risk (-)
USD net effect (1+2)

10,293,172
10,293,172

(10,293,172)
(10,293,172)

-

-

Change in Euro against
TRY by 10 percentage
Euro net asset/liability
Hedged portion of Euro risk (-)
6- Euro net effect (4+5)

(61,914,622)
(61,914,622)

61,914,622
(61,914,622)

-

-

(4,580)
4,580

-

-

-

-

Change in other foreign currencies
against TRY by 10 percentage
Other foreign currency net asset/liability
Hedged portion of other foreign currency (-)
Other foreign currency net effect (7+8)
TOTAL (3+6+9)

4,580
4,580
(51,616,869)
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

There is no interest rate risk since the Group’s assets and liabilities do not include a significant amount
of variable rate instruments.
Capital risk management
For capital management, the Group aims to provide sustainability of the operations, and to increase the
profit by using debt/equity ratio efficiently. The capital structure of the Group consists of the debts
including the borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, paid in capital and equity accounts including
reserves and prior years’ profits.
The Board of Directors monitors the return of the net operating income on capital.
The Group monitors its capital with total financial debt / total equity ratio. This ratio is defined as total
debt divided by total capital. Total financial debt includes short and long-term financial debts and total
equity includes shareholders’ equity in statement of financial position.
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s financial debt / equity ratio comprised the following:
2021

2020

Total financial liabilities
Less: cash and cash equivalents

1,946,352,171
180,000,327

1,839,848,195
31,483,153

Net financial debt

1,766,351,844

1,808,365,042

Total equity

3,297,691,554

231,894,609

53.56%

%779.82

Net financial debt/total equity ratio

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE STATEMENTS AND STATEMENTS
REGARDING FINANCIAL RISK PROTECTION ACCOUNTING)

Financial Instruments
Fair value information
The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined by the Group using available market
information and appropriate valuation methodologies In the statement of financial position, since the
carrying amount of monetary items are close to their fair values these items denominated in foreign
currencies are translated to TRY using the year end spot exchange rates. The carrying amounts of shortterm financial assets and liabilities are considered as a reasonable approximation of fair values.
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34.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group had started the leasing activities for Nakkaştepe project which is currently accounted under
inventory. In this context, the Group has received an appraisal report from TSKB Gayrimenkul
Değerleme A.Ş. and the fair value of the relevant independent units has been determined as
TRY527.000,000 as of 18 February 2022.

…………..
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ASSETS

Notes

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

5
6
7

20,792,689
10,689,699
240
661,150,525
3,246,758
657,903,767
191,049,135
72,776,238
118,272,897
1,466,976,849
467,410,865
92,116
79,336,630

20,925,248
25,021,510
33,532,962
555,625,320
2,332,886
553,292,434
151,520,835
84,747,232
66,773,603
1,762,537,855
325,653,634
2,022,949
57,335,065

2,897,498,748

2,934,175,378

525
48,048,770
48,048,770
677,781,686
1,886,840
340,150,002
207,906,284
571,559,589
28,716,585
1,069,607,897
166,286,330

525
96,359,207
96,359,207
382,663,963
1,893,768
295,003,141
158,917,919
476,255,066
46,424,164
843,355,207
121,080,973

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

3,111,944,508

2,421,953,933

TOTAL ASSETS

6,009,443,256

5,356,129,311

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash reserved for projects
Financial investments
Trade receivables
- Trade receivables from related parties
- Trade receivables from third parties
Other receivables
- Other receivables from related parties
- Other receivables from third parties
Inventories
Prepayments
Current tax assets
Other current assets

9
10
9
12
14
16
22

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial investments
Trade receivables
- Trade receivables from third parties
Inventories
Equity-accounted investees
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Prepayments
Deferred tax assets
Investment properties
Other non-current assets

7
10
14
15
17
18
16
30
13
22

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Short-term portion of long-term loans and borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Trade payables
- Trade payables to related parties
- Trade payables to third parties
Payables related to employee benefits
Other payables
- Other payables to related parties
- Other payables to third parties
Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Short-term provisions
- Short-term provision for
employee benefits
- Other short-term provisions
Other current liabilities

Notes

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

8
8

35,112,879
142,687,105
85,031
488,388,685
2,566,670
485,822,015
896,976
313,855,309
60,926,224
252,929,085
1,655,922,826
699,919

212,820,666
426,944,854
461,078
141,956,074
2,146,319
139,809,755
833,346
192,014,528
77,143,298
114,871,230
1,527,338,384
662,736

646,574
53,345
1,510,599

605,368
57,368
2,176,680

2,639,159,329

2,505,208,346

1,662,048,211
154,376,345
154,376,345
299,544,371
299,544,371
1,012,787,185
1,634,702

671,074,249
145,330,208
145,330,208
239,848,582
239,848,582
1,257,420,167
1,061,649

1,634,702
7,998,504

1,061,649
68,375,241

3,138,389,318

2,383,110,096

23

249,099,019
459,000,175

478,114,916
459,000,175

23

(45,770,246)

(45,770,246)

9
10
11
9
12
16
30

19
19
22

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade payables
- Trade payables to third parties
Other payables
- Other payables to third parties
Deferred revenue
Long-term provisions
- Long-term provisions for
employee benefits
Deferred tax liability

8
10
12
16

21
30

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company
Paid-in capital
Effect of business combination under
common control
Other comprehensive income items that will be
never reclassified to profit or loss
- Actuarial loss arising from employee benefits
Other comprehensive income that are or may be reclassified
to profit or loss
- Foreign currency translation reserve
Restricted reserves allocated from profits
Retained earnings
Loss for the year

465,374
465,374

(246,308)
(246,308)

157,604,048
157,604,048
720,323
(37,222,571)
(285,698,084)

101,633,543
101,633,543
720,323
139,295,699
(176,518,270)

Non-controlling interest

(17,204,410)

(10,304,047)

TOTAL EQUITY

231,894,609

467,810,869

6,009,443,256

5,356,129,311

23

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes
PROFIT/(LOSS)
Revenue
Cost of sales (-)

24
24

GROSS PROFIT

1 January 31 December 2020

1,022,822,751
(885,469,788)

1 January 31 December 2019

326,573,069
(322,524,676)

137,352,963

General administrative expenses (-)
Marketing and sales expenses (-)
Other operating income
Other operating expenses (-)

25
25
27
27

OPERATING LOSS
Income from investing activities
Income / (Loss) on equity-accounted
investees

28
15

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE FINANCE EXPENSES
Financial income
Financial expenses (-)

29
29

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Tax expense
Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense

30

Profit from Continuing Operations for the Year
LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Loss per share

4,048,393

(31,284,860)
(51,492,907)
239,170,710
(107,166,952)

(29,886,383)
(46,772,632)
41,584,598
(112,616,837)

186,578,954

(143,642,861)

3,164,584

23,003,130

(6,929)

(2,993)

189,736,609

(120,642,724)

14,788,482
(570,826,838)

5,980,882
(129,591,742)

(366,301,747)

(244,253,584)

73,703,300
(931,575)
74,634,875

54,898,566
54,898,566

(292,598,447)

(189,355,018)

(0,6224)

(336.93)

Profit attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of the Company

(6,900,363)
(285,698,084)

(12,836,748)
(176,518,270)

Profit for the year

(292,598,447)

(189,355,018)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Notes

1 January 31 December 2020

1 January 31 December 2019

711,682
889,603

258,571
323,214

(177,921)

(64,643)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial loss arising from employee benefits
Tax effect of actuarial loss arising
from employee benefits
- Deferred tax expense
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences

55,970,505
55,970,505

20,593,628
20,593,628

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

56,682,187

20,852,199

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(235,916,260)

(168,502,819)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of the Company

(6,900,363)
(229,015,897)

(12,836,748)
(155,666,071)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(235,916,260)

(168,502,819)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)
Items that will
Never be
Reclassified to
Profit or loss in
subsequent
periods

Paid
Capital
459,000,175

(504,879)

81,039,915

720,323

-

-

258,571

20,593,628

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(246,308)

101,633,543

720,323

-

(246,308)

101,633,543

720,323

-

-

711,682
-

55,970,505
-

-

-

459,000,175

465,374

157,604,048

720,323

-

Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income
Increase due to changes in
Subsidiaries without loss of control
Transfers
31 December 2019

459,000,175

1 January 2020

459,000,175

Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income
Transfers

-

Foreign
Restricted
currency
reserves
translation allocated from
profits
profits

Effect of business
combination
under
Other
common
reserves
control

Acturial loss
Arising from
employee
benefits

1 January 2019

31 December 2020

Items that are
or may be
reclassified to
profit or loss in
subsequent
periods

(45,770,246)

Retained earnings

Retained
earnings

Profit
fot the year

Non-controling
interest

Total
equity
693,991,514

344,893,028

(156,909,189)

682,469,127

11,522,387

-

(176,518,270)
-

(176,518,270)
20,852,199

(12,836,748)
-

(189,355,018)
20,852,199

(48,688,140)
(156,909,189)

156,909,189

(48,688,140)
-

(8,989,686)
-

(57,677,826)
-

(45,770,246)

139,295,699

(176,518,270)

478,114,916

(10,304,047)

467,810,869

(45,770,246)

139,295,699

(176,518,270)

478,114,916

(10,304,047)

467,810,869

(176,518,270)

(285,698,084)
176,518,270

(285,698,084)
56,682,187
-

(6,900,363)
-

(292,598,447)
56,682,187
-

(37,222,571)

(285,698,084)

249,099,019

(17,204,410)

231,894,609

(45,770,246)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Eqity attributable
to owners
of the
company

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Notes
A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year

1 January 31 December 2020

1 January 31 December 2019

84,374,357

77,925,864

(292,598,447)

(189,355,018)

Adjustments to reconcile net profit to cash provided by operating activities

309,880,152

Adjustments to depreciation and amortization
17,18
Adjustments related to provisions
Adjustments related to fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties
13
Adjustments related to other provisions (reversals)
Adjustments related to reconcile profit or loss
Adjustments related to interest income and expenses
28,29
Profit from sales of investment valued bu equity method
Adjustments related to fair value of financial investments
Adjustments to profit share of equity-accounted investees
Adjustments to income tax expense
30
Adjustments related to losses/(gains) from sale of tangible assets
17
Adjustments related to losses/(gains) from sale of investment properties
13
Adjustments to foreign currency translation reserve
Adjustments related with unrealized foreign exchange differences

14,174,561
573,053
(219,120,451)
37,182
2,081,862
230,452,259
6,929
(73,703,300)
55,970,505
299,407,552

8,542,867
120,524
(20,220,563)
777,831
1,270,291
69,824,895
2,993
(54,898,566)
20,593,628
29,695,924

67,442,618

211,571,058

Changes in net working capital
Adjustments related to increase in trade receivables
Adjustments related to increase in trade payables
Adjustments related to increase in inventories
Decrease/(Increase) in prepaid expenses
Increase in deferred revenue
Adjustments related to (decrease) / increase in other receivables
from operating activities
Adjustments related to increase / (decrease) in other payables
from operating activities
Cash used in operating activities
Employee benefits paid
Tax paid

(57,214,768)
355,478,748
443,283
(237,061,754)
(116,048,540)

225,804,729
245,787,804
(221,030,823)
(175,391,717)
192,532,745

(90,472,579)

1,226,197

212,318,228

(57,357,877)

84,724,323

77,925,864

(349,966)
-

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6

55,709,824

-

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

Notes
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Cash outflow from acquisition of properties and equipment and
- intangible assets
Interest received
Cash inflow from sale of tangible assets
Cash inflow from sale of investment properties
Cash outflow from acquisition of investment properties
Financial Investments

17,18

13
13

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Interest paid
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayments of loans and borrowings
DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BEFORE
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION EFFECT
Foreign Currency Translation Effect On Cash
And Cash Equivalents

1 January 31 December 2020

1 January 31 December 2019

(83,279,484)

(52,692,757)

(140,017,984)
30,338,017
(7,132,239)
33,532,722

(73,119,132)
4,542,613
10,500,000
(12,419,644)
17,803,406

(1,227,432)

(35,336,052)

13,071,528
(243,899,834)
298,635,411
(69,034,537)

4,921,852
(74,746,747)
211,336,221
(176,847,378)

(132,559)

(10,102,945)

-

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(132,559)

(10,102,945)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE PERIOD

5

20,925,248

31,028,193

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

5

20,792,689

20,925,248

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi (“Timur Gayrimenkul” or “the
Company”) was established as Şen Timur Gümrükleme ve Dış Ticaret Limited Şirketi in 1992 in Turkey
to operate in custom brokerages and agency services. As at 12 April 2007, the Company changed its
operation and name as “Timur Gayrimenkul Geliştirme Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi. Main
operations of the Company are purchases, sales, and developments of real estates to operate in
construction sector in Turkey and abroad. The Company address is Esentepe Mh. Ali Kaya Sk. Apa Nef
Plaza No:3 Kat:5-6 34393 5işli/Istanbul.
As of 31 December 2020 the number of the employees of the Group is 254 (average 410) and 385
(average 358) as at 31 December 2019.
Consolidated financial statements of the Company comprise financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” and individually “Group company”), and Group’s shares in its
joint ventures as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 .
The subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020

Name of Subsidiary
Bebek Turizm ve
İnşaat Ticaret A.Ş.
(“Bebek Turizm”)
Ganj Yapı İnşaat A.Ş.
(“Ganj Yapı”)

31 December 2019

Principal
Activity

Place of
incorporation
and activity

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Construction and tourism

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

TT Gayrimenkul ve
Ticaret A.Ş. (“TT Gayrimenkul”)
Timur Şehircilik ve
Real estate development
Planlama A.Ş. (“Timur Şehircilik”)
Timur Beykoz 5
Gayrimenkul ve Tic. 80.00
A.Ş. (“Timur Beykoz 5”)

Real estate development

Turkey

80.00

100.00

80.00

100.00

Nef Gayrimenkul
Yapı ve Yatırım A.Ş.
(“Nef Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

25.00

100.00

25.00

100.00

Base Gayrimenkul
Turizm ve Ticaret A.Ş.
(“Base”)

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

BT Bahçelievler
Gayrimenkul ve Tic.
A.Ş. (“BT
Bahçelievler”)

Real estate development

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

TMR Gayrimenkul ve
Tic. A.Ş.
(“TMR Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

93.00

100.00

93.00

100.00
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Place of
incorporation
and activity

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Sadabad Kağıthane İnşaat ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“Sadabad Kağıthane”)

Turkey

71.43

100.00

71.43

100.00

Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi
(“Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı”)

Real estate development

Turkey

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Nef Aslanyapı Adi
Ortaklığı (“Nef
Aslanyapı”)

Real estate development

Turkey

70.00

70.00

70.00

70.00

Optimum Yaşam
Merkezi İnş. Ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“Optimum”)

Real estate development

Turkey

55.00

55.00

55.00

55.00

Principal
Activity

Name of Subsidiary

Bebek Turizm
In 2014, The Company acquired 100 percentage of the shares and voting interests in Bebek Turizm for
TRY 68,176,777 with the intention of developing projects on the land and commercial properties which
have been leased by Bebek Turizm from T.C. Başbakanlık Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü.
Ganj Yapı
In 2015, The Company has acquired 100 percentage of the shares and voting interests in Ganj Yapı for
TRY 12,500, which was established in 2013 in Istanbul with the intention of developing construction
projects, buying and selling of real estates.
TT Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul in 2015 to operate in construction sector through
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates.
Timur Şehircilik
In 2016, The Company acquired 100 percentage shares of Timur Şehircilik for a consideration of TRY
5,000,000 which was established in Istanbul in 2012 with the intention of developing construction
projects, buying and selling of real estates.
Timur Beykoz 5
Timur Beykoz 5 was established in Istanbul on 10 May 2016 to develop construction and contracting
projects and to purchase, construct and sell real estate.
Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Ticaret A.Ş.
Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı, was established in Istanbul on 19 December 2017 with the the intention of
developing student dorms, aparts etc. domestically and abroad, and developing construction of all kinds.
Nef EBRD, owns 100 percentage of Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Nef Gayrimenkul
On 18 February 2016, Timur Gayrimenkul acquired 25 percentage of the shares and voting interests of
the company that was founded as Nef Gayrimenkul Yönetim Hizme”eri ve Danışmanlığı Limited Şirketi
in 2011 from Timur Holding and following the acquisition on 22 April 2016 the trade name of newly
acquired company has changed to Nef Gayrimenkul Yapı ve Yatırım Anonim Şirketi.
Base
Base Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul in 2007 to invest in the tourism and real estate sectors.
With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 29 March 2016, shares of the Company corresponding
to the capital of TRY 500,000 were transferred to TMR Gayrimenkul for the consideration of USD
30,000,000.
BT Bahçelievler
BT Bahçelievler was established in Istanbul on 10 May 2016 with the intention of developing
construction and buying and selling of real estates.
TMR Gayrimenkul (*)
TMR Gayrimenkul was established in Istanbul on 11 February 2016 to operate in construction sector
through developing, selling and purchasing of real estates. The Company acquired 100 percent shares
of Base Gayrimenkul Turizm ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi (“Base Gayrimenkul”) on 30 March 2016.
Sadabad Kağıthane (*)
In 2016, the Company acquired 57.14 percentage shares of Sadabad Kağıthane for a consideration of
TRY 6,200,000 which was established in Istanbul with the intention of developing construction projects,
buying and selling of real estates.
Nef Aslanyapı
Nef Aslanyapı was established in Istanbul on 4 January 2017 with the intention of developing
construction and share the revenue on the land registered to the name of Termal Grup Turizm ve
Otelcilik San. Tic. A.Ş.
Optimum
The company acquired 55% share of Optimum, which was established in Istanbul in 2013, in order to
develop construction and contracting projects and to realize the purchase, construction and sale of real
estate.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

1.

COMPANY’S ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Continued)

Optimum (Continued)
The details of the Company’s joint ventures as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Principal
activity

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Effective
ownership
(%)

Voting
power
held
(%)

Timur Karlıtepe
Gayrimenkul ve
Yatırımları A.Ş.
(“HT Karlıtepe”)

Real estate development

Turkey

75.00

75.00

75.00

75.00

HT Gayrimenkul
Yatırım ve Tic. A.Ş.
(“HT Gayrimenkul”)

Real estate development

Turkey

50.00

50.00

50.00

50.00

Nef EBRD
Gayrimenkul
Geliştirme A.Ş.
(“Nef EBRD”)

Real estate development

Türkiye

65.00

65.00

65.00

65.00

Name of Joint Venture

Timur Karlıtepe was established in 2014 in Istanbul to operate in construction sector through
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates. Shares of Timur Karlıtepe were transferred on
25 October 2018.
On 26 December 2014, HT Gayrimenkul was established the name of H30 Solar Enerji Üretim Sanayi
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi and upon acquisition the name of H30 Solar Enerji Üretim Sanayi ve Ticaret
ANONIM ŞIRKETI has been changed to HT Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret ANONIM ŞIRKETI with the
resolution of General assembly dated 1 April 2015. Timur Gayrimenkul has acquired 50 percentage of
the shares for TRY 25,000 on 13 February 2015.
Nef EBRD, was established in Istanbul on 15 March 2017 to operate in construction sector by
developing, selling and purchasing of real estates.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements

a)

Preparation of financial statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Turkish Financial
Reporting Standards (“TFRS”) and TFRS Interpretations Committee (“TFRIC”) interpretations
applicable to companies reporting under TFRS.
The Company and its subsidiaries maintain their books of account and prepare their statutory financial
statements in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) based on the Turkish Commercial Code (“TCC”), tax legislation
and the Uniform Chart of Accounts issued by the Ministry of Finance. The consolidated financial
statements are prepared in TRY based on the statutory records, which are maintained under the historical
cost convention with adjustments and reclassifications for the purpose of fair presentation in accordance
with TFRS.
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TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.1

Basis of presentation of the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

b)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the
below. Investment properties were measured at fair value. The methods used to measure the fair values
are disclosed in Note 4.
c)

Functional and presentation currency

Except Bebek Turizm functional currencies of all entities included in consolidation are Turkish Lira
(“TRY”). Functional currencies of Bebek Turizm is Euro (“EUR”). The accompanying financial
statements are presented in TRY, which is the reporting currency of the Group.
2.2

Basis of consolidation

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of Timur Gayrimenkul and its subsidiaries.
The financial statements of the entities included in the consolidation have been prepared as at the date
of the consolidated financial statements.
a)

Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2020, the consolidated financial statements include the financial results of Timur
Gayrimenkul and its subsidiaries which are listed on Note 1. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases. When necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those
used by the Group. The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting
policies for similar transactions and events and are prepared with the same chart of accounts of the
Company.
Business Combinations under Common Control
With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 15 November 2016 The Company acquired the 100
percentage of the shares of Timur Şehircilik, a subsidiary of Timur Holding A.Ş. which was under the
control of the Company's shareholders, for the consideration of TRY 5,000,000 to be deducted against
the receivables of Timur Holding. With the decision of the Board of Directors dated 15 November 2016,
the Company acquired 57.15% shares of Sadabad Kağıthane, which was under the control of the
Company's shareholders, for a consideration of TRY 6.200,000 to be deducted against the shareholders’
receivables of the Company. The Group accounted for these acquisitions through the pooling of interest
method in accordance with "Resolution 2013-2 accounting for Business Combinations under Common
Control" issued by the Turkish Accounting Standards Board ("Turkish Accounting Standards Board")
and prepared financial statements as if the combination had taken place as of the beginning of the
reporting period. As a result of these transactions any goodwill or negative goodwill was not recognized,
instead, the difference between the purchase price and the Group’s share of net book values of Timur
Şehircilik and Sadabat Kağıthane are accounted under the “effects of common control transaction” in
the equity and the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016 presented comparatively
from the beginning of the reporting period in which the common control occurred.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

b)

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred
to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are
the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain
on a bargain purchase is recognized in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as
incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. The consideration transferred does
not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally
recognized in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then
it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, other contingent consideration is re-measured at fair value at each reporting date and
subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss. If
share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the
acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s
replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination.
This determination is based on the market-based measure of the replacement awards compared with the
market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate
to pre-combination service.
c)

Non – controlling interests (“NCI”)

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition. Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.
d)

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it de-recognizes the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is
lost.
e)

Interests in equity-accounted investees

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and a joint venture.
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint
control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets
and obligations for its liabilities.
Interests in associates and the joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially
recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted
investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

f)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees
are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence
of impairment.
2.3

Statement of compliance with TFRS

Accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with TFRS published by POA together
with the provisions of accordance with to CMB’s “Principles of Financial Reporting in Capital Market”
dated 13 June 2013 and published in the Official Gazette numbered 28676 Series II. No.14.1. TFRS
consist of standards and interpretations which are published as TAS, Turkish Financial Reporting
Standards, TAS interpretations and TFRS interpretations.
The accompanying financial statements are presented in accordance with the TAS Taxonomy issued by
POA and announcement regarding with formats of financial statements and notes issued by CMB
Among the companies subject to independent audit pursuant to the Turkish Commercial Code numbered
6102, those who do not have to apply IFRSs pursuant to the Board Decision on Turkish Accounting
System Application Scope of the POA, may optionally prepare their financial statements in accordance
with IFRS. In this context, the Group management preferred to prepare its financial statements dated
December 31, 2019 in accordance with IFRSs, as in the previous period financial statements.
Approval of financial statements:
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 were approved by the General
Assembly on 10 September 2021. The General Assembly has the right to amend the consolidated
financial statements after the publication of the consolidated financial statements.
2.4

New Standards and Amendments

a)

Standards, amendments and interpretations applicable as at 31 December 2020:



Amendments to TAS 1 and TAS 8 on the definition of material; effective from Annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These amendments to TAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial
statements’, and TAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and
consequential amendments to other TFRSs:
i)
ii)
iii)

use a consistent definition of materiality throughout TFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting;
clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and
incorporate some of the guidance in TAS 1 about immaterial information.

14

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4

New Standards and Amendments (Continued)



Amendments to TFRS 3 - definition of a business; effective from Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020. This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to
feedback received by the TASB, application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be
too complex, and it results in too many transactions qualifying as business combinations.



Amendments to TFRS 9, TAS 39 and TFRS 7 - Interest rate benchmark reform; effective
from Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. These amendments provide certain
reliefs in connection with interest rate benchmark reform. The reliefs relate to hedge accounting
and have the effect that IBOR reform should not generally cause hedge accounting to terminate.
However, any hedge ineffectiveness should continue to be recorded in the income statement.
Given the pervasive nature of hedges involving IBOR-based contracts, the reliefs will affect
companies in all industries.



Amendment to TFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – Covid-19 related rent concessions; effective from Annual
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic,
rent concessions have been granted to lessees. Such concessions might take a variety of forms,
including payment holidays and deferral of lease payments. On 28 May 2020, the TASB
published an amendment to TFRS 16 that provides an optional practical expedient for lessees
from assessing whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. Lessees
can elect to account for such rent concessions in the same way as they would if they were not
lease modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the concession as variable
lease payments in the period(s) in which the event or condition that triggers the reduced payment
occurs.

b)

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but not effective as at
31 December 2020:



TFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’; effective from annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023. This standard replaces TFRS 4, which currently permits a wide variety of
practices in accounting for insurance contracts. TFRS 17 will fundamentally change the
accounting by all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment contracts with
discretionary participation features



Amendments to TAS 1, Presentation of financial statements’ on classification of liabilities;
effective from 1 January 2022. These narrow-scope amendments to TAS 1, ‘Presentation of
financial statements’, clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current,
depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected
by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date (for example, the receipt of a
waiver or a breach of covenant). The amendment also clarifies what TAS 1 means when it refers
to the ‘settlement’ of a liability.
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2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2.4

New Standards and Amendments (Continued)



A number of narrow-scope amendments to TFRS 3, TAS 16, TAS 17 and some annual
improvements on TFRS 1, TFRS 9, TAS 41 and TFRS 16; effective from Annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
o

o

o

Amendments to TFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ update a reference in TFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting
requirements for business combinations. .
Amendments to TAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a company from
deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling
items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a
company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.
Amendments to TAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ specify
which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.



Amendments to TFRS 9, TMS 39, TFRS 7, TFRS 4 ve TFRS 16 - Indicative interest rate
reform Phase 2; Valid for annual reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2021. This
Phase 2 change addresses issues arising from the implementation of reforms, including the
replacement of a benchmark rate with an alternative.



Amendments to TFRS 17 and TFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”, postponing the
implementation of TFRS 9; Valid for annual reporting periods starting on or after January 1,
2021. These changes postpone the application date of TFRS 17 to 1 January 2023 for two years
and the fixed date of the temporary exemption in TFRS 4 for the application date of TFRS 9
Financial Instruments standard has been postponed to 1 January 2023.
The Group will evaluate the effects of the above changes on its operations and implement the
necessary ones.

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies explained below have been consistently applied by the Group in all periods
presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
a)

Joint ventures

The investor’s share of losses of an equity-accounted investee is recognized only until the carrying
amount of the investor's equity interest in the investee is reduced to zero. After the investor's interest is
reduced to zero, a liability is recognized only to the extent that the investor has an obligation to fund the
investee's operations or has made payments on behalf of the investee
b)

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
16

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

Foreign currency (Continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognized in profit or loss.
However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognised
in OCI:
•
•
•

Available-for-sale equity investments (except on impairment, in which case foreign currency
differences that have been recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss);
A financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent
that the hedge is effective; and
Qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective.

The annual changes in TRY / Euro and TRY / USD Dollar exchange rates are as follows at the end of
the reporting periods:

TRY/EUR
TRY/USD

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

9.0079
7.3405

6.6506
5.9402

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated into TRY at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses
of foreign operations are translated into TRY at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except
to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI. When a foreign operation is disposed of
in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains
control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the Group
disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint control,
the lrelevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
c)

Financial instruments

(i)

Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant
financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Classification and subsequent measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; FVOCI – debt
investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. A
financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:
-

It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. All financial assets not classified as measured
at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all
derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that
would otherwise arise.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
All financial assets that are not measured at the amortized cost specified above or by reflecting the fair
value difference to other comprehensive income are measured by reflecting the fair value difference to
profit or loss. These include all derivative financial assets. When financial assets are included in the
financial statements for the first time, the fair value difference of a financial asset is irreversibly
reversible to profit or loss, provided that it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
arising from the measurement of financial assets differently and the related gains or losses are included
in the financial statements differently. A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of
the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described
above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the
Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be
measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided
to management. The information considered includes:
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

•

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash flows through the
sale of the assets;
How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;
The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those risks are managed
How managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and the frequency, volume
and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations
about future sales activity.

•
•
•

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis are measured at FVTPL.
Financial assets held for trading or managed on the basis of fair value and whose performance is
evaluated on the basis of this basis, are classified as measured by reflecting the fair value difference to
profit or loss.
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash
flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers:
•
•
•
•
•

•

Contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
Prepayment and extension features; and
Terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).
A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract.
Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual per amount,
a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the
contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include
reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this
criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. However, see (v) for
derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Financial assets at Amortized cost: These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.
Debt investments at FVOCI: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
Equity investments at FVOCI: These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to
profit or loss.
(i)

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially
on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in
such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset
or liability.
Financial assets are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group
classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories; trade and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other receivables are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

c)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or
less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value.
(ii)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognizes non-derivative financial liabilities on the date when they are originated.
All other financial liabilities (including financial liabilities which are measured at fair value through
profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expire.
Financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and trade and other
payables to related parties.
(iii)

Share capital

Ordinary sharesi
The ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
d)

Property and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement

Property and equipment (“PE”) of the Group is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses:
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of selfconstructed assets includes:



The cost of materials and direct labor,
Any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended
use
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Property and equipment (Continued)

When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property and equipment.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of an item of property
and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying
amount of the asset) is recognised in “Income from investing activities” or “Expense from investing
activities” under profit or loss.
(ii)

Subsequent cost

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the Company.
(iii)

Depreciation

Items of property and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are available for use or, in
respect of self-constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment using the straightline basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is generally recognised in profit or loss, unless
the amount is included in the carrying amount of another asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.
In the current and prior periods, useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:
Description
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles
Leasehold improvements

Year
50
5-10
3-20
5
5-30

Leased assets are depreciated by the same method used for property and equipment over the shorter of
the lease term and their useful lives.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
e)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets of the Group consist of software programs and licenses acquired by the Group, which
have finite useful lives, and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
22

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e)

Intangible assets

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over their estimated useful lives,
from the date that they are available for use.
Useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:
Rights
Vakıflar rental agreement

3- 15 years
33 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
if appropriate.
f)

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment property is measured at fair value with any change therein
recognized in profit or loss.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The
cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended
use and capitalised borrowing costs.
Investment property under construction is measured at fair value. When the Group cannot reliably
measure the fair value of investment property under construction, it measures such investment property
at cost until construction is completed.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net
proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in other income and other
expenses.
The Group transfers a property from investment property to inventories or owner-occupied property
when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of development with a
view to sale. When the Group decides to dispose of an investment property without development, it
continues to treat the property as an investment property until it is derecognized. Similarly, if the Group
begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as investment property, the
property remains an investment property and is not reclassified as owner-occupied property during the
redevelopment.
For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property or inventories,
the property's deemed cost for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g)

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories consist of land
held for residential construction for sale and costs of ongoing residential construction on these land.
Cost of inventories includes all procurement costs, conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their existing location and condition. Such of land where the Group is developing real
estates are recognized as inventories in the consolidated financial statements. Borrowing costs incurred
are capitalized on inventories. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
h)

Impairment

(i)

Non-derivative Financial assets

Financial instruments and contract assets
The Group recognizes loss allowances for ECLs on.




Financial assets measured at amortized cost
Debt investments measured at FVOCI
Contract assets

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”)’s,
except for the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:


Other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring
over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information
The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 360 days past due.
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:



The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by
the Company to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
The financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12
months.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Company is exposed to credit risk.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Impairment (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit losses
The expected credit losses are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of
the financial instrument. In other words, they are credit losses measured at the present value of all cash
deficits (for example, the difference between the cash inflows to the business based on the contract and
the cash flows the business expects to collect.)
The cash deficit is the difference between the cash flows that must be made to the business according to
the contract and the cash flows the business expects to receive. Because expected credit losses take into
account the amount and timing of payments, a loan loss occurs even if the entity expects to receive the
full payment later than the contractual term.
The expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired . A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred:
•
•
•
•
•

The borrower or the issuer being in significant financial difficulty;
Breach of contract, such as debtor's default or financial instrument past due 90 days;
Restructuring a loan or advance depending on the conditions that the Group will not consider
otherwise.
It is possible for the borrower to go into bankruptcy or financial reorganization, or
The disappearance of an active market for a security due to financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets. For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is
recognized in OCI.
Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual customers,
the Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial asset is 180 days past
due based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets. For corporate customers, the Group
individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether
there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Impairment (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired only if there is evidence that it has been objectively
impaired by one or more events, happening after its initial recognition and if those effects can be reliably
measured on estimated future cash flows of that asset. Objective evidence that financial assets may be
impaired include default or delinquency of a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to conditions that
the Group would not consider otherwise, indicators that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse
changes in the payment conditions of borrowers or issuers or disappearance of an active market for a
financial asset. For the financial assets measured at amortised cost, an impairment loss is calculated as
the difference between an asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and
reflected in an allowance account. If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. In the subsequent term, if the
impairment loss decreases and the related decrease is objectively associated with a case (such as
improvement at the credit rate of the obligator) occurred after the impairment loss has been
recognized/accounted, the recognized impairment loss has been reversed directly or by using a provision
account. The reverse cannot cause carrying value of the related financial asset to be higher than the
amortized value which arise as at the date of the reversal of impairment if the impairment is not
recognized/accounted. The reversed amount is recognized/accounted in income statement. Impairment
losses for an investment equity that do not have a quoted market prices in active markets that are
measured at cost because fair value cannot be determined reliably are not reversed.
(ii)

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are estimated at same time every year. An
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs),
and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata
basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.
i)

Employee benefits

Severance indemnity
In accordance with the existing labour law in Turkey, the Group is required to make lump-sum payments
to employees who have completed one year of service and whose employment is terminated without
cause or who retire, are called up for military service. Severance pay liability is calculated by considering
estimated present value of the future probable obligation arising from the retirement of the employees.
It is computed and reflected in the consolidated financial statements on an accrual basis as it is earned
by serving employees. The computation of the liabilities is based upon the retirement pay ceiling
announced by the Government. As at 31 December 2019 and 2017 the ceiling amount applicable for
each year of employment is TRY 5,434 and 4,732 respectively.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Impairment (Continued)

In accordance with TAS, actuarial valuation methods required to be developed to estimate the entity’s
obligation under defined benefit plans. Principal actuarial assumptions used are:

Expected interest rate increase percentage %
Expected inflation percentage %

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

12.75
7.75

15.99
11.27

Short- term employee benefits
Short- term employee benefits are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
j)

Revenue

TFRS 15 requires revenue recognition for all contracts with customers to follow the five-step approach
to revenue recognition.
Step 1: Identifying the contract
A contract exists only if it is legally enforceable, the collection of the consideration is probable, the
rights to goods and services and payment terms can be identified, the contract has commercial substance;
and the contract is approved and the parties are committed to their obligations.
If either contracts were negotiated as a single commercial package, or consideration in one contract
depends on the other contract or goods or services (or some of the goods or services) are a single
performance obligation the Group accounts the contracts as a single contract.
Step 2: Identifying the performance obligations
The Group defines ‘performance obligation’ as a unit of account for revenue recognition. The Group
assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as:
(a)
(b)

A performance obligation either a good or service that is distinct
Or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern
of transfer to the customer.

A contract may contain promises to deliver a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same. At contract inception, an entity determines whether the series of goods or services is a single
performance obligation.
Step 3: Determining the transaction price
In order to determine the transaction price, the Group assesses how much consideration it expects to be
entitled to by fulfilling the contract. In arriving at the assessment, the Group considers variable elements
of consideration, as well as the existence of a significant financing component.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

j)

Revenue (Continued)

Significant financing component
The Group revises the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a significant financing
component to the amount that reflects what the cash selling price of the promised good or service. As a
practical expedient, the Group does not adjust the transaction price for the effects of a significant
financing component if, at contract inception, the entity expects the period between customer payment
and the transfer of goods or services to be one year or less. In cases where advance for the services are
received and the payment scheme is broadly aligned with the Group’s performance throughout the
period, the Group concludes that the period between performance and payment is until maturity,
therefore the expedient is applied.
Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to performance obligations
If distinct goods or services are delivered under a single arrangement, then the consideration is allocated
based on relative stand-alone selling prices of the distinct goods or services (performance obligations).
If directly observable stand-alone selling prices are not available, the total consideration in the service
contracts is allocated based on their expected cost plus a margin.
Step 5: Recognition of revenue
The Group recognizes income over time if any of the following conditions are met:
•
•
•

Customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the entity performs, or
The customer controls the asset as the entity creates or enhances it, or
Group’s performance does not create an asset for which the entity has an use; and alternative there
is a right to payment for performance to date.

For each performance obligation that is satisfied over time, an entity selects a single measure of progress,
which depicts the transfer of control of the goods or services to the customer. The Group uses a method
that measures the work performed reliably. The Group uses cost incurred to measure the progress
towards to completion of the project where the input method is used and uses units transferred to
measure the progress towards to completion of the project where the output method is used. If a
performance obligation is not satisfied over time, then the Group recognize revenue at the point in time
at which it transfers control of the good or service to the customer.
The Company recognizes a provision in accordance with TAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets” when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under a contract exceed
the economic benefits.
(i)

Residential, office and store sales

Revenue is measured at fair value and recognized on accrual basis when residential, offices and stores
are delivered by registering the transfer of title deed or issuing delivery record indicating that the related
risk and rewards are transferred to the customers, the amount of revenue can be determined reliably and
the economic benefits of transactions are likely to be transferred to the Group.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

j)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

Deferred revenue

Risks and rewards are transferred upon the delivery of residential, offices and stores with delivery
records. In the case that the delivery is not completed with a delivery record, the Group recognizes the
deferred revenue on statement of financial position.
(iii)

Rent income

Rental income from investment properties are recognized as revenue on using the straight line method
during the lease contract.
k)

Leases

(i)

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equals to
the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Other leases are operating leases which are not recognized on the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position..
(ii)

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and
the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
(iii)

Determining whether a contract contains a lease

B At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a
lease. The following two criteria must be met for a “lease”:
•
•

The fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
The arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s).

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other
consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on
the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable
to separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognized at an amount equals to the fair
value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed
finance charge on the liability is recognized using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

l)

Finance income and finance costs

Finance costs comprised the interest expense on borrowings, interest expense of borrowings from related
parties which are used for financing purposes and rediscount expenses. Borrowing costs that are not
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset are recognized in profit or
loss by using effective interest rate.
Foreign exchange gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities (other than trade receivables and
payables) are reported on net basis under financial income or financial expense according to the net
position of the foreign exchange gains / losses of the Group companies. Foreign exchange gains and
losses on trade receivables and payables are reported under other operating income and expense
respectively.
Foreign exchange gains and expenses on financial assets and liabilities (excluding trade receivables and
payables) are reported net in finance income or financing expenses according to the net position of the
exchange rate movements on a group basis. Foreign exchange gains on trade receivables and payables
are reported under other operating income, while exchange difference expenses are reported under other
operating expenses.
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method.
m)

Taxes

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.
(i)

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
(ii)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax
is not recognised for:
•

Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit and loss;

•

Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Group’s able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

•

Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m)

Taxes (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
(iii)

Tax exposures

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Group takes into account the impact of
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group determines that
its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors,
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities;
such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made
n)

Provisions, contingent asset and liabilities

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, having a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the
effect is material.
Contingent assets are not recognized unless they are realized and only disclosed in notes to the financial
statements.
o)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period are those events, favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the
end the reporting period and the date when the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue.
Two types of events can be identified:
•
•

those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting
events after the reporting period); and
those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events
after the reporting period).

The Group adjusts the amounts recognised in its consolidated financial statements to reflect the adjusting
events after reporting period. If the events after the reporting period are considered as non-adjusting
events, accordingly such of events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

p)

Related Parties

A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person: i) has
control or joint control over the reporting entity. ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity;
or iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity. Related party transaction is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
r)

Significant accounting assessments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with TAS requires management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any subsequent periods
affected.
In preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the significant estimates and judgments used by
the Group are included in the following notes:
Note 13- Classification of as an investment property
Information on estimates that have significant effects on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in the following notes:
Note 13 – Fair value measurement of investment property,
Note 17-18 –The useful lives on PPE and intangible assets (3(d)),
Note 19 – Provisions, contingent asset and liabilities,
Note 21 – Provision for employee benefit.
4.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability
a)

Investment properties

The fair value of investment property was determined by external, independent property valuers having
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of
the property being valued. The independent valuers provide the fair value of the Group’s investment
property portfolio every year. In absence of the prices in active market, fair values are measured by
taking into consideration of the estimated cash flows derived from leases for buildings and comparable
peers for lands. The fair value of the investment properties determined by discounted cash flow
projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows which contains risk-return. Valuation models
consider the type of current or potential lessees, the allocation of maintenance and insurance expenses
among lessor and lessee and the remaining economic life of the properties. When lease valuation related
to increases in lease and renewal of lease contract is pending, all notices both from lessees sides and
lessors side are assumed to be performed on valid and appropriate time
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4.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(b)

Non-derivative financial liabilities

For disclosure purposes fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the measurement date.

5.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, cash and cash equivalents comprised the following
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

169,248

165,189

Cash at banks
- Demand deposits
- Time deposits
Other liquid assets

14,658,771
5,802,498
162,172

6,215,878
14,271,012
273,169

Cash and cash equivalents at cash flow statement

20,792,689

20,925,248

Cash on hand

As at 31 December 2020 maturity dates and interest rates of time deposits comprised the following:
Currency
TRY

Maturity
January 2021

Interest rate %

December 2020

21.00-22.00

5,802,498

As at 31 December 2019 maturity dates and interest rates of time deposits comprised
Currency
TRY

Maturity

Interest rate %

December 2019

January 2020

12.00-13.00

14,271,012

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, there is no blockage or restriction on balance of cash and cash
equivalents.
The Group’s exposure to currency risk, interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in Note 32.
6.

CASH RESERVED FOR PROJECTS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, cash reserved for projects comprised the following:

Cash reserved for projects
- Demand deposits
- Time deposits

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

10,329,654
360,045

8,560,299
16,461,211

10,689,699

25,021,510

Cash reserves are generated from the sales of the certain projects and retained for related project’s costs
and expenses.
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6.

CASH RESERVED FOR PROJECTS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, maturity dates and interest rates of time deposits of the Group’s cash
reserved for projects comprised the following:
Currency
TRY

Maturity

Interest rate %

December 2020

January 2021

21.00-22.00

360,045

Maturity

Interest rate %

December 2019

January 2020

12.00-13.00

16,461,211

Currency
TRY

The Group’s exposure to currency risk, interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in Note 32.

7.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 the details of short-term and long-term financial investments
comprised the following:
Short-term financial investments

Private sector bonds

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

240

33,532,962

240

33,532,962

Financial investments which have been measured by fair value differences reflected to profit or loss
follow.
2020
1 January
Disposal
Fair value (loss)/gain

33,532,962
(33,532,722)
-

31 December

2019
52,348,088
(17,803,406)
(1,011,720)

240

33,532,962

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

525

525

525

525

Long-term financial investments

Financial assets available for sale
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7.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Short-term bank deposits as at 31 December are as follows:
Participation rate
(%)
Dia Finans - FC Yapı – Timur - TRY

31 December Participation rate
2020
(%)

1%

525

1%

525

31 December
2019
525
525

The movement of financial investments for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is given below:
2020

2019

Balance as at 1 January
Change in share rate

525
-

525
-

Balance as at 31 December

525

525

8.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, Loans and borrowings measured at amortized cost comprised the
following:
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Short-term loans and borrowings
Short-term secured loans

35,112,879

212,820,666

35,112,879

212,820,666

142,687,105

426,944,854

142,687,105

426,944,854

1,662,048,211

671,074,249

1,662,048,211

671,074,249

Short-term portion of long-term loans and borrowings
Short-term portion of long-term secured
loans and borrowings

Long-term loans and borrowings
Long-term secured loans and borrowings
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8.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, total loans and borrowings of the Group by company comprised the following:

Loans and borrowings

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

1,839,848,195

1,310,839,769

1,839,848,195

1,310,839,769

As at 31 December 2020 ,total loans and borrowings of the Group by company comprised the following:

Timur Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul
TMR Gayrimenkul
Bebek Turizm

Short-term loans
and borrowings

Long-term loans
and borrowings

Total

34,471,841
97,116,548
45,906,708
304,887

1,285,102,141
203,469,407
131,864,927
41,611,736

1,319,573,982
300,585,955
177,771,635
41,916,623

177,799,984

1,662,048,211

1,839,848,195

As at 31 December 2019, total loans and borrowings of the Group by company comprised the following:

Timur Gayrimenkul
TT Gayrimenkul
TMR Gayrimenkul
Bebek Turizm

Short-term loans
and borrowings

Long-term loans
and borrowings

Total

507,447,684
15,483,450
91,879,200
24,955,186

453,538,451
208,648,914
8,815,084
71,800

960,986,135
224,132,364
100,694,284
25,026,986

639,765,520

671,074,249

1,310,839,769

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, loans and borrowings are payable as follows:

Less than 1 year
Between 1-2 years
Payable in the third year
Between 3-4 years
Between 4-5 years
5 years and more than 5 years

.
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31 December 2020

31 December 2019

177,799,984
234,717,313
464,063,709
465,716,646
304,319,252
193,231,291

639,765,520
440,227,312
75,038,818
25,561,085
20,243,720
110,003,314

1,839,848,195

1,310,839,769
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8.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

Maturity date and interest rates of loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are as
follows:
Original
Currency

Nominal interest
rate percentage

Net book
value

TRY
TRY
TRY
EUR

%10
%16
%10
%6,5

1,319,573,982
177,771,635
41,916,623
300,585,955

Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)

1,839,848,195

Maturity date and interest rates of loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2019 are as
follows:
Original
Currency
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)
Secured bank loan (*)

TRY
TRY
TRY
EUR
EUR
USD

Nominal interest
rate percentage
22
21
Libor+18.63
4.40+5.50
5.38-6.50
5.75

Net book
value
198,470,547
91,952,990
361,015,381
213,777,794
420,596,072
25,026,985
1,310,839,769

(*)

Personal securities of the shareholders and mortgage on the projects for the loans and borrowings are
TRY1,335,810,000 and EUR37,950,000 (31 December 2019: TRY1,117,012,844 TRY and
EUR56,750,000). As at 31 December 2020, TRY449,524,382 and USD5,862,581 of notes were given as a
guarantee for loans and borrowings (31 December 2019: TRY382,509,648 and USD41,748,790) (Note 20).

As at 31 December 2020 due from details of bank loans are as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

1January
Financial liabilities received
Cash outflows on debt payments
Exchange differences

1,310,839,769
298,635,411
(69,034,537)
299,407,552

1,246,655,002
211,336,221
(176,847,378)
29,695,924

Total

1,839,848,195

1,310,839,769

After the reporting period the Group signed a loan restructuring agreement with a six (6) year maturity
period and a twenty-four (24) month grace period which started 13 November 2020. PIK interest (the
periodic payment type where interest is not paid in cash but is added to the principal amount) is nine
percent (9%), which will be applied throughout the twenty-four (24) month period as of the agreement
date. After the 24-month period, PIK interest / the profit share will be capitalized and added to the
principal amount on which the repayment will be based.
37

TİMUR GAYRİMENKUL GELİŞTİRME YAPI VE YATIRIM ANONİM ŞİRKETİ
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(Amounts expressed in Turkish Lira (“TRY”) unless otherwise stated.)

8.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

In addition to the credit repayment, a guarantorship limit worth TRY 200 million in total will be provided
for NEF Kandilli project and will be based on the pro-rata rates of banks. In addition, a guarantee letter
limit of TRY 25 million will be provided for VAT refund receivables.
Timur Real Estate guarantees the Group companies will not pledge shares to third parties other than
those who provided credit under the credit agreement, it will not guarantee or restrict its assets other
than those provided exclusively for financial borrowings for its own commercial activities, and it will
inform creditors before providing an additional guarantee for the refinancing of its existing financial
debts.

9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, due from/due to related parties are as follows:
Due from related parties

Other receivables
Trade receivables

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

72,776,238
3,246,758

84,747,232
2,332,886

76,022,996

87,080,118

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

60,926,224
2,566,670

77,143,298
2,146,319

63,492,894

79,289,617

Due to related parties

Other payables
Trade payables

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term other receivables from related parties are as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

3,246,758

2,332,886

3,246,758

2,332,886

Short-term trade receivables
ENG Enerji Yatırım
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9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term other receivables from related parties are as follows:

MED Enerji A.Ş.
Erden Timur
Musa Timur
ENG Enerji Yatırım A.Ş.
Timur Holding A.Ş.
Nef 12 East 37Th LLC.
Dia Finans - FC Yapı -Timur Adı Ortaklığı
BTE Kağıthane Gayrimenkul Yatırımları ve Ticaret A.Ş.
Other

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

18,265,301
11,528,565
10,815,722
8,953,739
6,784,189
2,936,200
13,492,522

14,149,262
27,642,575
8,691,942
6,857,650
5,287,285
5,485,536
7,391,353
342,658
8,898,971

72,776,238

84,747,232

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term trade payables to related parties are as follows:
Trade payables to related parties
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

2,484,925
33,939
47,806

182,956
1,915,557
47,806

2,566,670

2,146,319

Short-term trade payables
EE Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.Ş.
HM Sigorta Aracılık Hizm. Ltd. Şti.
Emine Timur

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term other payables to the related parties are as follows
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

46,225,599
8,965,164
5,204,461
531,000
-

59,497,825
17,513,636
93,502
38,335

60,926,224

77,143,298

Other payables to related parties
Erden Timur
BTE Kağıthane
Dia Finans-FC Yapı-Timur Adi Ortaklığı
Musa Timur
Timur Yapı Lojistik Özel Sağlık Hizm. Tic. Ltd. Şti.
Other
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9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Due to related parties
The transactions of the Group with related parties for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are
listed below:
Finance
income

G&A
expenses

Med Enerji
Musa Timur
Eng Enerji
Timur Holding
Proje Asist
Sirius Gayrimenkul
Molecule
Central
EE Gayrimenkul
İstanbul Global Gayrimenkul ve Ticaret A.Ş.
DEEM Dekoras
Emine Timur
RDN Gayrimenkul
Beşpınar
BTE Kağıthane
Other

1,014,721
933,303
468,678
348,372
338,729
233,937
214,808
125,748
76,304
38,889
24,921
19,684
12,353
6,783
2,353

-

(1,400,957)
-

1,014,721
933,303
468,678
348,372
338,729
233,937
214,808
125,748
76,304
38,889
24,921
19,684
12,353
6,783
(1,400,957)
2,353

Total

3,859,583

-

(1,400,957)

2,458,626

2019

Finance
income

G&A
expenses

1,260,306
996,048
579,919
485,248
378,042
209,193
124,732
105,143
34,286
20,242
9,267
9,012
5,560
-

-

(2,124,573)

4,216,998

-

(2,124,573)

2020

Musa Timur
Med Enerji
Proje Asist
Eng Enerji
Timur Holding
Central
Erden Timur
EE Gayrimenkul
Emine Timur
Sayram Global
Sirius Gayrimenkul
RDN Gayrimenkul
Beşpınar
BTE Kağıthane
Total

-

Finance
cost

Total

Finance
cost

Total
1,260,306
996,048
579,919
485,248
378,042
209,193
124,732
105,143
34,286
20,242
9,267
9,012
5,560
(2,124,573)
2,092,425

There are no impairment in the related party balances of the Group as of 31 December 2020.
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9.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transaction with key management personnel:
For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, compensation for key management personnel are as
follows:

Short-term benefits (wages and bonuses)

10.

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

561,798

370,393

561,798

370,393

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Short-term trade receivable
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s short-term trade receivables comprised the following:
31 December 2020
Notes receivables
Trade receivables
Doubtful receivables
Allowance for doubtful receivables (-)

31 December 2019

514,956,148
142,947,619
5,640,779
(5,640,779)

523,990,575
29,301,859
3,951,813
(3,951,813)

657,903,767

553,292,434

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Balance at the beginning of the period
Provisions in the period
Provisions no longer required

3,951,813
1,688,966
-

5,640,779
3,457,333
(5,146,299)

Balance at the end of the period

5,640,779

3,951,813

Long-term trade receivables
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s long-term trade receivables comprised the following:

Notes receivables
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10.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)

Short-term trade payables
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s short-term trade payables comprised the following.

Trade payable
Notes payables
Other trade payables

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

299,831,893
185,194,106
796,016

122,322,170
15,260,261
2,227,324

485,822,015

139,809,755

Long-term trade payables
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s long-term trade payables comprised the following:

Notes payable

11.

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

154,376,345

145,330,208

154,376,345

145,330,208

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s employee benefit obligations comprised the following:

Social security premiums payable
Payables to personnel
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833,346
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12.

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Other short-term receivables
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other short-term receivables comprised the following

Advance paid for land
Stamp duties, land registries and subscriptions
Receivable from municipality
Receivables from commercial site managements
Receivables from tax office
Deposits and guarantees given
Other receivables (**)

(*)

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

47,039,807
19,671,507
14,441,139
10,983,217
6,818,244
213,700
19,105,283

11,131,274
9,234,763
16,350,103
13,352,930
10,421,171
85,324
6,198,038

118,272,897

66,773,603

Other receivables of the Group consist of stamp duty, subscription and title deed receivables to be collected
from customers due to the sales contracts made.

Other short-term payables
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other short-term payables comprised the following:

Deposits and guarantees received
Ayos Yönetim Hizmetleri A.Ş.
Taxes and funds payable
Payables arising from the acquisition of Bebek Turizm
Overdue, deferred payables or payables on instalments
Trio Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve İnşaat A.Ş. (*)
Other Payables (*)

(*)
(**)

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

133,271,570
68,750,000
11,013,090
6,831,270
94,309
32,968,846

27,683,760
1,296,103
6,831,270
2,862,334
57,677,826
18,519,937

252,929,085

114,871,230

Other payables consist of stamp duties due to the sales agreement, land registries, subscriptions.
Other payables consist of the title deed subscription and residence fees to be paid to the relevant institutions.
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12.

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)

Other long-term payables
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other long-term payables comprised the following

NBG Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve Ticaret A.Ş. (*)
Deposits and guarantees received
Payables arising from the acquisition of Bebek Turizm

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

273,027,882
20,736,183
5,780,306

207,335,710
26,732,566
5,780,306

299,544,371

239,848,582

(*)

The debt to Nezih Barut arises from the funding need between related companies. Nezih Barut is a partner
of TT Gayrimenkul.

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, investment properties comprised the following:

Investment properties
Investment properties-Lands (*)

(*)

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

746,147,897
323,460,000

561,941,210
281,413,997

1,069,607,897

843,355,207

The Lands comprised of properties which are located in Muğla (19,000 m2 in Gökçebel district
(hub 361 and parcel 1-2-4), Bodrum (46,946 m2 in Göl district hub 114 and parcel 5-6-7), Mersin (4,488
m2 and 7,272 m2 in Menteş village in hub 20.JII, block 7891 and 7648) and Mersin, Menteş (7,272 m2 in
hub 20.JII, block 7,891and7,648). As at 31 December 2020, there is no any active projects on the lands.
The Group has not yet decided on the use of these lands.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, movements of investment property comprised the following
2020

2019

Balance as at 1 January

843,355,207

821,215,000

Addition
Changes in fair value
Transfers from inventories (**)
Disposals

7,132,239
219,120,451
-

12,419,644
20,220,563
(10,500,000)

1,069,607,897

843,355,207

31 December
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13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following tables show fair values of investment properties including their levels in the fair value
hierarchy:
31 December 2020
Investment properties
31 December 2019
Investment properties

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

-

-

1,069,607,897

1,069,607,897

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

-

-

843,355,207

843,355,207

Fair values of active investment properties as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are
following:

TT Bodrum
TMR - BASE Bodrum Cennet
Nef 03 - APANEF
Sütlüce
Bodrum Türkbükü Karacaburun
7 Pafta 323 Parsel
NEF 163
Nef 9 Proje Maliyetleri
Muğla - Bodrum - Gölköy - Çomca
1542 Parsel 41 Nolu
Nef 05 Kağıthane

31 December 2020
Appraisal
report date
Fair value

31 December 2019
Appraisal
report date
Fair value

31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021

340,048,000
250,730,000
231,820,783
72,730,000

10/04/2020
10/04/2020
10/04/2020
10/04/2020

279,000,000
201,160,000
126,680,728
80,253,997

31/03/2021
31/03/2021
31/03/2021

57,955,000
32,815,000
21,814,114

10/04/2020
10/04/2020
10/04/2020

42,950,000
30,185,000
30,090,482

31/03/2021
31/03/2021

32,120,000
29,575,000

10/04/2020
10/04/2020

27,625,000
25,410,000

Discount rates used in calculation fair value of investment properties following:
Discount rates
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
TT Bodrum
Muğla-Bodrum-Göl Köy-Çomca 1542 Parcel No 41
Nef 05 Kağıthane
Sütlüce
TMR - BASE Bodrum Cennet

%18
%18
%16,5
%16,5
%17,5

22%
18,5%
20%
22%
22%

Discounted cash flows method and market approach were used in measuring the fair value of investment
properties.
As at 31 December 2020 there are pledges amounting to TRY1,142,465,000 and EUR37,950,000 on
investment properties (31 December 2019: TRY466,499,058 and EUR25,631,727).
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14.

INVENTORIES

Short-term inventories
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term inventories comprised the following:

Nef City 82
Nef Bahçelievler
Nef Yalıkavak
Nef Çekmeköy
Nef 22 Ataköy
Nef 19 Sancaktepe
Nef Beykoz
Nef 08 Points
Nef 98 Points
Nef 04 Points
Nef Inistanbul
Nef 05 Kağıthane
Nef 39 Seyrantepe
Nef 09 4Levent
Nef 14 Kağıthane
Nef 36 Basınekspres
Nef Sütlüce
Other (*)

31 Aralık 2020

31 Aralık 2019

395,097,613
388,069,502
338,307,542
128,371,923
60,364,369
29,320,242
37,909,812
12,120,840
9,301,999
8,166,746
6,758,495
6,311,133
2,007,500
1,965,235
1,698,459
41,205,439

406,612,785
85,556,566
431,647,702
88,435,665
101,529,590
102,974,870
29,608,737
13,146,971
11,606,166
7,954,996
149,164,428
5,979,799
457,487
80,551,175
832,755
199,605,910
24,249,627
22,622,626

1,466,976,849

1,762,537,855

Long-term inventories
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, long-term inventories comprised the following:

Nef Basınekspres (**)
Nef Gölköy
Nef Nakkaştepe
Nef Kandilli
Nef Ataköy
Nef Ortayaka
Nef Çekmeköy
Nef Kağıthane
Nef Beykoz
Nef Bahçelievler
Other

31 Aralık 2020

31 Aralık 2019

219,720,675
150,653,669
114,894,293
105,184,156
75,274,140
6,354,920
3,238,854
2,403,578
57,401

78,013,199
108,587,606
87,784,098
5,846,332
3,136,594
8,751,552
87,136,252
3,408,330

677,781,686

382,663,963

(*)

Real estate projects developed by the Group for commercial purposes in various regions of Istanbul.

(**)

The Group has started to follow its Nef 36 Basınekspres Project in the long-term inventories as a change in
its plans due to the pandemic effect and restructuring process in the borrowings which was previously
followed in short-term inventories and planned to be delivered in 2020.
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14.

INVENTORIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, there are pledges amounting to TRY250,610,000 and EUR37,950,000
(31 December 2019: TRY2,219,874,500 and EUR76,800,000) on the long and short-term inventories of
the Group.
The Group performs impairment tests for inventories. Based on the impairment tests performed, as at
31 December 2020 and 2019 there is not any impairment losses recognized.
15.

EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s shares from the equity accounted
investees which are recognized in profit or loss are as follows:

HT Gayrimenkul
Nef EBRD

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

1,886,840
-

1,893,768
-

1,886,840

1,893,768

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s shares from the equity accounted
investees which are recognized in profit or loss are as follows:
31 December 2020
HT Gayrimenkul
Nef EBRD
BTE Kağıthane

31 December 2019

(6,929)
-

(2,993)
-

(6,929)

(2,993)

Timur Karlıtepe
Timur Karlıtepe which the Company owns 75 percentage of shares and 50 percentage voting right was
established on 1 July 2014 to develop real estates. Since the Company’s share of accumulated losses in
Timur Karlıtepe is exceeding the Company’s equity interest’s carrying amount, the Company’s equity
interest in the Timur Karlıtepe has been reduced to zero. As at 31 December 2020, there is accumulated
share of losses amounting to TRY 1,687,782 which was not recognized. As at and for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019, financial information of Timur Karlıtepe is summarized as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Non-current assets
Current assets
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities

-

25,251,581
146,603
2,661,040
24,987,520

Net Assets

-

(2,250,376)

Company’s share
Carrying value on the statement of financial position

-

(1,687,782)
-
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15.

EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (Continued)

Timur Karlıtepe (Continued)
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Revenue
Costs (-)
Tax expenses

-

(28,453)
(92,540)

Net loss for the year

-

(120,993)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income

-

(120,993)

Company’s share in loss for the year
Dividend received by the Company

-

(90,745)
-

HT Gayrimenkul
The Companywas founded in Turkey on 18 February 2015 to develop properties. As at
31 December 2020 and 2019, financial information of HT Gayrimenkul is summarized as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Non-current assets
Current assets
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities

7,563
3,769,329
3,212

95,012
3,752,898
60,372

Net Assets

3,773,680

3,787,538

Company’s share
Carrying value on the statement of financial position

1,886,840
1,886,840

1,893,768
1,893,768

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Revenue
Costs (-)
Tax income

318
(14,176)
-

12,066
(18,052)
-

Net loss for the year

(13,858)

(5,986)

Other comprehensive income

-

Total comprehensive income
Company’s share in loss for the year
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15.

EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (Continued)

Nef EBRD
Nef EBRD, was established in Turkey on 15 March 2017 to develop properties. The Company owns 65
percentage of shares and 50 percentage voting rights. As of 19 December 2017, Nef EBRD owns
percentage100 of Haliç Öğrenci Rezidansı Gayrimenkul Geliştirme ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi. Since
the Company's share in NEF EBRD's losses is higher than its share in NEF EBRD, the value of the
investment has been reduced to zero. The Group did not record the accumulated loss of TRY 78,983 as
of 31 December 2020 . As at 31 December 2020 , financial information of Nef EBRD is summarized as
follows:

Non-current assets
Current assets
Short-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

117,723
71,186
68,359
449,983

93,112
287,434
52,073
449,983

Net Asssets

(329,433)

(121,510)

Company’s share in loss for the year
Dividend received by the Company

(214,131)
-

(78,983)
-

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Revenue
Costs (-)
Tax income

46,863
(254,787)
-

54,751
(215,896)
-

Net loss for the year

(207,924)

(161,145)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income

(207,924)

(161,145)

Company’s share in loss for the year

(135,151)

(104,744)

16.

PREPAYMENTS AND DEFERRED REVENUES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term prepayments comprised the following:

Advance given for land
Advances given to subcontractors
Prepaid expenses
Job advances
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31 December 2020

31 December 2019

305,374,768
154,580,337
4,435,821
3,019,939

167,416,949
157,086,848
1,116,328
33,509

467,410,865

325,653,634
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16.

PREPAYMENTS AND DEFERRED REVENUES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, long-term prepayments comprised the following:

Advance given for land
Advance given for others

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

563,945,114
7,614,475

474,483,308
1,771,758

571,559,589

476,255,066

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, short-term deferred revenues comprised the following:

Advance received for sales of residence
Deferred income

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

1,627,400,198
28,522,628

1,501,615,756
25,722,628

1,655,922,826

1,527,338,384

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, long-term deferred revenues comprised the following:

Advance received for sales of residence
Deferred income
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31 December 2020

31 December 2019

734,920,295
277,866,890

949,719,786
307,700,381

1,012,787,185

1,257,420,167
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17.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land and
buildings

Machinery and
equipment

Furniture
and fixtures

Construction
in progress

Leasehold
improvements

Total

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
31 December 2020

94,684,965
(29,167,888)

5,141,288
435,736
(817,709)

13,133,257
129,106
454,114
(352,420)

19,270,035
4,435,046
6,900
-

181,116,912
64,788,941
11,352,598
-

313,346,457
69,353,093
12,249,348
(30,338,017)

65,517,077

4,759,315

13,364,057

23,711,981

257,258,451

364,610,881

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

5,737,739
1,875,607
-

2,102,362
938,236
(134,174)

3,536,786
107,628
456,068
(243,334)

6,881,010
1,640,061
1,477,471
-

85,419
-

18,343,316
1,747,689
4,747,382
(377,508)

31 December 2020

7,613,346

2,906,424

3,857,148

9,998,542

85,419

24,460,879

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2020

88,947,226

3,038,926

9,596,471

12,389,025

181,031,493

295,003,141

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2020

57,903,731

1,852,891

9,506,909

13,713,439

257,173,032

340,150,002

Net carrying value

In the current period, depreciation expenses are included in general administrative expenses.
In the current period, borrowing cost capitalized on construction in progress is amounting to TRY4,128,743 (31 December 2019: TRY4,128,743).
As at 31 December 2020, insurance coverage on property and equipment amounted to TRY8,650,000 (31 December 2019: TRY8,650,000).
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17.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Land and
buildings

Machinery and
equipment

Furniture
and fixtures

Construction
in progress

Leasehold
improvements

Total

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2019
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

60,884,673
38,217,245
(4,416,953)

5,145,825
58,448
(62,985)

13,001,704
66,338
127,890
(62,675)

18,098,666
1,664,632
(493,263)
-

161,783,282
16,841,922
2,491,708
-

258,914,150
16,908,260
42,559,923
(493,263)
(4,542,613)

31 December 2020

94,684,965

5,141,288

13,133,257

19,270,035

181,116,912

313,346,457

Balance at 1 January 2019
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

3,235,168
2,502,571
-

1,558,759
543,881
(278)

2,904,117
632,669
-

6,561,430
319,580
-

85,419
-

14,259,474
4,084,120
(278)

31 December 2020

5,737,739

2,102,362

3,536,786

6,881,010

85,419

18,343,316

Net carrying value as at 1 January 2019

57,649,505

3,587,066

10,097,587

11,537,236

161,783,282

244,654,676

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2020

88,947,226

3,038,926

9,596,471

12,389,025

181,031,493

295,003,141

Accumulated Depreciation

Net carrying value
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18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Rights and
software

Vakıflar rental
agreement

Total

2,487,211

188,577,763

191,064,974

(1,011,516)

68,014,597
-

68,014,597
(1,011,516)

1,475,695

256,592,360

258,068,055

3,028,429

29,118,626

32,147,055

(1,681,430)
36,784

10,268,967
9,390,395

10,268,967
(1,681,430)
9,427,179

1,383,783

48,777,988

50,161,771

Rights and
software

Vakıflar rental
agreement

Total

3,654,219

170,923,940

174,578,159

6,347
-

16,480,468
-

16,486,815
-

3,660,566

187,404,408

191,064,974

2,656,971

22,688,456

25,345,427

18,913
365,112

2,402,704
4,093,635

2,421,617
4,458,747

3,028,429

29,118,626

32,147,055

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions/ Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2020
Accumulated amortization
Opening balance, 1 January 2020
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions/ Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year
Balance at 31 December 2020

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2019
Foreign currency translation differences
Additions
Balance at 31 December 2019
Accumulated amortization
Opening balance, 1 January 2019
Foreign currency translation differences
Depreciation charge for the year
Balance at 31 December 2019
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18.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

As a result of acquisition accounting as at 30 September 2014, Rental agreement, amounting to
TRY81,999,822 which was signed with Turkish Republic Prime Ministry Directorate General of
Foundations (“T.C. Başbakanlık Vakıflar Genel Müdürlüğü”) was recognized as a separate intangible
asset with the name Vakıflar Rental Agreement (“Vakıflar Kira Sözleşmesi”).

19.

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, provisions comprised of:
Short-term provisions
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

646,574
53,345

605,368
57,368

699,919

662,736

1,634,702

1,061,649

1,634,702

1,061,649

2,334,621

1,724,385

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Lawsuit provisions

53,345

57,368

Toplam

53,345

57,368

Provision for unused vacations
Other provisions

Long-term provisions
Long-term employee benefit provisions

Total provisions
Other short-term provisions
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20.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments and Contingencies
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group’s guarantee, pledge and mortgage (“GPM”)
position are as follows:
TRY Equivalent

TRY

USD

EUR

2,227,483,463
492,558,658
1,734,924,805

5,862,581
5,862,581
-

37,950,000
37,950,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2,227,483,463

5,862,581

37,950,000

31 December 2020

A. GPMs given on behalf of the Group's
legal personality
Guarantee (*)
Pledge
Mortgage (**)
B. GPMs given in favor of subsidiaries included in
included full consolidation
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
C. GPMs given by the Group for the liabilities of 3rd
parties in order to run ordinary course of business
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
D. Other GPMs
i. GPMs given in favor of
parent company
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
ii.
GPMs given in favor of the Group companies not
companies not
in the scope of B and C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
iii. GPMs given in favor of third party-companies not in the scope of C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
-Total GPM
(*)

As of 31 December 2020, the total amount of collateral bills given by the Group consists of TRY449,524,382 and
USD5,862,581 of collateral given to banks in return for financial borrowing.

(**)

There are mortgages amounting to TRY1,393,075,000 and EUR37,950,000 on the projects for loans and borrowings
obtained.
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20.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)
TRY Equivalent

TRY Equivalent

USD

EUR

31 December 2019

E. GPMs given on behalf of the Group's
legal personality
Guarantee (*)
Pledge
Mortgage (**)
F. GPMs given in favor of subsidiaries included in
included full consolidation
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
G. GPMs given by the Group for the liabilities of 3rd
parties in order to run ordinary course of business
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
H. Other GPMs
i. GPMs given in favor of
parent company
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
ii.
GPMs given in favor of the Group companies not
companies not
in the scope of B and C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage
iii. GPMs given in favor of third party
companies not in the scope of C above
Guarantee
Pledge
Mortgage

1,499,522,492
382,509,648
1,117,012,844

41,748,790
41,748,790
-

56,750,000
56,750,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total GPM

1,499,522,492

41,748,790

56,750,000

(*)

As of 31 December 2019, letters of guarantees given are amounting to TRY145,878,063. Significant amount of the
letters of guarantees are given to the landowners. There are letters of guarantees given to tax office regarding the tax
return amounting to TRY 73,850,503, as part of the Nef Bahçelievler Project TRY50,000,000, to building material
suppliers and municipalities amounting to TRY22,027,560.

(**)

There are mortgages amounting to TRY475,431,544 TRY and USD15,061,393 on the projects for loans and borrowings
obtained (Note 8).

(***)

The Group has mortgages on its projects in the amount of TRY996,262,644 and EUR56,750,000 due to financial
borrowing.
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21.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined benefit obligation
In accordance with the current social legislation in Turkey, companies are required to make lump-sum
payments to employees whose employment is ended due to retirement or for reasons other than
resignation or misconduct. The amount of compensation is equal to one month’s salary for each year of
service and this amount is limited with TRY7,117 as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2019:
TRY 6,379). The liability is not funded and accordingly there are no plan assets for the defined benefits
as there is no funding requirement.
Based on the Group’s past experience, severance pay liability is calculated and recognized considering
the estimated net value of the future probable obligations by discounting such of future obligations based
on interest rates of government bonds which are effective at end of each reporting period. For the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, movements of defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2020

2019

Balance as at 1 January

1,061,649

323,214

Interest cost
Service cost
Actuarial difference
Defined benefits paid

1,426,277
208,424
(711,682)
(349,966)

470,465
169,758
98,212
-

Balance as at 31 December

1,634,702

1,061,649

Actuarial difference arises due to the change in interest rates and expected increase in salaries.
Additionally, actuarial difference is affected due to defined benefits paid to employees that quits before
retirement date contrary to the assumption made that employment end date is to be retirement date.
Actuarial difference is recognized in other comprehensive income.
Unused vacation provisions
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, detail of short-term employee benefit provision is as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Provision for unused vacation

646,574

605,368

Toplam

646,574

605,368

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, movements of provision for unused vacation are as follows:

1 January
Current year charge
31 December
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31 December 2020

31 December 2019

605,368

386,220

41,206

219,148

646,574

605,368
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22.

OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other current assets comprised the following:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

72,180,835
7,155,795

52,451,176
4,883,889

79,336,630

57,335,065

Deferred value added tax (“VAT”)
Other

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other non-current assets comprised the following:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

138,447,846
24,386,861
3,451,623

93,562,589
24,386,858
3,131,526

166,286,330

121,080,973

Deferred value added tax (“VAT”)
Paintings
Other

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other short-term liabilities comprised the following:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

1,510,599

2,176,680

1,510,599

2,176,680

Accrued expenses

23.

SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS

Paid in capital
The Company's approved and issued capital consists of 4,590,175 (31 December 2019: 4,590,175)
shares each with a registered face value of TRY 100. The nominal value of each share is TRY 100.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019 paid in capital comprised the following:
Shareholders

%

31 December 2020

%

31 December 2019

Erden Timur
Musa Timur

99
1

456,380,675
2,619,500

99
1

456,380,675
2,619,500

100

459,000,175

100

459,000,175
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23.

SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER EQUITY ITEMS (Continued)

In 27 July 2018, on the Gorup’s extraordinary general meeting; The Group has decided to increase its
capital from TRY 52,390,000 to TRY 459,000,174.63 and has decided to amend by unanimous vote the
sixth item related to the company’s articles of association. The amount of capital increase is TRY
406,610,174.63. All of the capital increased amounting to TRY 406,610,174.63. That capital in-kind
has been approved by the court dated 25 July 2018 and by 2018/291 numbered justified decision. In
3 August 2018, capital related item of articles of association has been registered
Actuarial loss arising from employee benefits
As a result of the adoption of TAS 19 (2011), all actuarial differences are recognized immediately in
other comprehensive income.
Restricted reserves allocated from profits
The legal reserves comprised first and second reserves, appropriated in accordance with the Turkish
Commercial Code. The code stipulates that the first legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory profits
at the rate of 5 percentage per annum, until the total reserve reaches 20 percentage of the Company’s
paid-in share capital. In case of a profit distribution in accordance with statutory records, second level
legal reserves are set aside by rate of 1/11 for all cash distribution exceeding 5 percentage of the share
capital. The legal reserves can be used only to offset losses and are not available for any other usage
unless they exceed 50 percentage of paid-in-capital. As at 31 December 2020 , the Group’s legal reserves
amounted to TRY720,323 (31 December 2019: TRY 720,323).
Other comprehensive gains or losses non-classified as income or expense
Defined benefit pension plan remeasurement gain/loss
As at 31 December 2020 , remeasurement of benefit pension plan/loss comprise actuarial gains or losses
that have been accounted as other comprehensive income regarding provision for employee termination
benefits amounted TRY465,374 (31 December 2019: 258,571).
Foreign currency translation differences
Balances remaining in the foreign currency translation reserve from differences the Group’s functional
currency and reporting currency. As at 31 December 2020 , foreign currency translation differences in
the Group’s consolidated financial statement is TRY157,604,048 (31 December 2019:
TRY101,633,543).
Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling share in the net assets and results of subsidiaries for the year are separately classified
as “non-controlling interest” in the consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated
statements of profit or loss. As at 31 December 2020 the amount of TRY 17,204,410 is classified as
“non-controlling interest” in statement of financial position (31 December 2019: TRY 10,304,047).
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24.

REVENUE AND COST OF SALES
1 January 31 December 2020

1 January 31 December 2019

Residence and office sales (*)
Rent income
Other revenue

1,009,695,093
6,676,308
6,451,350

320,673,790
3,026,734
2,872,545

Revenue

1,022,822,751

326,573,069

Cost of sales (-)

(885,469,788)

Gross profit

(322,524,676)

137,352,963

4,048,393

(*)

As of 31 December 2020, the income from the residential and office sales consists of Yalıkavak, Nef
İnistanbul, Nef 22 Ataköy and Nef 09 4 Levent projects. In 2019, a significant portion of the revenues from
the sales of residential and office units consist of Nef İnistanbul, Nef 22 Ataköy projects.

25.

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE SELLING AND MARKET EXPENSES
31 December 2020

Selling and marketing expenses
General administrative expenses

31 December 2019

(51,492,907)
(31,284,860)

(46,772,632)
(29,886,383)

(82,777,767)

(76,659,015)

General administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
General and administrative expenses
General administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020
Amortization and depreciation expenses
Personnel expenses
Taxes, duties and charges
Consulting expenses
Rent expenses
Fuel, energy and water expenses
Communication and stationery expenses
Travelling and accommodation expenses
Insurance expenses
Maintenance and repair expenses
Hosting expenses
Post, cargo, dispatch and transport expenses
Other
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31 December 2019

(14,174,561)
(5,317,425)
(5,217,448)
(1,878,100)
(1,875,446)
(456,213)
(322,924)
(266,657)
(220,842)
(163,457)
(136,567)
(83,316)
(1,171,904)

(8,542,867)
(8,543,997)
(1,978,689)
(3,664,899)
(1,972,752)
(436,077)
(122,604)
(205,236)
(662,187)
(351,823)
(336,970)
(29,841)
(3,038,441)

(31,284,860)

(29,886,383)
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25.

GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE SELLING AND MARKET EXPENSES (Continued)

Sales and marketing expenses
Sales and marketing expenses for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020

Agency services and commission expenses
Advertising, promotion and exhibition expenses
Hosting expenses
Personnel expenses
Rent expenses
Maintenance and repair expenses
Communication and stationery expenses
Consulting expenses
Taxes, duties and charges
Other

26.

31 December 2019

(17,268,345)
(16,554,323)
(8,383,977)
(3,107,995)
(2,077,294)
(857,616)
(484,508)
(375,692)
(117,237)
(2,265,920)

(7,009,251)
(15,738,464)
(7,437,253)
(9,186,870)
(2,575,468)
(164,225)
(4,192,058)
(80,367)
(287,678)
(100,998)

(51,492,907)

(46,772,632)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses by nature for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020
Cost of sales
Agency services and commission expenses
Advertising, promotion and exhibition expenses
Amortization and depreciation expense
Hosting expenses
Personnel expenses
Taxes, duties and charges
Rent expenses
Consulting expenses
Maintenance expenses
Communication and stationery expenses
Fuel, energy and water expenses
Travelling and accommodation expenses
Insurance expenses
Post, cargo, dispatch and transport expenses
Other
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31 December 2019

(885,469,788)
(17,268,345)
(16,554,323)
(14,174,561)
(8,520,544)
(8,425,420)
(5,334,685)
(3,952,740)
(2,253,792)
(1,021,073)
(807,432)
(456,213)
(266,657)
(220,842)
(83,316)
(3,437,824)

(322,524,676)
(7,009,251)
(15,738,464)
(8,542,867)
-7,774,223
(17,730,867)
(2,266,367)
(4,548,220)
(3,745,266)
(516,048)
(4,314,662)
(436,077)
(205,236)
(662,187)
(29,841)
(3,139,439)

(968,247,555)

(399,183,691)
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27.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Other operating income
Other operating incomes for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Increase in value on investment properties
Income from project follow up
Penalties and deductions for subcontractors
SGK discounts and gains
Occupancy fee and other reflection income
Rent expenses
Income from after sales
Rediscount income
Other

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

219,120,451
9,055,666
1,152,078
513,945
382,979
122,627
8,822,964

20,220,563
217,625
1,593,245
1,333,978
256,177
31,198
262,124
12,640,171
5,029,517

239,170,710

41,584,598

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020
Exchange difference expenses
After sales expenses
Non - deductible VAT
Doubtful trade receivable and other allowance expense
Rediscount expenses
Donations
Other

28.

31 December 2019

(83,628,167)
(10,803,590)
(2,572,002)
(1,688,966)
(8,474,227)

(86,732,325)
(3,785,634)
(2,841,875)
(3,457,333)
(2,232,528)
(7,095,107)
(6,472,035)

(107,166,952)

(112,616,837)

INCOME FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Income from investing activities for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Interest income from deposits
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3,164,584

23,003,130

3,164,584

23,003,130
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29.

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Financial income
Financial income for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Interest income
Others

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

13,071,528
1,716,954

4,921,852
1,059,030

14,788,482

5,980,882

Financial expenses
Financial expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020
Bank loan interest expenses
Exchange difference expenses
Loan issue and other various expenses
Related parties interest expenses
Other

30.

31 December 2019

(243,523,787)
(314,407,552)
(10,888,517)
(2,006,982)

(73,318,317)
(50,786,382)
(4,056,651)
(1,428,430)
(1,962)

(570,826,838)

(129,591,742)

TAXATION

Corporate income tax is levied at the rate of 22 percent (2019: 22 percent). In Turkey, the transfer pricing
provisions have been stated under the Article 13 of Corporate Tax Law with the heading of “disguised
profit distribution via transfer pricing”. The General Communiqué on disguised profit distribution via
Transfer Pricing, dated 18 November 2007 sets details about implementation. If a taxpayer enters into
transactions regarding sale or purchase of goods and services with related parties, where the prices are
not set in accordance with arm's length principle, then related profits are considered to be distributed in
a disguised manner through transfer pricing. Such disguised profit distributions through transfer pricing
are not accepted as tax deductible for corporate income tax purposes.Corporations are required to pay
advance corporation tax quarterly at the rate of 22 percent on their corporate income. Advance tax is
declared by the 10th of the second month following each calendar quarter end and is payable by the 17th
of the second month following each calendar quarter end. Tax payments that are made in advance during
the year are being deducted from the total final tax liability of the fiscal year. The balance of the advance
tax paid may be refunded or used to set off against other liabilities to the government. In Turkey, there
is no procedure for a final and definitive agreement on tax assessments.
On 22 April 2021 the corporate income tax rate was increased to 25% for 2021 and to 23% for 2022.
Companies file their tax returns on the fifteenth date of the four months following the close of the
accounting year to which they relate. Tax returns are open for five years from the beginning of the year
that follows the date of filling during which time the tax authorities have the right to audit tax returns,
and the related accounting records on which they are based and may issue re-assessments based on their
findings. Under the Turkish taxation system, tax losses can be carried forward to be offset against future
taxable income for up to five years. Tax losses cannot be carried back to offset profits from previous
periods.
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30.

TAXATION (Continued)

In Turkey corporate tax is applied on taxable corporate income, which is calculated from the statutory
accounting profit by adding back non-deductible expenses, and by deducting dividends received from
resident companies, other exempt income and investment incentives utilized. The corporate tax rate is
22 percentage.
However, according to the Article 91 of the Law numbered 7061 “Legislation on Amendment of Certain
Tax Legislation and Other Certain Legislation” which was published on the Official Gazette numbered
30261 on 5 December 2017 and according to the provisional clause 10 added to the Corporate Tax Law
numbered 5520; corporate tax rate for the taxation periods of 2018, 2019 and 2020 is amended to 22
percentage, which would later be applied as 20 percentage at the end of these periods. During these
periods, Council of Ministers is entitled to decrease the corporate tax rate of 22 percentage.
Income Withholding Tax
Dividend payments made to resident and non-resident individuals, non-resident legal entities and
corporations resident in Turkey (except for the ones exempt from corporate and income tax), are subject
to an income tax of 15 percentage. Dividend payments made from a corporation resident in Turkey to a
corporation also resident in Turkey are not subject to income tax. Furthermore, income tax is not
calculated in case the profit is not distributed or transferred to equity.
Transfer pricing
The transfer pricing provisions are set out under the Article 13 of the Corporate Tax Law under the
heading of “disguised profit distribution via transfer pricing”. The General Communiqué on disguised
profit distribution via transfer pricing dated 18 November 2007 sets out details about the implementation
of these provisions. If a taxpayer enters into transactions regarding the sale or purchase of goods and
services with related parties, where the prices are not set in accordance with an arm’s-length basis, the
related profits are considered to be distributed in a disguised manner through transfer pricing. Such
disguised profit distributions through transfer pricing are not accepted as a deduction for corporate tax
purposes.
Current year taxes for year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Corporate tax
Prepaid tax and funds

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

-

-

-

-

Details of the current year tax expense for year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Corporate tax expense
Deferred tax expense

(931,575)
74,634,875

54,898,566

Tax expense recognized in profit / loss

73,703,300

54,898,566

Deferred tax recognized in other comprehensive income

(177,921)
73,525,379
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30.

TAXATION (Continued)

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, deferred tax income recognized in other comprehensive income is
comprised of actuarial losses.
The movement of deferred tax income/(expense) for year is as follows:

1 January
2020
Inventories
94,483,783
Current year loss
47,667,743
Advance payments
5,193,857
Financial Liabilities
7,873,847
Trade Receivables
1,014,851
Payment of benefits
233,563
Provision for unused vacation pay liability
133,181
Financial investment
401,171
Other temporary differences
(24,037)
Trade Payables
10,879
Tangible assets and Intangible
assets
(36,551,267)
Investment Property
(142,388,648)
Tax Assets / (liabilities)

(21,951,077)

Current
period
deferred tax
income

Foreign
currency
conversion
effect

138,805,387
55,490,563
85,512,548
1,936,632
303,992
9,065
916,812
-

32,426
3,203,959
52,415
-

(5,164,536)
(219,120,451)

(19,131,733)
-

58,690,012

(15,842,933)

Part of the
comprehensive
income
statement

31 December
2020

(177,921)
-

233,321,596
106,362,265
5,193,857
93,438,810
2,951,483
359,634
142,246
401,171
892,775
10,879
(60,847,536)
(361,509,099)

(177,921)

20,718,081

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The reported taxation charges for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is different than the
amounts computed by applying statutory tax rate to profit before tax as shown in the following
reconciliation:
Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

2020

2019

Profit for the year
Total tax expense

(292,598,447)
(73,703,300)

(189,355,018)
(54,898,566)

Profit before tax

(366,301,747)

(244,253,584)

Tax expense using the Company’s
domestic tax rate
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of taxes that are subject to tax exemption
Change in previous year losses
Other

(80,586,384)
5,043,193
(2,288,632)
2,690,283
1,438,240

(53,735,788)
1,403,869
(1,222,624)
(921,015)
(423,008)

Tax expense

(73,703,300)

(54,898,566)
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31.

EARNING PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year to the weighted average shares of the
Company. For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the calculation of earnings per share is as
follows:

The average number of shares that are available
throughout the period (full value)
Net profit for the year, attributable to the
owners of the Company (TRY)
Earnings per share (TRY)

32.

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

4,590,002

4,590,002

(285,698,084)

(176,518,270)

(62.24)

(38.46)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group may be exposed to the following risks, depending on the usage of financial instruments:




Credit Risk
Liquidity Risk
Market Risk

The Group’s risk management policies which are governed centrally by Timur Gayrimenkul are to
identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to
reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.
F The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s risk management policies are established to
identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group.
Credit Risk
Financial losses due to the Group’s receivables and financial assets which result from not implementing
agreement clauses related to financial assets by a customer or other party constitutes credit risk. The risk
controlled by the Group as counterparty credit ratings and credit limits are primarily determined by the
method of limiting the total risk from the one opposite side.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is as follow:

31 December 2020
Maximum credit risk exposed (A+B+C+D)
- Guaranteed portion of the maximum risk
A.Carrying amount of financial assets not
overdue or not impaired
B.Carrying amount of financial assets overdue but
not impaired (***)
C.Carrying amount of assets impaired
- Overdue (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
- Not past due (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
D.Off balance sheet items with credit risk

Receivables
Trade Receivables
Other Receivables
Releated
Third
Related
Third
parties
parties
parties
parties

Deposits at
banks (**)

Financial
investments

Other

3,246,758
-

705,952,537
-

72,776,238
-

118,272,897
-

31,150,968
-

240
-

765
-

3,246,758

144,573,868

72,776,238

118,272,897

31,150,968

240

765

-

-

-

-

-

-

561,378,669
5,640,779
(5,640,779)
-

Receivables
Trade
Other
Receivables
Receivables
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 1-3 months
Past due 3-12 months
Past due 1-5 years
Past due more than 5 years

402,740,313
110,589,584
53,583,024
106,527
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-

Deposits at
bank

Derivative
instruments

Other

-

-

-
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

31 December 2019
Maximum credit risk exposed (A+B+C+D)
- Guaranteed portion of the maximum risk
A.Carrying amount of financial assets not
overdue or not impaired
B.Carrying amount of financial assets overdue but
not impaired (***)
C.Carrying amount of assets impaired
- Overdue (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
- Not past due (gross book value)
- Impairment (-)
- Amount secured via guarantees
D.Off balance sheet items with credit risk

Receivables
Trade Receivables
Other Receivables
Releated
Third
Related
Third
parties
parties
parties
parties

Deposits at
banks (**)

Financial
investments

Other

2,332,886
-

649,651,641
-

84,747,232
-

66,773,603
-

45,508,400
-

33,532,962
-

33,533,487
-

2,332,886

432,896,346

84,747,232

66,773,603

45,508,400

33,532,962

33,533,487

-

-

-

-

-

-

216,755,295
3,951,813
(3,951,813)
-

Receivables
Trade
Other
Receivables
Receivables
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 1-3 months
Past due 3-12 months
Past due 1-5 years
Past due more than 5 years

36,443,137
68,206,544
114,872,787
1,184,640
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Derivative
instruments

Other

-

-

-
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment
2020

2019

Balance at 1 January
Provisions during the year
Reversal

3,951,813
1,688,966
-

5,640,779
3,457,333
(5,146,299)

Balance at 31 December

5,640,779

3,951,813

As at 31 December 2020 , the Group has reviewed the receivables and recognized impairment loss for
trade receivables which are not made subject to any legal follow up but considered as doubtful and are
not certain whether collectable or not. The Group has not recognized impairment loss for receivables
which is past due but considered as collectable since such of receivables are arisen from the sales of
residences which have not yet been delivered to the customers.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s
approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or damaging the Group’s reputation.
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts and contractual cash flows of financial
liabilities are as follows;
2020
Contractual
Maturities

Carrying
amount

Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and borrowings
1,839,848,195
Trade payables to related parties
2,566,670
Trade payables to third
parties
640,198,360
Other payables to related
parties
60,926,224
Other payables to third
parties (*)
387,334,092
Total

2,930,873,541

Constractual
cash flow

Less than
3 months

(1,967,602,643)
(2,566,670)

(20,838,849)
(2,566,670)

(640,198,360)

(485,822,015)

-

(60,926,224)

(60,926,224)

-

(387,334,092)

(108,525,904)

-

(3,058,627,989)

(678,679,662)
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3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

(77,621,164) (1,599,963,917)
(154,376,345)
-

More than
5 years

(269,178,713)
-

(278,808,188)

-

(77,621,164) (2,033,148,450)

(269,178,713)
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity Risk (Continued)
2019
Contractual
Maturities

Carrying
amount

Constractual
cash flow

Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and borrowings
1,310,839,769
Trade payables to related parties
2,146,319
Trade payables to third
parties
285,139,963
Other payables to related
parties
77,143,298
Other payables to third
parties (*)
296,145,049

(1,618,704,708)
(2,146,319)

(429,104,206)
(2,146,319)

(285,139,963)

(145,421,381)

(77,143,298)

(77,143,298)

(296,145,049)

(83,029,033)

Total

(2,279,279,337)

(736,844,237)

1,971,414,398

(269,622,500)
-

(740,639,386)
-

(179,338,616)
-

-

(139,718,582)

-

-

(213,116,016)

-

(269,622,500) (1,093,473,984)

(179,338,616)

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices - such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices - will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return.
(ı)

Currency Riski

The Group is exposed to currency risk through the impact of rate changes on the translation of foreign
currency denominated payables and bank borrowings from financial institutions. Currency risk is
managed with the regular meetings hold by the board of directors. The Group manages currency risk by
keeping assets denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales, purchases that are denominated in a currency, mostly in
USD, other than the respective functional currency of the Group entities.
The Group’s functional currency is TRY, exchange rate fluctuations in TRY against foreign currencies
affects the items presented in the financial statements which are denominated in currencies other than
TRY.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Currency risk (continued
31 December 2020

1. Trade receivables
2a..Monetary financial assets (Cash and banks
accounts included))
2b. Non-monetary financial assets
3Others
4 Current assets (1+2+3)
5 Trade receivables
6a Monetary financial assets
6b Non-monetary financial assets
7 Other
8 Non-current assets (5+6+7)
9 Total assets (4+8)
10 Trade payables
11a Financial liabilities
11b Monetary other liabilities
12 Non-monetary other liabilities
13 Short-term liabilities (10+11+12)
14 Trade payables
15a Financial liabilities
15b Monetary other liabilities
16 Non-monetary other liabilities
17 Long-term liabilities (14+15+16)
18 Total liabilities (13+17)
19. Net asset/(liability) position of off balance
sheet derivative instruments (19a-19b)
19a. Total asset amount hedged
19b. Total liability amount hedged
20. Net foreign currency asset/(liability)
position (9-18+19)
21. Net asset/(liability) position of foreign currency
monetary
items (IFRS 7.B23
(=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a)
22.Fair value of FX swap financial instruments
Swap financial
instruments
Export
Import

31 December 2019

TRY
Equivalent

USD

EUR

TRY

50,547,323

6,716,740

138,000

-

95,576,615
146,123,939
5,836,895
5,836,895
151,960,834
(55,386,660)
(97,116,548)
(19,205,191)
(171,708,399)
(203,469,407)
(34,867,375)
(238,336,782)
(410,045,181)

11,800,602
18,517,343
301,077
301,077
18,818,420
(6,126,610)
(930,590)
(7,057,200)
(4,750,000)
(4,750,000)
(11,807,200)

-

-

990,712
1,128,712
402,629
402,629
1,531,341
(1,156,128)
(10,781,264)
(1,372,910)
(13,310,302)
(22,587,885)
(22,587,885)
(35,898,186)

-

-

Other

TRY
Equivalent

USD

EUR

TRY

Other

-

144,680,895

20,060,080

3,837,249

-

-

152,092,749
296,773,644
44,916,003
44,916,003
341,689,647
110,684,093
364,657,195
72,065,731
547,407,020
370,790,390
36,770,119
407,560,509
954,967,529

21,984,509
42,044,589
7,207,590
7,207,590
49,252,179
8,409,186
5,568,992
13,978,178
(2,358,837)
(2,358,837)
11,619,341

3,229,898
7,067,147
315,983
315,983
7,383,129
9,393,318
53,763,714
5,310,974
68,468,006
53,027,069
2,044,219
55,071,288
123,539,294

12
12
12
7,096,239
7,096,239
18,128,565
37,186,800
55,315,365
62,411,604

2,520
2,520
2,520
(223,668)
471,117
247,449
247,449

-

-

-

3,023
3,023
3,023
(720)
(720)
(720)

-

-

-

-

(258,084,347)

7,011,220

(34,366,846)

-

2,303

(613,277,882)

37,632,838

(116,156,165)

(62,411,592)

(244,928)

(258,084,347)

7,011,220

(34,366,846)

-

2,303

(613,277,882)

37,632,838

(116,156,165)

(62,411,592)

(244,928)

-

-

-

-

-
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Sensitivity Analysis
Currency risk sensitivity analysis table

31 December 2020

Profit/Loss
Strengtening of
Weakening of
foreign currency
foreign currency

Equity
Strengtening of
Weakening of
oreign currency
foreign currency

Change in USD against
TRY by 10 percentage
1-USD net asset/liability
2-Hedged portion of USD risk (-)
3-USD net effect (1+2)

10,293,172
10,293,172

(10,293,172)
(10,293,172)

-

-

Change in Euro against
TRY by 10 percentage
4-Euro net asset/liability
5-Hedged portion of Euro risk (-)
6-Euro net effect (4+5)

(61,914,622)
(61,914,622)

61,914,622
61,914,622

-

-

-

-

-

-

Change in other foreign currencies
against TRY by 10 percentage
7-Other foreign currency net asset/liability
8-Hedged portion of other foreign currency (-)
9-Other foreign currency net effect (7+8)
TOTAL (3+6+9)

31 December 2019

4,580
4,580

(4,580)
(4,580)

(51,616,869)

51,616,869

Profit/Loss
Strengtening of
Weakening of
foreign currency
foreign currency

Equity
Strengtening of
Weakening of
oreign currency
foreign currency

Change in USD against
TRY by 10 percentage
1-USD net asset/liability
2-Hedged portion of USD risk (-)
3-USD net effect (1+2)

22,354,658
22,354,658

(22,354,658)
(22,354,658)

-

-

Change in Euro against
TRY by 10 percentage
4-Euro net asset/liability
5-Hedged portion of Euro risk (-)
6-Euro net effect (4+5)

(77,250,819)
(77,250,819)

77,250,819
77,250,819

-

-

(190,468)
(190,468)

190,468
190,468

-

-

(55,086,629)

55,086,629

-

-

Change in other foreign currencies
against TRY by 10 percentage
7-Other foreign currency net asset/liability
8-Hedged portion of other foreign currency (-)
9-Other foreign currency net effect (7+8)
TOTAL (3+6+9)
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

There is no interest rate risk since the Group’s assets and liabilities do not include a significant amount
of variable rate instruments.
The Group’s interest position table is as follows:
Interest Position Table

Fixed rate instruments 31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Financial assets
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities

TRY
TRY
TRY
USD
EUR

5,802,498
1,361,490,605
300,585,955

14,271,012
198,470,547
25,026,985
634,373,866

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities

Variable rate instruments
TRY
USD
TRY

240
177,771,635

33,532,962
452,968,371

Cash flow analysis for financial instruments with variable interest rate:
Based on the Group's borrowing profile, an increase of 100 basis points in the libor rate would increase
the Group's variable interest rate expenses of approximately TRY 359,259
Interest Position Table
Financial instruments with
fixed interest rate
Financial Assets
Financial assets, fair value
difference is recognized in
profit and loss
Financial assets available for sale
Financial Liabilities
Financial instruments with variable interest rate
Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities

Current Period
-

Prior Period
-

-

-

-

-

Capital risk management
For capital management, the Group aims to provide sustainability of the operations, and to increase the
profit by using debt/equity ratio efficiently. The capital structure of the Group consists of the debts
including the borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, paid in capital and equity accounts including
reserves and prior years’ profits.
The Board of Directors monitors the return of the net operating income on capital.
The Group monitors its capital with total financial debt / total equity ratio. This ratio is defined as total
debt divided by total capital. Total financial debt includes short and long-term financial debts and total
equity includes shareholders’ equity in statement of financial position.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND, NATURE AND DEGREES OF THE RISKS
ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s financial debt / equity ratio comprised the following:
2020

2019

Total financial liabilities
Less: cash and cash equivalents

1,839,848,195
31,483,153

1,310,839,769
79,480,245

Net financial debt

1,808,365,042

1,231,359,524

231,894,609

467,810,869

%779.82

263.22%

Total equity
Net financial debt/total equity ratio

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE STATEMENTS AND STATEMENTS
REGARDING FINANCIAL RISK PROTECTION ACCOUNTING)

Fair Value

Note
Cash and cash equivalent
Cash reserved for projects
Financial investments
Trade receivables from
third parties
Other receivables
from third parties
Trade receivables from related parties
Other receivables from related parties
Other assets
Financial Liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Trade payables to third parties
Other payables to third parties
Trade payables to related parties
Other payables to related parties
Employee benefits
Other short-term liabilities
Net

31 December 2020
Carrying
Fair
Value
Value

31 December 2019
Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

5
6
7

20,792,689
10,689,699
765

20,792,689
10,689,699
765

20,925,248
25,021,510
33,533,487

20,925,248
25,021,510
33,533,487

10

705,952,537

705,952,537

649,651,641

649,651,641

12
9
9

118,272,897
3,246,758
72,776,238
79,336,630

118,272,897
3,246,758
72,776,238
79,336,630

66,773,603
2,332,886
84,747,232
57,335,065

66,773,603
2,332,886
84,747,232
57,335,065

8
10
12
9
9
11
22

(1,839,848,195)
(85,031)
(640,198,360)
(552,449,244)
(2,566,670)
(60,926,224)
(896,976)
(1,510,599)

(1,839,848,195)
(85,031)
(640,198,360)
(552,449,244)
(2,566,670)
(60,926,224)
(896,976)
(1,510,599)

(1,310,839,769)
(461,078)
(285,139,963)
(354,719,812)
(2,146,319)
(77,143,298)
(833,346)
(2,176,679)

(1,310,839,769)
(461,078)
(285,139,963)
(354,719,812)
(2,146,319)
(77,143,298)
(833,346)
(2,176,679)

(2,087,413,086)

(2,087,413,086)

(1,093,139,592)

(1,093,139,592)
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (FAIR VALUE STATEMENTS AND STATEMENTS
REGARDING FINANCIAL RISK PROTECTION ACCOUNTING) (Continued)

Financial Instruments
Fair value information
The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined by the Group using available market
information and appropriate valuation methodologies
In the statement of financial position, since the carrying amount of monetary items are close to their
fair values these items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to TRY using the year end spot
exchange rates. The carrying amounts of short-term financial assets and liabilities are considered as a
reasonable approximation of fair values

34.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 22 April 2021 the corporate income tax rate was increased to 25% for 2021 and to 23% for 2022.
The Group sold its lands which were located in Muğla/Bodrum/Gölköy on 4 June 2021 for a
consideration of TRY28 Million.

…………..
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